EFFECTS OF ADMINISTRATION OF HIBISCUS SABDARIFFA AQUEOUS CALYX EXTRACTS ON NEONATAL PROGRAMMING OF METABOLIC DYSFUNCTION

Kasimu Ghandi Ibrahim

A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of Health Sciences, University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Medicine

Johannesburg, 2015

DECLARATION

I, Kasimu Ghandi Ibrahim hereby declare that this dissertation is my own work, with the assistance of the acknowledged persons. It is being submitted for the degree of Master of Science in Medicine in the Faculty of Health Sciences in the University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg. It has not been submitted before for any degree or examination at this or any other University. All procedures used in this dissertation were approved by the Animal Ethics Screening Committee of the University of the Witwatersrand (AESC number 2013/46/05).

titypardy

Kasimu Ghandi Ibrahim

Signed on this 10th day of April, 2015

DEDICATION

To the loving memory of my father and sister

-Late Ibrahim Ghandi Dogondaji

(1935-2001)

-Late Amina Bello Dogondaji

(1961-2001)

both of whom did not live long enough to call me 'doctor'.

May you continue to rest in perfect peace in Jannatul Firdaus, amin.

CONFERENCE PRESENTATION

The following poster was presented at the 42nd congress of the Physiology Society of Southern Africa hosted by the University of Kwazulu- Natal at the Gateway hotel, Umhlanga, Durban, from the 14th- 17th September, 2014.

1. Ibrahim, K.G., Chivandi, E., Mojiminiyi, F.B.O. and Erlwanger, K.H. Effects of

Hibiscus sabdariffa aqueous calyx extracts on the gastrointestinal tract and clinical biochemistry of suckling rats (poster A20 in the conference book of abstracts).

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This research work was successful only due to the support and assistance I enjoyed from the following individuals and institutions.

1. My supervisors: Associate Professor Kennedy Erlwanger, Dr Eliton Chivandi and Professor Frank Mojiminiyi. More importantly, you were my friends and mentors. Your constant constructive engagement and guidance have moulded me beyond my wildest imagination. I am ready for the world of research and I have you all to be eternally grateful to.

2. My mum: Lubabatu Ibrahim. Without your constant prayers, I would have sizzled out a long time ago in this challenging battle of life. May you continue to enjoy good health and long life, amin.

3. My wife and kids: Nafisa Umar Dogondaji, Umar Farouk, Nana Khadija, Nana Fatimah and Nana Aisha: Thank you for all the love, sacrifice and the reminder that there is tomorrow.

4. My siblings: Tumbah, Ammah, Sarkin Shanu, Barrister, Zayyan, Maina, Tambari and Labay. Thank you for your moral and financial support that ensured I was comfortable throughout my studies at Wits.

5. My friends: Your names are too numerous to mention but you have all had a positive impact in my life. Thanks for your loyalty.

6. Staff of Central Animal Services: Special mention must be made of Amelia, Lorraine, Kershnee, Patrick and Mucha. Thank you for your assistance with the care and general welfare of my animals.

7. Ms. Monica Gomez: I appreciate your technical assistance in the preparation of histology slides and running of ELISA.

8. Postgraduate colleagues: Busisani Lembede, Adelade Masemola, Nyasha Mukonowenzou, Rachael Dangarembizi, Mhlengi Magubane, Jeffrey Sibiya, Ingrid Malebana, Nomagugu Ndlovu and Davison Moyo. Thank you for your assistance with care of my animals and during some of the procedures I performed.

9. My Uncle Ahmad Dasuki and Cousin Hassan Bello: Thank you for believing in me.

10. The Research Committee, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of the
Witwatersrand, National Research Foundation of South Africa, Usmanu Danfodiyo
University, Sokoto and the Tertiary Education Trust Fund of Nigeria: Thank you for
providing funding for this research.

Kasimu Ghandi Ibrahim

Johannesburg, South Africa.

ABSTRACT

Hibiscus sabdariffa (HS) is a plant of the Malvaceae family that has anti-obesity, antihypertensive, hypocholesterolaemic, anti-oxidant and anti-cancer properties. Dietary manipulations during the suckling period cause precocious maturation of the gastrointestinal tract (GIT). Events in early life affect the individual's metabolic health in later life. This study investigated the effects of early administration of the aqueous calyx extracts of HS on the growth performance, general health and the GIT of neonatal rats and whether it conferred protection or predisposition to the development of metabolic dysfunction in adolescence.

The study was carried out in two phases. The first phase was to determine the effects of HS aqueous calyx extracts on the growth performance, metabolic substrates and the development of the neonatal rat GIT. In the second phase, the effects of the early administration of the HSE on the response of the pups to diet induced metabolic dysfunction were investigated.

In phase one, forty two 4-day old Sprague Dawley pups of both sexes were randomly assigned to three treatment groups. Each group consisted of 7 males and 7 females. The control group received distilled water at 10ml.kg^{-1} b.w while the other two groups received either a low (50mg.kg^{-1}) or high dose (500mg.kg^{-1}) of the HS aqueous calyx extracts via oral gavage daily for 9 consecutive days. The rats were euthanased and their tissues harvested and analyzed. Pups that were administered with the high dose HSE had significantly heavier small intestines relative to the body mass when compared to those on the low dose HSE (P<0.01) and the control group (p<0.001). Pups in the high dose HSE group had significantly heavier caeca (p<0.05) than those in the low dose HSE group.

vii

In the second phase, eighty five 4-day old Sprague Dawley rat pups were used. They were initially divided randomly into three groups and received similar treatments as in phase one up to postnatal day (PND) 14. There was no intervention from PND14 to PND 21 when the pups were weaned. The rats in each of the treatment groups were further divided into a control group that continued on their normal rat chow diet and a test group that received high fructose (20% w/v) in their drinking water for 30 days in order to induce metabolic dysfunction. Each of the six study groups had at least 5 male and 5 female rats. The male rats in each of the treatment groups gained more body mass than their corresponding female counterparts in the control and treatment groups (p<0.001). Female rats that received high dose HSE in the neonatal period had significantly greater visceral fat pad (p≤0.05) than the males in the groups. There were no negative effects on the rats' general health. At the end of the study, features of metabolic syndrome did not manifest in the control or any of the treatment groups. *Hibiscus sabdariffa* aqueous calyx extracts did not exhibit any long term effects and therefore may be considered safe for consumption in the neonatal age group.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TITLE PAGE	i
DECLARATION	ii
DEDICATION	iii
CONFERENCE PRESENTATION	iv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	V
ABSTRACT	vii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	ix
LIST OF TABLES	xiv
LIST OF FIGURES	XV
ABBREVIATIONS	xvi
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION AND JUSTIFICATION	1
1.0 Preface	2
1.1 Structure of the dissertation	3
1.2 Introduction	4
1.3 Prevalence of metabolic syndrome	6
1.4 Current treatment of metabolic syndrome	8
1.5 Hibiscus sabdariffa	9
1.5.1 Botanical description	10
1.5.2 Traditional and economic uses of HS	10
1.5.3 Phytochemistry of HS calyces	13
1.6 Pharmacology and biological activity of HS	
1.6.1 Anti-obesity and hypolipidaemic effects	19
1.6.2 Antihypertensive and cardioprotective effects	20
1.6.3 Anti-diabetic effects	21
1.6.4 Anti-oxidant effects	22
1.6.5 Hepatoprotective effects	23
1.6.6 Nephroprotective effects	24

25
26
26
27
27
28
28
29
30
32
34
26
36
37
38
39
40
41
41
41
41
41
42
42
43
43
43
4.4

2.4.6 Terminal procedures	44
2.5 Statistical analysis	49
2.6 Results	49
2.6.1 Morbidity and mortality	50
2.6.2. Effects of HS aqueous calyx extract on growth performance	50
2.6.3 Hepatic storage of metabolic substrates	54
2.6.4 Morphology and morphometry of the GIT and other viscera	57
2.6.5 Biochemical health profile	59
2.7 Discussion	61
2.7.1 Effects of HS aqueous calyx extracts on growth performance	61
2.7.2 Effects of HS on hepatic storage of lipids and glycogen	62
2.7.3 Effects of HS on the morphometry of the GIT	64
2.7.4 Effect of HS on markers of health	65
2.11 Conclusion	67
CHAPTER THREE FEECTS OF FARL VADMINISTRATION OF HS AQUEQUS	
CALYX EXTRACT ON THE RESPONSE TO A HIGH FRUCTOSE DIET	69
CALYX EXTRACT ON THE RESPONSE TO A HIGH FRUCTOSE DIET	69 70
CALYX EXTRACT ON THE RESPONSE TO A HIGH FRUCTOSE DIET	69 70 70
CALYX EXTRACT ON THE RESPONSE TO A HIGH FRUCTOSE DIET	69 70 70 74
CALYX EXTRACT ON THE RESPONSE TO A HIGH FRUCTOSE DIET	69 70 70 74 77
 CALYX EXTRACT ON THE RESPONSE TO A HIGH FRUCTOSE DIET	69 70 70 74 77 78
 CALYX EXTRACT ON THE RESPONSE TO A HIGH FRUCTOSE DIET	69 70 70 74 77 78 78
 CALYX EXTRACT ON THE RESPONSE TO A HIGH FRUCTOSE DIET	69 70 74 74 77 78 78 78
 CALYX EXTRACT ON THE RESPONSE TO A HIGH FRUCTOSE DIET	69 70 74 74 78 78 78 79 79
 CALYX EXTRACT ON THE RESPONSE TO A HIGH FRUCTOSE DIET 3.0 Introduction 3.1 Neonatal programming of metabolic dysfunction 3.2 Childhood Obesity: prevalence and complications 3.3 Fructose-induced metabolic dysfunction 3.4 Materials and methods 3.4.1 Source and preparation of HS Calyces 3.5 Methods 3.5.1 Study animals 3.5.2 Housing and care of the animals 	69 70 74 74 78 78 79 79 79
 CALYX EXTRACT ON THE RESPONSE TO A HIGH FRUCTOSE DIET 3.0 Introduction 3.1 Neonatal programming of metabolic dysfunction 3.2 Childhood Obesity: prevalence and complications 3.3 Fructose-induced metabolic dysfunction 3.4 Materials and methods 3.4.1 Source and preparation of HS Calyces 3.5 Methods 3.5.1 Study animals 3.5.2 Housing and care of the animals 3.5 3 Study design 	69 70 74 74 78 78 79 79 79 79 79
 CALYX EXTRACT ON THE RESPONSE TO A HIGH FRUCTOSE DIET 3.0 Introduction 3.1 Neonatal programming of metabolic dysfunction 3.2 Childhood Obesity: prevalence and complications 3.3 Fructose-induced metabolic dysfunction 3.4 Materials and methods 3.4.1 Source and preparation of HS Calyces 3.5 Methods 3.5.1 Study animals 3.5.2 Housing and care of the animals 3.5.3 Study design 3.5 4 Body mass measurements 	69 70 74 74 78 78 79 79 79 79 79 79 79 79
 CALYX EXTRACT ON THE RESPONSE TO A HIGH FRUCTOSE DIET 3.0 Introduction 3.1 Neonatal programming of metabolic dysfunction 3.2 Childhood Obesity: prevalence and complications 3.3 Fructose-induced metabolic dysfunction 3.4 Materials and methods 3.4.1 Source and preparation of HS Calyces 3.5 Methods 3.5.1 Study animals 3.5.2 Housing and care of the animals 3.5.3 Study design 3.5.4 Body mass measurements. 3 5 5 Oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) 	69 70 74 74 78 78 79 79 79 79 79 79 79 79 79 79
 CALYX EXTRACT ON THE RESPONSE TO A HIGH FRUCTOSE DIET	69 70 74 74 78 78 78 79 79 79 79 79 79 79 79 79 79 79 72

3.6.1 Termination	83
3.6.2 Collection of blood, plasma processing and storage	83
3.6.3 Morphometry of the GIT and other viscera	83
3.6.4 Determination of indices of linear growth	84
3.6.5 Determination of hepatic storage of metabolic substrates	84
3.6.6 Determination of biochemical health markers	85
3.6.7 Determination of thiobarbituric acid reactive substances in the plasma	85
3.6.8 Plasma insulin concentration determination and computation of HOMA-I	R index86
3.6.9 Statistical analysis	86
3.7 Results	87
3.7.1 Growth performance	87
3.7.2 Glucose tolerance	93
3.7.3: Effects of fructose administration on circulating metabolic substrates, TE insulin and HOMA-IR	BARS, 98
3.7.4 Hepatic storage of metabolic substrates	101
3.7.5 Morphology of the GIT and other viscera	103
3.7.6 Markers of hepatic and renal health	109
3.7.7 Markers of general health	112
3.8 Discussion	116
3.8.1 Growth performance of male and female rats	116
3.8.2 Glucose tolerance, fasting blood glucose, Insulin and HOMA-IR	117
3.8.3 Lipid peroxidation	119
3.8.4 Hepatic metabolic substrates storage	120
3.8.5 The GIT and other viscera	121
3.8.6 Markers of renal and hepatic health	122
3.8.7 Markers of general health	124
3.8.8 Conclusion	126
CHAPTER FOUR: CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	128
4.0 Conclusion	129

4.1 Limitations of the study	130
4.2 Recommendations	131
CHAPTER FIVE: REFERENCES	132
APPENDICES	170
APPENDIX 1: ETHICS CLEARANCE CERTIFICATE	171
APPENDIX 2: FIRST MODIFICATION TO THE ETHICS CLEARANCE	172
APPENDIX 3: SECOND MODIFICATION TO THE ETHICS CLEARANCE	174
APPENDIX 4: PLANT IDENTIFICATION	176

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1: Nutritional composition of HS calyces
Table 2.1: Effects of oral administration of HS calyx extracts on the lengths, masses and densities of tibiae and femora of suckling pups
Table 2.2: Effects of administration of HS aqueous calyx extracts on the morphometry of theGIT and viscera of suckling Sprague Dawley rats
Table 2.3: Effects of administration of HS aqueous calyx extracts on biochemical markers ofhealth of suckling Sprague Dawley rats
Table 3.1: Effects of fructose administration on the masses, lengths and densities of tibiae and femora of male and female rats
Table 3.2: Effects of fructose administration on metabolic substrates, thiobarbituric acid reactive substances, insulin and HOMA-IR of male and female Sprague Dawley rats
Table 3.3: Effects of fructose administration on liver lipids and glycogen (expressed asglucose equivalents) in male and female rats
Table 3.4: Effects of fructose administration on absolute (g), relative (%BM) masses and lengths of the small and large intestines of male and female rats
Table 3.5: Effects of fructose administration on absolute (g) and relative (%BM) masses of some abdominal viscera of male and female rats
Table 3.6: Effects of fructose administration on surrogate markers of hepatic and renal health in male and female Sprague Dawley rats
Table 3.7: Effects of fructose administration on general health markers in male and femaleSprague Dawley rats

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1: <i>Hibiscus sabdariffa</i> plant in Sokoto, Nigeria9
Figure 1.2: Dried calyces of <i>Hibiscus sabdariffa</i> 12
Figure 2.1: Effects of oral administration of aqueous HSE on the terminal body masses of rat pups
Figure 2.2: Effect of oral administration of HS aqueous calyx extracts on the percentage change in body mass of the pups
Figure 2.3A: Effects of administration of HS aqueous calyx extracts on liver lipid content of suckling Sprague Dawley pups
Figure 2.3B: Effects of administration of HS aqueous calyx extracts on the liver glycogen stores of suckling Sprague Dawley pups
Figure 3.1A: Effects of fructose administration on growth pattern of male experimental rats across treatment groups
Figure 3.1B: Effects of fructose administration on growth pattern of female experimental rats across treatment groups
Figure 3.2A: Effects of fructose administration on glucose tolerance in male rats
Figure 3.2B: Effects of fructose administration on glucose tolerance in female rats
Figure 3.3A: Effects of fructose administration on the total area under the curve of oral glucose tolerance test in male rats96
Figure 3.3B: Effects of fructose administration on the total area under the curve of oral glucose tolerance test in female rats

ABBREVIATIONS

α:	Alpha
β:	Beta
γ:	Gamma
%:	Percent
AACE:	American Association of Clinical Endocrinologists
AESC:	Animal Ethics Screening Committee
ALT:	Alanine aminotransferase
ALP:	Alkaline phosphatase
AMPK:	Adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase
ANOVA:	Analysis of variance
AST:	Aspartate aminotransferase
ATP III:	Adult treatment panel three
BM:	Body mass
BUN:	Blood urea nitrogen
CAS:	Central animal services

CCl ₄ :	Carbon tetrachloride
Creat:	Creatinine
CTRL:	Control
DNA:	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DW:	Distilled water
EGSIR:	European group for the study of insulin resistance
ELISA:	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
FBG:	Fasting blood glucose
FW:	Fructose water
GFR:	Glomerular filtration rate
GIT:	Gastrointestinal tract
HCA:	Hydroxycitric acid
HDL:	High density lipoprotein
HD HSE:	High dose Hibiscus sabdariffa extract
HHS:	High dose Hibiscus sabdariffa
HOMA-IR:	Homeostatic model of insulin resistance

HS:	Hibiscus sabdariffa	
IDF:	International Diabetes Federation	
IGF-1:	Insulin growth-like factor 1	
IL-1:	Interleukin 1	
LDH:	Lactate dehydrogenase	
LD HSE:	Low dose Hibiscus sabdariffa extract	
LDL:	Low density lipoprotein	
LI:	Large intestines	
LHS:	Low dose Hibiscus sabdariffa	
MDA:	Malonyldialdehyde	
mRNA:	Messenger ribonucleic acid	
MS:	Metabolic syndrome	
NCEP:	National cholesterol education program	
OGTT:	Oral glucose tolerance test	
PPAR:	Peroxisome proliferator activated receptor	
SD:	Standard deviation	

SHRs:	Spontaneously hypertensive rats	
SI:	Small intestines	
SREBP:	Sterol regulatory element binding protein	
STZ:	Streptozocin	
TAG:	Triacylglyceride	
TBARS:	Thiobarbituric acid reactive substances	
Tbil:	Total biluribin	
TG:	Triglycerides	
TNF:	Tumour necrosis factor	
TW:	Tap water	
USA:	United States of America	
VLDL:	Very low density lipoprotein	
WHO:	World health organisation	
w/v:	weight/volume	

CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION AND JUSTIFICATION

1.0 Preface

Modernization has brought with it several issues amongst which are those that affect the health of mankind. Sedentary lifestyles combined with an increase in the consumption of energy-packed foods result in under-expenditure of daily caloric intake.

Consequently, the incidence of metabolic dysfunction such as obesity, dyslipidaemia and hyperglycaemia are on the increase worldwide. The aggregation of these metabolic problems in an individual is called metabolic syndrome, a condition which predisposes to the development of cardiovascular disease and type 2 diabetes mellitus. The incidence of childhood obesity and its associated medical and social complications is on the increase.

Events in the foetal and early neonatal environment have been linked to the development of metabolic syndrome in the adolescent and adult life. In the current management of metabolic syndrome, its risk factors are targeted with drugs such as fenofibrate, antihypertensives and hypoglycaemic agents. However, in many communities, medicinal plants are used because of their affordability and availability as opposed to the conventional drugs. While some of these plants have been fully characterized and their uses documented, there are many others whose potential beneficial or harmful effects have not been explored.

Hibiscus sabdariffa (HS) is one of such plants that have been exploited by researchers due its many scientifically proven activities which include antihypertensive, antidiabetic,

hypocholesterolaemic and anticancer among others. Extracts from its calyces contain a battery of phytochemicals including anthocyanins. The latter have antioxidant properties and protect the body against peroxidative damage. A detailed discussion on HS will follow in this chapter regarding its (HS) many uses and potential.

Hibiscus sabdariffa extracts are usually prepared into decoctions which are ingested orally thus coming into contact directly with the gastrointestinal tract (GIT). Research has shown that some plant extracts when administered during the suckling period can cause precocious maturation of the GIT (Linderoth et al., 2005).

This study therefore looked at the effects of HS calyx extracts on the growth performance, clinical biochemistry, and neonatal GIT morphometry; and also investigated whether its consumption in early life conferred some form of protection or predisposition to the development of metabolic dysfunction in the growing period.

1.1 Structure of the dissertation

This dissertation was written in five chapters. In the first chapter a general introduction was provided which included a discussion on the definitions and prevalence of metabolic syndrome. The botanical classification, traditional uses, phytochemistry, pharmacology and toxicology of *Hibiscus sabdariffa* plant were provided. The chapter also covered the justification, aims and objectives and the hypotheses of the study.

In the second chapter, the first phase of the study was reported. It covered discussions on the GIT, phytochemicals and their effects on health and the effects of HS on the GIT. The first experiment was described under the headings: materials and methods, results, discussion and conclusion.

The second phase of the study was presented in the third chapter. An introductory discourse was given on neonatal programming, childhood obesity and fructose-induced metabolic dysfunction. The materials and methods, results, discussion and conclusions of the second experiment were also presented in this chapter.

The fourth chapter covered the conclusions and recommendations that arose from the study while in the fifth chapter a list of all the references cited in the study was provided. Some appendices are also included.

1.2 Introduction

Metabolic syndrome, a condition which predisposes those affected to the development of type 2 diabetes mellitus and cardiovascular disease (Ford and Li, 2008), is a collection of risk factors that consist of several risk correlates of metabolic origin (Grundy, 2008). It is a cluster of anthropometric, physiological and biochemical abnormalities linked together by poorly understood underlying mechanisms (Ford and Li, 2008).

A clustering of several metabolic risk factors was first described by Reaven, (1997) a condition he called 'syndrome x' which he also recognized as a multiplex factor for cardiovascular disease. Other researchers postulated that insulin resistance underlies syndrome X (Grundy et al., 2004), hence the commonly used term 'insulin resistance syndrome'. Syndrome x has also been referred to as the 'plurimetabolic syndrome' (Reaven, 1997) or simply 'metabolic syndrome'.

The World Health Organization (WHO) was the first to define the clinical criteria for the diagnosis of metabolic syndrome (Reaven, 2006; Zimmet et al., 2007; Grundy, 2008). The WHO report identified insulin resistance as the principal cause, making it necessary to identify its clinical indicators such as impaired glucose tolerance, impaired fasting glucose or insulin resistance for diagnosis (Grundy, 2008).

The National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) Adult Treatment Panel III (ATP III) recognized the critical role of abdominal obesity in the pathogenesis of metabolic syndrome and replaced the need to demonstrate insulin resistance with an increased waist circumference (NCEP, 2002). There are many other definitions of metabolic syndrome such as that by the American Association of Clinical Endocrinologists (AACE), the International Diabetes Federation (IDF) and European Group for study of Insulin Resistance (EGSIR).

5

Of all these definitions, the NCEP ATP III is simpler to implement in research and clinical practice (Ford and Li, 2008; Parikh and Mohan, 2012). It also considers the proinflammatory and prothrombotic states as components of metabolic syndrome though they have not been included among the criteria necessary for its definition and diagnosis (Parikh and Mohan, 2012).

Based on the NCEP's findings the primary clinical outcome of metabolic syndrome is cardiovascular disease. The presence of any three of the following: central/abdominal obesity, high fasting triglycerides, high fasting blood glucose, low fasting HDL cholesterol and high blood pressure qualifies as metabolic syndrome (NCEP, 2002).

There is an increasing incidence of metabolic dysfunction associated with metabolic syndrome.

1.3 Prevalence of metabolic syndrome

Two major factors account for an increase in the prevalence of metabolic syndrome (MS) worldwide; plentiful supply of inexpensive energy-packed foods and sedentary lifestyles.

Park et al., (2007) reported a prevalence of 20% for MS among the US adult population emphasizing that it varies with ethnicity and is usually associated with modifiable risk factors. In a study involving 8608 participants aged less than 20 years, Ford and Giles, (2003) reported an age-adjusted prevalence of 23.9% using the ATP III criteria and 25.1% using the WHO criteria. A low prevalence of 1.2% was reported among young Jamaican adults in a cross-sectional study with a 16% prevalence for abdominal obesity and 47% for low HDL cholesterol (Ferguson et al., 2010). Among North Indian adolescents, a prevalence of 3.5% was reported using the ATP III criteria and 1.5% using the IDF criteria (Bhat et al., 2014), while in Korea an increase in age-adjusted prevalence of metabolic syndrome was noticed from 24.9% in 1998 to 31.3% in 2007 (Lim et al., 2011).

In Africa, a high prevalence of MS has been observed. An urban population based study found a prevalence of 34.6% in Kenya (Kaduka et al., 2012), while Gyakobo et al., (2012) in Ghana, reported a prevalence of 15% using the ATP III criteria and 35.9% according to the IDF criteria. A prevalence of 12.1 % was reported for a rural (Adegoke et al., 2010) and 18% for a semi-urban community (Ulasi et al., 2010) in Nigeria. In the Republic of South Africa, an age-adjusted prevalence of 22.1% was reported for a rural population with a higher prevalence in females (25.0%) than in males (10.5%) Motala et al., (2011).

1.4 Current treatment of metabolic syndrome

The current treatment modalities for MS are directed at the management of the individual risk factors with a view to preventing the development of cardiovascular disease and type 2 diabetes mellitus. While lifestyle and dietary modifications resulting in a modest weight loss could improve all the components of MS (Wagh and Stone, 2004), some patients may require drug therapy (Staels et al., 1998; Wagh and Stone, 2004). Some of the drugs used to manage the risk factors of metabolic syndrome include lipid lowering agents such as fibrates (fenofibrate and bezafibrate), statins and niacin (Jialal and Smith, 2012). Hypoglycaemic agents such as metformin, sulfonylureas and thiazolidinedion are used to control hyperglycaemia (Florez et al., 2014). These conventional drugs are not readily available and affordable to most communities in the developing world (Ayyanar et al., 2008). Medicinal plants which have already gained folkloric prominence in the management of many ailments including chronic non-communicable diseases therefore become an alternative (Fyhrquist et al., 2006).

Consequently, there is increasing global interest in research with the aim of finding and documenting scientific evidence to support the folkloric claims associated with these plants (Dillard and German, 2000). *Hibiscus sabdariffa* is one of such plants that have received much research interest and is the plant of interest in this study.

1.5 Hibiscus sabdariffa

Hibiscus sabdariffa (HS) is an annual shrub which belongs to the Malvaceae family (Mahadevan et al., 2009; Maganha et al., 2010). It is called Roselle in English speaking countries while in North Africa, it is called *karkade* or carcade (Morton, 1987). It can be grown as a mono crop or mixed with other crops (Da-Costa-Rocha et al., 2014). It is thought to be native to Asia or tropical Africa where it is grown as a garden crop. In Sudan HS is a major export crop (Leung and Foster, 1996; Gautam, 2004).



Figure 1.1: *Hibiscus sabdariffa* plant in Sokoto, North West Nigeria (Photo taken by KG Ibrahim on 10/19/2014)

1.5.1 Botanical description

HS belongs to the kingdom Plantae, division Angiosperms, class Eudicots, order Malvales, family Malvaceae, genus *Hibiscus* and species *sabdariffa* (Pfeil and Crisp, 2005). It can grow to 2.4 meters or more in height(Alarcon-Aguilar et al., 2007), and has a deep penetrating tap root (Mahadevan et al., 2009). It has a smooth cylindrical, typically dark green to red stems (Leung and Foster, 1996; Maganha et al., 2010). The leaves are alternate, 7.5-12.5cm long, green with reddish veins and long petioles. The flowers are hermaphrodite and are insect pollinated (Mahadevan et al., 2009). It has a red calyx that consists of 5 large sepals with an epicalyx and bracteoles around the base (Da-Costa-Rocha et al., 2014). The capsule turns brown and splits open when it is matured and dry. The extracts of the calyx, stems and leaves are acidic (Julia, 1987; Ross, 2003; Da-Costa-Rocha et al., 2014).

1.5.2 Traditional and economic uses of HS

The different parts of the plant have many traditional uses in different communities across the world.

1.5.2.1 Uses of HS calyces

Of the different parts of the plant, the calyces are the most extensively used for both traditional and medicinal purposes. Fresh and dried HS calyces are used in the preparation of hot or cold beverages (Babalola et al., 2001; Herrera- Arellano et al., 2004), herbal drinks, fermented drinks, wine, jam, confectionaries, ice cream, chocolates, flavouring agents, puddings and cakes (Gaya et al., 2009; Ojeda et al., 2010; Da-Costa-Rocha et al., 2014). The calyces are boiled and processed into a local soft drink known as "Sobo" in Nigeria (Mojiminiyi et al., 2012) or "agua de Jamaica" in Mexico (Alarcon-Aguilar et al., 2007).

Hibiscus sabdariffa calyces are used to treat cardiac and nerve ailments and also to induce diuresis (Da-Costa-Rocha et al., 2014; Patel, 2014). An infusion of the calyces has also been used to lower body temperature (Leung and Foster, 1996) and to treat drunkenness (Morton, 1987). Extracts of the calyces are also used in North Africa as a remedy for sore throats and cough as well as genital problems (Da-Costa-Rocha et al., 2014; Patel, 2014).



Figure 1.2: Dried calyces of *Hibiscus sabdariffa* (Photo taken by KG Ibrahim on 08/20/2014)

1.5.2.2 Hibiscus sabdariffa leaves

The leaves of HS are consumed raw or cooked as a sour-flavoured vegetable or condiment (Ismail et al., 2008b). In Sudan and Malaysia they are eaten green or dried cooked with onions and ground nuts (Ismail et al., 2008b).

1.5.2.3 Hibiscus sabdariffa seeds

The seeds of HS are eaten roasted or ground into meals (Wilson and Menzel, 1964). As powders, they are used in meals such as oily soups and sauces or as a substitute for coffee (Morton, 1987; Atta and Imaizumi, 2002). *Hibiscus sabdariffa* seeds are also used in the treatment of indigestion and dysuria (Morton, 1987), and for inducing or enhancing lactation (Gaya et al., 2009).

1.5.3 Phytochemistry of HS calyces

Hibiscus sabdariffa phytochemistry has been extensively studied and documented. For the purpose of this study, only the phytochemical composition of the calyces will be reviewed.

1.5.3.1 Nutritional value of HS calyces

The reported nutritional value of HS calyces differs between studies (see table 1.1). These differences could result from the variety of HS, soil type, harvesting and processing practices employed (Da-Costa-Rocha et al., 2014).

Nutrients	(Mahadevan et al., 2009)	(Ismail et al., 2008a)
Protein	1.145g/100g	1.9g/100g
Fat	2.61g/100g	0.1g/100g
Fibre	12 Ωσ/100σ	2 3g/100g
Ash	6.90g/100g	*
Calcium	12.63mg/100g	1.72mg/100g
Phosphorus	273.2mg/100g	*
Iron	8.98mg/100g	57mg/100g
Carotene	0.029mg/100g	300µg/100g
Thiamine	0.117mg/100g	*
Riboflavin	0.277mg/100g	*
Niacin	3.765mg/100g	*
Ascorbic acid	6.7mg/100g	14mg/100g
Carbohydrates	*	12.3g/100g

Table 1.1: Nutritional composition of HS calyces

*= not reported

1.5.3.2 Organic acid content of HS calyces

Hibiscus sabdariffa calyces contain a high percentage of organic acids including citric acid, hydroxycitric acid, hibiscus acid, malic and tartaric acids as major organic acids and oxalic and ascorbic acid as minor organic acids (Mahadevan et al., 2009). The ascorbic acid content in the calyces varies between fresh (6.7-1.4mg/100g) (Morton, 1987; Ismail et al., 2008b) and dried calyces (260-280mg/100g) (Ismail et al., 2008b).

Hydroxycitric acid, hibiscus acid and its derivatives are the principal organic acids found in the calyces and leaves (Hida et al., 2007; Peng et al., 2011; Ramirez-Rodrigues et al., 2011b; Herranz-López et al., 2012). The hydroxycitric acid in HS calyces is the (+)- hydroxycitric acid also known as (+)-HCA (Yamada et al., 2007). Its Isomer (-)-HCA, is an inhibitor of citrate lyase (Sullivan et al., 1974b), and has been proposed as an anti-obesity agent (Sullivan et al., 1974a; Sullivan et al., 1974b; Hayamizu et al., 2003). In rats, hydroxycitric acid in HS calyx extract inhibits fat production from carbohydrates (Tee et al., 2002). It has been suggested that racemization of (+)-HCA to (-)-HCA by the intestinal flora may be an explanation to warrant the significant decrease in triacylglycerols in the experiment carried out on rats supplemented with HS calyx extracts (Carvajal-Zarrabal et al., 2009).

1.5.3.3 Anthocyanin content of HS

The anthocyanins are a group of flavonoid derivatives and natural pigments present in the dried flowers of HS whose (anthocyanins) colour varies with pH (Da-Costa-Rocha et al., 2014). These pigments have been researched extensively because of their recognized antioxidant activity (Alarcon-Alonso et al., 2012; Herranz-López et al., 2012).

Yamamoto and Oshima, (1932) identified the first anthocyanin from the calyces of HS "hibiscin" or "hiviscin" to which they assigned the structure cyanidin-3-glucoside and then later renamed it to delphinidin-pentoside-glucoside (Yamamoto and Oshima, 1936). Other anthocyanins including delphinidin-3-glucoside, cyanidin-3-glucoside (Shibata and Furukawa, 1969; Du and Francis, 1973) and cyanidin-3-sambubioside (gossipicyanin) (Shibata and Furukawa, 1969) were also identified. Subramanian and Nair, (1972) reported the presence of cyanidin-3, 5-diglucoside and cyanidin-3-(2G-glucosylrutinoside) in the flower pigments of HS.

Several studies identified delphinidin-3-sambubioside and cyanidin-3-sambubioside as the major anthocyanins in HS calyx extracts (Alarcon-Aguilar et al., 2007; Beltrán-Debón et al., 2010; Peng et al., 2011; Alarcon-Alonso et al., 2012; Herranz-López et al., 2012).

1.5.3.4 Flavonoid content of HS

Hibiscus sabdariffa contains simple and polymerised forms of polyphenolic compounds (Da-Costa-Rocha et al., 2014). Hibiscitrin, sabdaritrin, gossypitrin, gossytrin, quarcetin, luteolin, chlorogenic acid, procatechuic acid, pelagonidic acid and eugenol have been described in HS extracts (Mckay, 2009). Alarcon-Alonso et al., (2012) reported that the amount of quarcetin present in the aqueous extracts of HS calyces was 3.2mg/g while rutin was 2.1mg/g. Quarcetin and its conjugated glycosides as well as rutin were also identified in aqueous extracts of HS calyces together with kaempferol (Beltrán-Debón et al., 2010; Ramirez-Rodrigues et al., 2011a; Herranz-López et al., 2012).

Aqueous calyx extracts of HS showed the presence of procatechuic acid (24.24%), catechin (2.67%), gallocatechin (2.44%), caffeic acid (19.85%) and gallocatechin gallate (27.98%) (Huang et al., 2009; Yang et al., 2009).

Procatechuic acid (PCA), an important phenolic acid in the calyces of HS (Lee et al., 2002; Mckay, 2009), has been found to inhibit skin tumour promotion in mice (Tseng et al., 1998). *Hibiscus sabdariffa* calyces and leaves contain chlorogenic acid ; a phenolic (Salah et al., 2002; Beltrán-Debón et al., 2010; Peng et al., 2011; Ramirez-Rodrigues et al., 2011a) which belongs to a family of esters formed between certain tran-cinnamic and quinic acids (Clifford
et al., 2003). The amount of chlorogenic acid in HS extract was reported to be 2.7mg/g (Alarcon-Alonso et al., 2012).

1.5.3.5 Polysaccharide content of HS

Polysaccharides are present in large quantities in HS. Müller and Franz, (1992) reported a yield of 10% reddish polysaccharides from ethanol-precipitated water extracts of HS calyces. Arabinose, galactose, glucose, rhamnose and smaller amounts of mannose and xylose were identified in two different fractions (Müller and Franz, 1992; Brunold et al., 2004). The petals of HS yielded 65% (dry weight) of mucilage which yielded galactose, and rhamnose on hydrolysis (El-Hamidi et al., 1967).

1.6 Pharmacology and biological activity of HS

Hibiscus sabdariffa has been used in folk medicine in the treatment of many conditions and most of these folkloric claims have been verified scientifically.

1.6.1 Anti-obesity and hypolipidaemic effects

The persistent increase in the global incidence of obesity is worrisome especially as it increases the risk of developing metabolic dysfunction (Villalpando-Arteaga et al., 2013b). *Hibiscus sabdariffa* has been proved to hold prospects in the prevention and treatment of obesity.

Alarcon-Aguilar et al., (2007) induced obesity in mice using monosodium glutamate (MSG) and then administered HS aqueous extracts for 60 days (33.64mg of total anthocyanins per 120mg of extract) to healthy and obese mice. They observed significantly reduced body mass gain in obese mice and increased liquid intake in obese and healthy mice. While investigating the effects of HS ethanol extracts on fat-absorption-excretion and body weight in rats, Carvajal-Zarrabal et al., (2009) concluded that components of HS at intermediate and greater concentrations could serve as anti-obesity agents. These anti-obesity effects could be as a result of the modification of the P13-K/Akt and ERK pathway which plays a vital role in adipogenesis (Kim et al., 2007).

Lin et al., (2007) investigated the effects of HS extract on serum cholesterol in human subjects and found that serum cholesterol was significantly reduced in subjects that took 2 capsules (1g) of HS extract for a month suggesting that HS extracts may be effective in hypercholesterolaemic patients. *Hibiscus sabdariffa* extracts (HSE) was also found to inhibit serum lipids and to show anti-atherosclerotic activity (Chen et al., 2003). On histology, they found HSE to reduce foam cells formation and inhibit smooth muscle cell migration and calcification in the blood vessels of rabbits. *Hibiscus sabdariffa* extract (HSE) powder significantly reduced glucose and total cholesterol levels, increased TAG/HDL-c ratio, a marker of insulin resistance (Gurrola-Daiz et al., 2010).

A reduction was observed in the levels of LDL and the ratio of LDL-c to HDL-c when HS extracts were administered to high fructose-fed and high cholesterol-fed rats; suggesting that it may be used to inhibit LDL oxidation and to prevent various types of hyperlipidaemia in high fructose-fed and high cholesterol- fed rats (Chen et al., 2004). Aqueous calyx extracts of HS inhibit the accumulation of triglycerides better when the fibre and polysaccharide components have been removed (Herranz-López et al., 2012).

1.6.2 Antihypertensive and cardioprotective effects

Hypertension contributes significantly to the global burden of non-communicable diseases and is responsible for a lot of morbidities and mortalities (Wahabi et al., 2010). Annually hypertension accounts for about 13% of deaths globally (Brown, 1997). *Hibiscus sabdariffa* has been shown to have anti-hypertensive effects in animals (Onyenekwe et al., 1999; Odigie et al., 2003; Mojiminiyi et al., 2007; Inuwa et al., 2012; Mojiminiyi et al., 2012) and humans (Haji-Faraji and Haji-Tarkhani, 1999; Herrera- Arellano et al., 2004; Mckay, 2009; Mozaffari-Khosravi et al., 2009). Its antihypertensive effect is thought to be mediated via a direct vaso-relaxant effect (Adegunloye et al., 1996; Onyenekwe et al., 1999; Ali et al., 2005), diuretic(Cáceres et al., 1987; Onyenekwe et al., 1999; Mojiminiyi et al., 2000), calcium ion channels modulation (Owolabi et al., 1995) and the inhibition of angiotensin converting enzyme by the anthocyanins (Ojeda et al., 2010).

Hibiscus sabdariffa has been found to exhibit cardio-protective activity by enhancing myocardial capillarization in spontaneously hypertensive rats that were orally fed its aqueous calyx extracts (Inuwa et al., 2012), and by reversing cardiac hypertrophy in 2K-1C (2Kidneys, 1 clip) hypertensive rats (Odigie et al., 2003).

1.6.3 Anti-diabetic effects

Diabetes mellitus is an endocrine disorder associated with hyperglycaemia, dyslipidaemia and results from defects in insulin secretion and/or action (Alberti and Zimmet, 1998; Da-Costa-Rocha et al., 2014). Globally, diabetes mellitus is a highly prevalent disease responsible for high morbidity and mortality (Peng et al., 2011). When HS polyphenolic extract was administered to a type 2 diabetic rat model at a dose of 200mg.kg⁻¹ it reduced hyperglycaemia, hyperinsulinaemia, advanced glycation end product and lipid peroxidation (Peng et al., 2011). *Hibiscus sabdariffa* was shown to be a potent inhibitor of pancreatic α -amylase (Adisakwattana et al., 2012). The inhibition of pancreatic α -amylase and intestinal α -

glucosidase slows down the digestion of carbohydrates to more absorbable monosaccharides; a therapeutic strategy currently in vogue for the control of post prandial hyperglycaemia (Adisakwattana et al., 2012). The hypolipidaemic and antioxidant properties of HS ethanolic extract were confirmed in alloxan-induced diabetic rats (Farombi and Ige, 2007) where they showed therapeutic potentials in preventing the development of atherosclerosis and other cardiovascular complications associated with diabetes. Similarly, Huang et al., (2009) reported that a polyphenolic extract of HS suppressed the high-glucose stimulated cell proliferation and migration in a dose and time dependent manner.

1.6.4 Anti-oxidant effects

Antioxidants protect the tissues from peroxidative damage (Halliwell, 1997; Olaleye, 2007). Several studies have reported the antioxidant activity of HS (Farombi and Fakoya, 2005; Hirunpanich et al., 2005; Usoh et al., 2005; Christian, 2006; Olaleye and Rocha, 2007; Mohd-Esa et al., 2010; Mossalam et al., 2011). This antioxidant activity is expressed in different ways and by both aqueous and ethanolic extract of the calyces, seeds and leaves (Mohd-Esa et al., 2010). The extract can exert their antioxidant action by scavenging free radicals and reactive oxygen species (Tseng et al., 1998; Farombi and Fakoya, 2005; Usoh et al., 2005), inhibition of xanthine oxidase activity (Tseng et al., 1998) and prevention of cell damage via lipid peroxidation (Farombi and Fakoya, 2005). *Hibiscus sabdariffa* extracts also inhibit the formation of malonyldialdehyde (Farombi and Fakoya, 2005; Usoh et al., 2005) and oxidation of low density lipoprotein and formation of thiobarbituric reactive substances (TBARS) by Cu^{2+} (Hirunpanich et al., 2005). *Hibiscus sabdariffa* could reduce glutathione depletion and also alter the activities of superoxide dismutase and catalase in the liver and blood (Usoh et al., 2005).

1.6.5 Hepatoprotective effects

Lee et al., (2012) found that pre-treatment with a polyphenolic extract of HS protected the liver from acetaminophen-induced liver injury in BALB/c mice. The extracts increased the level of glutathione, decreased the level of peroxidation and increased catalase activity in the liver.

Hibiscus sabdariffa also reduced liver steatosis and fibrosis, decreased the elevation of aspartate aminotransferase (AST) and alanine aminotransferase (Liu et al., 2006). During Carbon tetrachloride (CCl₄) treatment, HS extracts restored the decrease in glutathione content and inhibited lipid peroxidation (Liu et al., 2006).

Hibiscus sabdariffa aqueous extract was found to reduce body mass gain and protect the liver by reducing fat accumulation, attenuating steatosis, down-regulating sterol regulatory element binding protein (SREBP-1c) and peroxisome proliferator- activated receptor gamma (PPAR- γ), blocking the increase of interleukin one (IL-1), tumour necrosis factor alpha messenger ribonucleic acid (TNF- α mRNA), lipoperoxidation and increasing catalase mRNA in obese C57BL/6NHsd mice (Villalpando-Arteaga et al., 2013b).

1.6.6 Nephroprotective effects

Most often diabetic nephropathy progresses to end stage renal disease and this is thought to be mediated by oxidative stress (Lee et al., 2009). Phenolic extracts of HS reduced the kidney mass and improved the hyperglycaemia-induced osmotic diuresis in the proximal tubules while significantly lowering the serum triglyceride, total cholesterol, LDL and increasing the activity of catalase, glutathione and reducing lipid peroxidation in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats (Lee et al., 2009). These findings were in agreement with those of Wang et al., (2011) . The latter proposed that the observed HS extracts nephroprotective effects might involve the up-regulation of Akt/Bad/14-3-3 γ and nuclear factor-kappa B (NF- κ B)-mediated transcription. In a study on the effects of HS calyces on creatinine and serum electrolytes, no significant harmful changes were observed in blood urea nitrogen (BUN), serum creatinine, sodium and potassium levels (Mohagheghi et al., 2010).

1.6.7 Anti-cancer effects

Hibiscus sabdariffa protocatechuic acid was found to inhibit the 12-*O*-tetradecanoylphorbol-13-acetate (TPA)-induced promotion in skin tumours of female CD-1 mice (Tseng et al., 1998). The topical application of protocatechuic acid twice weekly prior to TPA treatment inhibited the incidence of tumours in mice significantly while all the mice that were not treated developed the tumour.

In an *in vitro* study, HS anthocyanins were found to induce apoptosis in cancer cells especially in human promyelocytic leukaemia (HL-60) cells using promyelocytic leaukemic cells (Chang et al., 2005). A polyphenol-rich extract of HS was also found to induce apoptosis in human gastric carcinoma cells by causing DNA fragmentation with an increase in the distribution of the hypodiploid phase (Lin et al., 2005). This action is thought to be mediated via tumour protein 53 (p53) phosphorylation and p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase/ Fas Ligand (MAPK/FasL) cascade pathway (Lin et al., 2005).

1.6.8 Anti-pyretic effects

Hibiscus sabdariffa calyx aqueous and ethanolic extracts were investigated for their nociceptive, anti-inflammatory and anti-pyretic effects using the writhing, hot plate and formalin tests in mice; yeast-induced fever and carrageenaan-induced paw oedema in rats respectively (Reanmongkol and Itharat, 2007). The ethanol and vacuum dried extracts of HS (200-800mg.kg⁻¹) reduced the yeast-induced fever but had no effect on the other tests suggesting that HS calyx extracts have anti-pyretic effects through mechanisms different from those of aspirin (Reanmongkol and Itharat, 2007).

1.6.9 Sexual maturity and lactogenic effects

Hibiscus sabdariffa aqueous extracts administered to pregnant Sprague Dawley rats resulted in post natal weight gain in the pups, delayed onset of puberty in the female offspring and increased body mass index through mechanisms that may be linked to glucocorticoid and leptin signalling (Iyare and Adegoke, 2008; Iyare and Nwagha, 2009). Gaya et al., (2009) in a lactogenic study on the seeds of HS found an elevation in the serum prolactin levels of Albino Wistar rats in a dose dependent manner with the maximum effect occurring at doses of 800mg.kg⁻¹ and 1600mg.kg⁻¹.

1.6.10 Anti-bacterial effects

Methanolic extracts of HS were studied for their antimicrobial effects *in vitro* using a discdiffusion method. The extracts exhibited activities comparable to that of streptomycin against various clinically important gram positive and gram negative bacteria such as *Staphylococcus aureus, Micrococcus luteus, Clostridium sporogens, Escherichia coli, Klebsiella pneumonaie, Bacillus cereus* and *Pseudomonas fluorescence* (Olaleye, 2007). Fullerton et al., (2011) investigated the antimicrobial effects of HS calyces against *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 found in food, veterinary and clinical samples. The calyx extracts of HS exhibited antimicrobial action against *Escherichia coli* at 2.5%, 5% and 10 % concentrations.

1.6.11 Effects on smooth muscles

An aqueous extract of the petals of HS was shown to have a vaso-relaxant effect on rat aortic rings through endothelium-dependent and independent mechanisms (Obiefuna et al., 1994). Fouda et al., (2007) reported an inhibition of rat bladder and uterine contractility by an aqueous calyx extract of HS through mechanisms unrelated to local or remote autonomic receptors or calcium channels as previously suggested in a study of the effects of HS on the GIT (Salah et al., 2002).

1.6.12 Haematenic effects

The dried fermented calyces of HS have a very low pH (3.2) which increases the bioavailability of other minerals such as iron and calcium (Falade et al., 2005). The high ascorbic content of HS calyces could also be responsible for an increase in the bioavailability of other minerals including iron which are essential for erythropoesis (Falade et al., 2005). There may therefore be a role for HS in iron supplementation in the prevention or treatment of anaemia. Adigun et al., (2006) studied the effects of HS extracts on some haematological parameters in Wistar albino rats. After 14 days of HS oral administration, a significant elevation of haematocrit and haemoglobin in the groups that received low doses of the extract (200mg.kg⁻¹ body wt. and 400mg.kg⁻¹ body wt.) was observed while the groups that received higher doses had significant reduction in haematocrit but not haemoglobin concentration.

1.6.13 Other effects

Hibiscus sabdariffa aqueous extracts were shown to possess diuretic and natriuretic properties via the compound quarcetin which causes the vascular endothelium to release nitric oxide and cause renal vasodilation and increased kidney filtration in rats (Alarcon-Alonso et al., 2012). *Hibiscus sabdariffa* extracts were also suggested as a valuable ethnomedicine in the management of chronic inflammatory diseases because of its ability to modulate the production of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (Beltrán-Debón et al., 2010). This

immunomodulatory action might be both cell and humoural mediated (Fakeye et al., 2008). There is also evidence for use of aqueous dried calyx extracts as an anti-diarrhoeal agent as it was found to increase transit time and reduce intestinal motility in rats (Owulade et al., 2004).

1.7 Toxicological aspects of HS plant

Hibiscus sabdariffa has been investigated extensively to determine its safety. An LD₅₀ of 0.4-0.6ml (120-180mg) for a 30% aqueous extract of HS was reported by Sharaf, (1962) during an intraperitoneal administration in mice. In an acute toxicity test using the method of Lorke, Onyenekwe et al., (1999) observed no deaths in the experimental mice fourteen days after intraperitoneal administration of 1000-5000mg.kg⁻¹ body weight of the HS calyx extract and calculated an LD 50 greater than 5000mg.kg⁻¹. While investigating the antihypertensive effects of HS in spontaneously hypertensive rats, using the Wistar Kyoto rats as controls, sudden deaths of all the hypertensive rats by day 21 of continuous administration of the HS extracts at a dose of 1000mg.kg⁻¹ body weight was observed (Onyenekwe et al., 1999). The authors concluded that the sudden deaths of the animals could have been due to the diuretic effect of the extracts. An LD50 of > 5000mg.kg⁻¹ was reported in acute toxicity studies in albino mice for a methanolic dried flower extract (Ndu et al., 2011) and during a toxicological and lactogenic study in Albino Wistar rats (Gaya et al., 2009).

While investigating the toxicology of an aqueous-methanolic extract of HS calyces, Akindahunsi and Olaleye, (2003) administered 250mg.kg⁻¹ body mass per day of the extract to six groups of Wistar albino rats (0,1,3,5,10 and 15 doses per day). The rats in all the treatment groups showed increased activities of serum aspartate aminotransferase (AST) and alanine aminotransferase (ALT) but not alkaline phosphatase (ALP) and lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) when compared to the control group that had received normal saline. They concluded that consumption of doses of HS between 150-180mg.kg⁻¹ per day appeared safe while higher doses could affect the liver.

Feeding of pregnant Sprague Dawley rats with an aqueous calyx extract of HS resulted in a decrease in food and fluid intake, decrease in litter size, increased birth mass but had no effect on the length of gestation (Iyare and Adegoke, 2008; Iyare and Nwagha, 2009). However chronic administration of high doses of HS up to 4600mg.kg⁻¹ have been associated with histopathological changes in the testes and increased serum creatinine levels (Orisakwe et al., 2004; Fakeye et al., 2009). Considering the above data, there is a need for further studies on the safety or otherwise of HS extracts.

1.8 Justification of the study

Hibiscus sabdariffa is a plant with multiple ethnomedicinal uses. The beverages made from its calyces are consumed by all age groups in Nigeria and most tropical countries where it is produced. The seeds of HS are also used to induce or enhance lactation (Gaya et al., 2009). Neonatal exposure can occur directly when the neonates are fed with the beverage or decoctions of HS for medicinal reasons or indirectly via the mother's milk. As is the case for most other nutraceuticals, HS is consumed orally; consequently the GIT is its first point of contact with the body. Having in mind that the neonatal GIT is highly susceptible to structural and functional changes most especially during the suckling period which could be perpetuated throughout life (Pacha, 2000) and that certain plant extracts could cause accelerated structural and functional maturation of the neonatal GIT (Linderoth et al., 2005; Beya et al., 2012; Dangarembizi et al., 2014), it becomes imperative to study the effects of HS on the developing GIT.

Previous studies on the extracts of HS have been focused on adults and usually sought to determine its phytochemistry, pharmacology or toxicity but not its capacity to be used as a preventive intervention. There is an increasing incidence of metabolic syndrome and its complications worldwide (Armitage et al., 2004) with a horrifying increase in childhood obesity and its sequelae (Ebbeling et al., 2002). These tendencies are associated with altered lifestyle and dietary changes (Armitage et al., 2004). There is abundant evidence to suggest that the antenatal and early post natal environment can influence health outcomes later in life (Patel and Srinivasan, 2002; Armitage et al., 2004; Moura and Passos, 2005). This phenomenon is referred to as neonatal programming.

Several studies using the neonatal rat model (Linderoth et al., 2005; Erlwanger and Cooper, 2008; Beya et al., 2012; Dangarembizi et al., 2014) have speculated on the perpetuation of

the changes they observed through to adulthood and whether they would confer any benefit to the animals later in life.

In this present study, I aimed to provide data on the effects of HS on the morphometry of the neonatal GIT, growth performance, metabolic substrates and general health; and to explore whether the early administration of HS in the suckling period will have any effect in the response of the animals to a high fructose diet during the adolescent period.

The 4-day old neonatal Sprague Dawley rat pups were used to model the human neonate while the weanling rats were used to model the growing child in this study that was done in two phases.

1.9 Aims and objectives of the study

The main objective of this study was to determine the effect of administration of aqueous calyx extracts of HS on the gastrointestinal tract, growth performance, metabolic substrates and biochemical markers of health in the neonatal rat; and to investigate whether it would confer any protection or predisposition to the development of diet-induced metabolic dysfunction in the growing period.

The study aimed to specifically determine:

- a. the growth performance of the rats through the measurement of body weight gain,linear growth by determining the lengths and masses of the tibiae and femur.
- b. glucose tolerance in the rats (phase 2).
- c. the plasma concentration of insulin and determination of the homeostatic model of insulin resistance (HOMA-IR) in phase 2.
- d. circulating metabolic substrates (glucose and triglycerides).
- e. hepatic storage of lipids and glycogen.
- f. the morphology of the GIT and other viscera by gross measurement of their lengths and masses and histological assessment of the small intestines (phase1).
- g. biochemical markers of health by measuring in plasma.

- levels of alanine aminotransferase (ALT) and alkaline phosphatase (ALP) as surrogate markers of liver function.

- levels of Blood Urea Nitrogen (BUN) and creatinine as surrogate markers of renal function.

-total bilirubin, globulin, calcium, phosphorus, total protein, albumin, total cholesterol, and amylase.

- h. the plasma concentration of thiobarbituric acid reactive substances as a measure of lipid peroxidation (phase 2).
- i. the gender-based differences in all the above measured parameters in both the neonatal (phase 1) and the growing rats (phase 2).

1.10 Hypotheses

For phase 1

H_o: Aqueous calyx extracts of HS do not affect the gastrointestinal tract, growth performance, metabolic substrates and biochemical markers of health of suckling rat pups.

H₁: Aqueous calyx extracts of HS affect the gastrointestinal tract, growth performance, metabolic substrates and biochemical markers of health of suckling rat pups.

For phase 2

H_o: Aqueous calyx extracts of HS administered in the suckling period (preweaning) do not affect the response of Sprague Dawley rats to the inclusion of a high concentration of fructose in their diet post weaning.

H₁: Aqueous calyx extracts of HS administered in the suckling period affect the response of weanling Sprague Dawley rats to the inclusion of a high concentration of fructose in their diet post weaning.

CHAPTER TWO: EFFECTS OF HIBISCUS SABDARIFFA AQUEOUS CALYX EXTRACTS ON THE GROWTH PERFORMANCE, GASTROINTESTINAL TRACT MORPHOMETRY AND METABOLIC SUBSTRATES OF SUCKLING RATS

2.1 Introduction

As previously mentioned, the gastrointestinal tract serves as the first point of contact for nutraceuticals, being that they are mostly ingested orally. *Hibiscus sabdariffa* decoctions for the purpose of beverage or tea are also taken orally. In Nigeria and most tropical areas, HS is consumed by all age groups. The seeds of HS are used to induce lactation and improve milk let-down in some communities (Gaya et al., 2009). The neonatal GIT is susceptible to structural and functional changes when it is exposed to certain dietary constituents especially during the critical periods of gestation and lactation when there is relative plasticity of the tissues (Pacha, 2000). Plant extracts can cause precocious maturation of the gut (Linderoth et al., 2005). Artificial milk has also been shown to cause a similar effect (Dvorak et al., 2000).

Many peptides that regulate metabolic function in the body originate from the GIT (Sorensen et al., 2010). Therefore any insult that affects the GIT will also likely affect the availability of these peptides and consequently affect the growth performance and uptake of metabolic substrates in the neonate. Considering that there is exposure of the neonatal GIT to HS extracts either directly or indirectly through the breast milk, it becomes imperative to study and document its effects.

2.1.1 The gastrointestinal tract

The GIT is a specialised system that serves as a link between the body and the outside environment, allowing for food to be digested and absorbed for the benefit of the individual (Schneeman, 2002). At birth, the GIT undergoes changes to enable it cope with the shift from the parenteral placental nutrition to enteral nutrition (Sangild et al., 2000). Most of the development of the human GIT occurs *in utero* during the weeks leading to parturition but full functions of some organs especially the intestines are not attained until the age of 2 years (Sangild et al., 2000; Corpeleijn et al., 2008). The GIT performs very important functions in the overall regulation of body homeostasis including among others: digestion and absorption of nutrients, metabolism and immune response (Baltrop and Brueton, 1990). For effective distribution of nutrients to various organs and also for control of food intake and utilisation, the GIT is connected with other systems of the body such as the cardiovascular and central nervous systems (Schneeman, 2002).

The neonatal GIT allows for selective pinocytosis of macromolecules during the suckling period which permits passage of maternal antibodies to the pups for protection (Linderoth et al., 2005). This ability is however lost as the enterocytes attain adult configuration and gut closure occurs at 3 weeks under the influence of glucocorticoids (Henning, 1986). The structure of the GIT is composed of four specialised layers: the mucosa, sub-mucosa, muscularis and each of the layers adapted to particular functions (Xu, 1996). The mucosa

comes in direct contact with the external environment and its structural and functional integrity determines its absorptive capacity, nutrient availability and therefore health and wellbeing of the individual (Buddington and Kimura, 2003). In the small intestines, the mucosa is thrown into folds called villi which are covered by enterocytes that originate from the crypts and differentiate as they migrate to the villi tip (Baltrop and Brueton, 1990). The GIT mucosa is a major source of peptides such as ghrelin and cholecystokinin which regulate metabolic and digestive functions in the body (Sorensen et al., 2010). It therefore follows that interference with the integrity of the GIT mucosa affects the secretion of these peptides with consequences on the metabolism of the organism.

2.1.2 Phytochemicals and health

Phytochemicals are plant components that possess biological activities (Farombi., 2003). They affect the metabolism and physiology of the individual when ingested (Dillard and German, 2000; Liu, 2007). Most of these phytochemicals are incorporated into food and pharmaceutical products as nutraceuticals. Nutraceuticals are non-toxic food extract supplements that have been scientifically proved to have health benefits in both prevention and treatment of diseases (Dillard and German, 2000; Holst and Williamson, 2008). Phytochemicals are broadly classified into three groups: terpenoids, phenolics and alkaloids and other nitrogen-containing constituents (Harborne, 1999). Some phytochemicals such as anthocyanins have been shown to have antioxidant and anti-mutagenic properties (Dillard and German, 2000). Phytochemicals affect the general health of the body in a number of ways which could either be beneficial or detrimental. They could act as substrates for biochemical reactions, co-factors of enzymatic reactions, enzyme inhibitors and as absorbents that bind to and help in eliminating unwanted materials from the GIT (Dillard and German, 2000; Bagchi et al., 2011). Phytochemicals could also act as agonists or antagonists of biological receptors, scavengers of toxic substances or as enhancers of absorption of essential nutrients (Dillard and German, 2000). *Hibiscus sabdariffa* has an abundance of phytochemicals (as discussed in chapter one) which could affect the general health of individuals consuming it either for medicinal or nutritional purposes.

2.1.3 Hibiscus sabdariffa and the GIT

Only two studies were found that investigated the effects of HS on the GIT. *Hibiscus sabdariffa* aqueous (Owulade et al., 2004) and methanolic (Salah et al., 2002) extracts were found to increase intestinal transit time and inhibit intestinal motility in adult rats. The flavonoids, quercetin and eugenol were postulated to be responsible for these effects via modulation of Ca^{2+} channels (Salah et al., 2002).

2.2 Materials and methods

2.2.1. Study setting

The study was conducted from 2013 to 2014 at the Central Animal Services facility and the School of Physiology, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, Republic of South Africa.

2.2.2. Ethics clearance

All the protocols used in the study were approved by the Animal Ethics Screening Committee of the University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg (AESC/2013/46/05) with subsequent modifications (appendices 1, 2 and 3).

2.3 Materials

2.3.1 Source of HS Calyces

Dried calyces of HS were purchased at the central market in Sokoto, North West Nigeria. They were authenticated by Mr. Halilu E. Mshelia of the department of Pharmacognosy and Ethnopharmacy, Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Usmanu Danfodiyo University, Sokoto and a voucher specimen was deposited at the departmental herbarium

(PCG/UDUS/Malv/0001). The dried calyces were then imported into RSA to the University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg where they were further processed and the animal studies were conducted.

2.4 Methods

2.4.1 Preparation of the calyx extracts

The dried calyces were ground to a fine powder using a Waring blender (Waring[®], USA). Two hundred and ten grammes of the calyx powder were extracted in 1400ml of distilled water at 95°C for 2 hours (Lin et al., 2007). The extracted solution was then filtered through Whatman 1 filter paper and the filtrate was concentrated using a rotor evaporator (Labocon (Pty) Ltd, Krugersdorp, South Africa). The concentrated suspension of the extracts was then dried in an oven (Salvis®, Salvis Lab, Schweiz, Switzerland) at 40°C (Dangarembizi et al., 2014) and the residual powder extracts were recovered and stored in dark, tightly sealed glass vials at 4°C for future use (Ali et al., 2003; Lin et al., 2007). The recovered powder weighed 22% of the starting calyces.

2.4.2 Study animals

Forty two, 4-day old, suckling Sprague Dawley pups from four dams that were sourced from the Central Animal Services, University of the Witwatersrand, were used in the study.

2.4.3 Housing and care of the animals

Each dam and its litter were housed in Perspex cages lined with wood shavings. The dams were supplied with standard rat cubes (Epol[®], Johannesburg, South Africa) and tap water *ad libitum*. The room temperature was maintained at 26±2°C and a 12 hr light cycle followed (lights on 07.00hrs- 19.00hrs). The pups were allowed to nurse freely with their dams throughout the duration of the study.

2.4.4 Study design

The birth day of the pups was designated day zero (Erlwanger and Cooper, 2008) and on day 4, the pups in each litter were randomly assigned to three treatment groups (in a split litter manner) which were distinctly identified using unique, non toxic colour-coded markings on their tails. The first group, the control group (n=14, 7 males and 7 females) received distilled water at 10ml.kg⁻¹ BM, Group 2 (n = 14, 7 males and 7 females) received a low dose of HS extract (50mg.kg⁻¹) while the third group (n = 14, 7 males and 7 females) received a high dose

43

of the extracts (500mg.kg⁻¹). The treatments were administered once daily in the morning (08.00hrs-09.00hrs) via oral gavage using an orogastric tube mounted on a 1ml syringe (Erlwanger and Cooper, 2008; Beya et al., 2012; Dangarembizi et al., 2014) for 9 consecutive days till post natal day 14. This was to prevent the compounding effects on the HS treatment that could result due to exploratory feeding of the pups after they open their eyes on postnatal day 14. The doses of HS used in this study were within the ranges used by other researchers without recording adverse effects on health (Onyenekwe et al., 1999; Gaya et al., 2009; Ndu et al., 2011).

2.4.5 Body mass measurements

The pups were weighed daily on a balance (Snowrex Electronic Scale, Clover Scales, Johannesburg) in order to adjust the amount of aqueous HS calyces extract administered so as to maintain a constant dose and also to monitor their growth performance. The dams were weighed weekly as part of routine health monitoring.

2.4.6 Terminal procedures

2.4.6.1 Termination of pups

On post natal day 14, blood was obtained from the pups via a pin prick of the tail and used for determination of non-fasting glucose with a calibrated glucometer (Ascensia EliteTM Blood

glucose meter, Bayer Corporation, Mishawaka, USA). Thereafter, the pups were euthanased by intraperitoneal anaesthetic overdose of sodium pentobarbitone (Eutha-naze, Bayer, Johannesburg, South Africa) at 200mg.kg⁻¹ body mass.

2.4.6.2 Collection of blood, plasma processing and storage

Following euthanasia, the thorax was opened and blood was collected via cardiac puncture with 21G needles and 5ml syringes. The blood was immediately transferred to lithium-heparin blood tubes (Becton Dickinson Vacutainer Systems Europe, Meylan Cedex, France) which were gently inverted to ensure proper mixing with the anticoagulant. The blood was then centrifuged at 4000 x G for 15 minutes at 20°C in a centrifuge (SorvalIIRT®6000B, DuPont Instruments, New York, USA). Plasma was stored in microtubes (Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany) at - 20°C in a freezer (Bosch, Johannesburg, South Africa) until needed for assay of the biochemical markers.

2.4.6.3 Morphometry of the GIT and other viscera

Through a midline incision, the abdomen was opened. The GIT and liver were carefully dissected out. The contents of the stomach, small intestines, large intestines and caecum were gently emptied. Both the GIT and the above mentioned viscera were weighed with an electronic balance (Presica 310M, Presica Instruments AG, Switzerland) and recorded. As

described in similar studies (Erlwanger and Cooper, 2008; Beya et al., 2012; Dangarembizi et al., 2014) the small and large intestines were gently stretched on a cool dissecting board on which a ruler was mounted, and their lengths were recorded. The liver was preserved in a freezer (Haier Biomedical, China) at -20°C for future determination of hepatic storage of lipids and glycogen.

2.4.6.4 Determination of long bone parameters

The right hind legs from the carcasses were carefully dissected and detached from the acetabulum using a pair of scissors and scalpel blade which were also used to meticulously clean the femur and tibia of all non-bony tissues. The bones were then dried in an oven (Salvis [®], Salvis Lab, Switzerland) at 50°C for 5 days until uniform mass was achieved. This was to remove any moisture content from the bones since the carcasses were initially stored in a freezer (Haier Biomedical, China) before the bones were dissected out at a later date. This dry mass, together with the bone length determined using a vernier calliper (Hi-impact, Dejuca, South Africa) were used to calculate the bone density. The bone density was calculated using the formula:

Bone density= mass of the bone (mg)/length of the bone (mm) (Monteagudo et al., 1997)

46

2.4.6.5 Hepatic storage of metabolic substrates

2.4.6.5.1 Quantification of hepatic lipid stores

The hepatic storage of lipids was determined using a solvent extraction method as described by Bligh and Dyer, (1959). Essentially, 300-500mg of liver sample was placed in 150ml of 2:1 chloroform: methanol solution and allowed to extract overnight at 4°C. The solution was then filtered through filter paper (Whatmann®, No 1, size 185 mm, pore size 7-11µm, England) into separation funnels where 30ml of 0.9% saline was added to the filtrate from a dispensing bottle. The separation funnels containing the solutions were kept overnight at 4°C to allow separation into two phases. The bottom phase was collected into round bottom flasks and evaporated to dryness under vacuum with a rotor evaporator (Labocon (pty) Ltd, Krugersdorp, South Africa) at 37°C. 20ml of chloroform was then added to make up the stock solution from which an aliquot of 2ml was taken, placed in dried, pre-weighed 10ml scintillating bottles and dried in an oven (Salvis®, Salvis Lab, Schweiz, Switzerland) at 50°C for 30 minutes. The scintillating bottles were then re-weighed and the percentage lipid content was then calculated as follows:

% liver lipids = total mass of the lipids/mass of the sample x 100.

2.4.6.5.2 Quantification of hepatic glycogen stores

The liver glycogen stores were determined indirectly by hydrolyzing the glycogen to glucose and then determining the concentration of glucose as described by Passonneau and Lauderdale, (1974). Briefly, 0.1g of the liver sample was placed in a test tube and homogenized (Ultra turrax[®] homogenizer, Janke and Kunkel, Germany) in 1ml of 0.03M HCl. Into the homogenized liver was added 1ml of 1M HCl. The sample was then thoroughly mixed using a vortex mixer (Vortex mixer WM-300, Cannic Inc. USA), sealed and then placed in a boiling water bath for 2 hours to hydrolyse the glycogen. Thereafter, 1ml of 1M NaOH was added to the sample and mixed with the vortex mixer to neutralize the acid. The concentration of glucose in the hydrosylate was then determined colorimetrically with a glucometer (Accu-Chek Active, Roche, Germany) and the result expressed as glucose equivalents in the homogenate.

2.4.6.6 Determination of clinical biochemical markers of health

A total of thirteen parameters were measured using a VetTest analyser (IDEXX VetTest® Clinical Chemistry Analyser, IDEXX Laboratories Inc., USA) to determine the effects of HS administration on the health profile of the study animals. The machine is a colorimetric chemistry analyser and was calibrated according to the manufacturer's instructions before the assay. Plasma samples that had previously been frozen were thawed, warmed to room temperature and gently agitated for uniform mixing of the sample. A pipette that was attached to a probe from the analyser sucked up $150\mu l$ of the plasma and deposited it on the pre-loaded discs. The samples were then analysed and a print out of the results was retrieved from the machine.

2.5 Statistical analysis

All data from the study was expressed as mean \pm standard deviation. Data was analysed using Graph pad Prism version 5 (Graph-pad Software Inc., San Diego, USA). The level of significance was set at p \leq 0.05. A one way analysis of variance was used to assess the effects of HS extracts on the parameters measured. This was followed by a Bonferroni *post hoc* test for comparison of the means.

2.6 Results

There were no gender differences observed in all the parameters assayed across all the treatment groups hence the presentation of combined (male and female) results.

2.6.1 Morbidity and mortality

All the pups remained healthy throughout the study with no incidental or iatrogenic morbidities or mortalities recorded.

2.6.2. Effects of HS aqueous calyx extract on growth performance

2.6.2.1 Body mass

Figure 2.1 shows the effects of orally administered HS aqueous calyx extracts on the terminal body masses of the rat pups. The induction and terminal masses of the rats were not significantly different (p>0.05) across the treatment groups (Figure 2.1). The pups in all the treatment groups however significantly grew (p<0.001) from induction to termination (Figure 2.1).

Figure 2.2 shows the percentage body mass gain of the rat pups following oral administration of HS aqueous calyx extracts. There was no significant difference (p>0.05) in the percentage body mass gain of the rat pups during the treatment period.



Figure 2.1: Effect of oral administration of aqueous HSE on the terminal body masses of rat pups. ***=p<0.001. CTRL= control (10ml.kg⁻¹ distilled water), HD HSE= high dose of HS extract (500mg.kg⁻¹), LD HSE= low dose of HS extract (50mg.kg⁻¹). Data presented as mean± SD; n=14 in each group.



Figure 2.2: Effect of oral administration of HS aqueous calyx extract on Percentage change in body mass of pups. CTRL= control (10ml.kg⁻¹ distilled water), HD HSE= high dose of HS extract (500mg.kg⁻¹), LD HSE= low dose of HS extract (50mg.kg⁻¹). Data presented as mean± SD; n=14 in each group.

2.6.2.2 Linear growth

Table 2.1 shows the effect of oral administration of HS aqueous calyx extracts on the masses, lengths and densities of tibiae and femora of suckling Sprague Dawley pups. Pups administered with the LD HSE had significantly heavier tibiae (p<0.05) compared to those of the control and HD HSE (Table 2.1). Pups in the LD HSE had denser tibiae than pups in the HD HSE and CTRL groups (Table 2.1).

 Table 2.1 Effect of oral administration of HS aqueous calyx extracts on the masses,

 lengths and density of tibiae and femora of suckling Sprague Dawley pups

	CTRL	LD HSE	HD HSE
Tibia (mg)	32 ± 3.5^{a}	34± 3.5 ^b	30 ± 4.6^{a}
Tibia (mm)	16± 1.0 ^a	15 ± 1.2^{a}	15 ± 1.4^{a}
Tibia (mg.mm ⁻¹)	2.0 ± 0.2^{a}	2.9± 0.3 ^b	2.0 ± 0.2^{a}
Femur (mg)	32 ± 3.2^{a}	32 ± 3.4^{a}	30 ± 2.8^{a}
Femur (mm)	12 ± 0.7^{a}	12 ± 0.7^{a}	12 ± 0.4^{a}
Femur (mg.mm ⁻¹)	2.7 ± 0.2^{a}	2.7 ± 0.2^{a}	2.6 ± 0.2^{a}

^{ab}Within rows, means with different superscripts are statistically different from each other. CTRL= control (10ml.kg⁻¹ distilled water), HD HSE= high dose of HS extract (500mg.kg⁻¹), LD HSE= low dose of HS extract (50mg.kg⁻¹). Data expressed as mean± SD, n=14 in each group.
2.6.3 Hepatic storage of metabolic substrates

Figures 2.3A and 2.3B show hepatic lipid and glycogen content respectively. There were no differences (p>0.05) in the liver lipid (Figure 2.3A) and glycogen content (expressed as glucose equivalents in liver hydrosylate) (Figure 2.3B) across the treatment groups.

2.6.3.1 Hepatic lipid content



Figure 2.3A: Effect of administration of HS aqueous calyx extracts on liver lipid content in suckling Sprague Dawley rat pups

CTRL= control (10ml.kg⁻¹ distilled water), HD HSE= high dose of HS extract (500mg.kg⁻¹), LD HSE= low dose of HS extract (50mg.kg⁻¹). Data expressed as mean± SD, n=14 in each group. 2.6.3.2 Hepatic glycogen content





CTRL= control (10ml.kg⁻¹ distilled water), HD HSE= high dose of HS extract (500mg.kg⁻¹), LD HSE= low dose of HS extract (50mg.kg⁻¹). Data expressed as mean± SD, n=14 in each group.

2.6.4 Morphology and morphometry of the GIT and other viscera

Table 2.2 shows the effect of administration of HS aqueous calyx extract on the morphometry of the GIT and liver of suckling Sprague Dawley pups. The small intestines of the pups administered with the HD HSE were significantly heavier relative to the body mass (p<0.05) when compared to those on the LD HSE and the CTRL group (p<0.001). The caeca of pups administered with the HD HSE were significantly heavier (absolute and relative to the body mass) compared to those on the LD HSE (p<0.05). There were no differences observed (p>0.05) in the lengths of the small and large intestines, absolute and relative masses of the large intestines, stomach and liver (Table 2.2).

Table 2.2: Effect of administration of HS aqueous calyx extract on the morphometry ofthe GIT and liver of suckling Sprague Dawley rats

	CTRL	LD HSE	HD HSE
S.I.(g)	0.71 ± 0.07	0.72 ±0.06	0.77 ± 0.09
S.I. (% BM)	2.7 ± 0.30^{b}	2.7 ± 0.20^{b}	3.0 ± 0.20^{a}
S.I. (mm)	498 ± 27.00	517 ± 43.00	509 ± 30.00
L.I. (g)	0.10 ± 0.01	0.10 ± 0.01	0.11 ± 0.01
L.I. (% BM)	0.39 ± 0.05	0.40 ± 0.05	0.42 ± 0.05
L.I. (mm)	71±4.80	72 ± 4.70	70 ± 5.30
Liver (g)	0.80 ± 0.06	0.79 ± 0.07	0.76 ± 0.06
Liver (%BM)	3.0 ± 0.17	2.9 ± 0.17	3.0 ± 0.14
Caecum (g)	0.056 ± 0.01^{a}	0.049 ± 0.01^{ac}	0.062 ± 0.02^{ab}
Caecum(%BM)	0.21 ± 0.05^{a}	$0.19 \pm 0.04^{\mathrm{ac}}$	0.24 ± 0.06^{ab}
Stomach (g)	0.17 ± 0.02	0.16 ± 0.02	0.17 ± 0.02
Stomach (%BM)	0.63 ± 0.08	0.59 ± 0.07	0.66 ± 0.07

^{ab}Within row data with different superscripts indicate significant difference (p < 0.05). S.I. = small intestines, L.I. = large intestines, BM = body mass, CTRL= control (10ml.kg⁻¹ distilled water), HD HSE= high dose of HS extract (500mg.kg⁻¹), LD HSE= low dose of HS extract (50mg.kg⁻¹). Data expressed as mean± SD, n=14 in each group.

2.6.5 Biochemical health profile

Table 2.3 shows the effect of administration of HS aqueous calyx extract on the biochemical markers of health of suckling Sprague Dawley pups. There was no significant difference (P>0.05) in biochemical markers of health measured across the treatment groups (Table 2.3).

Table 2.3: Effects of administration of HS aqueous calyx extract on the biochemicalmarkers of health of suckling Sprague Dawley rats

	CTRL	LD HSE	HD HSE
Glucose (mmol.L ⁻¹)	6.4 ± 1.30	6.2 ± 0.94	6.9 ±1.10
BUN (mmol.L ⁻¹⁾	3.8 ± 0.94	3.8 ± 0.67	4.0 ± 1.20
Creatinine (µmol.L ⁻¹)	18 ± 6.10	21 ± 12.00	19 ± 9.70
Phosphate (mmol.L ⁻¹)	2.9 ± 0.29	2.9 ± 0.21	2.7 ± 0.23
Calcium (mmol.L ⁻¹)	2.4 ± 0.53	2.3 ± 0.36	2.5 ± 0.24
Total Protein (g.L ⁻¹)	39 ± 4.80	40 ± 2.80	40 ± 2.90
Albumin (g.L ⁻¹)	16 ± 4.70	15 ± 5.90	16 ± 5.60
Globulin (g.L ⁻¹)	23 ± 1.10	25 ± 4.90	24 ± 3.40
ALT (U.L ⁻¹)	50± 36.00	59 ± 56.00	44 ± 24.00
$ALP(U.L^{-1})$	382 ± 67.00	425 ± 76.00	438 ± 65.00
Total Biluribin (µmol.L ⁻¹)	10 ± 3.60	10 ± 5.70	9.2 ± 3.40
Cholesterol (mmol.L ⁻¹)	4.1 ± 0.32	4.4 ± 0.28	4.4 ± 0.30
Amylase (U.L ⁻¹)	1272 ± 254.00	1349 ± 162.00	1347 ± 173.00

BUN= blood urea nitrogen, CTRL= Control (10ml.kg⁻¹), HD HSE= High dose of HS extracts (500mg.kg⁻¹), LD HSE= Low dose of HS extracts (50mg.kg⁻¹), Data expressed as mean \pm SD, n=14 in each group.

2.7 Discussion

In this phase of the study, the effects of administration of an aqueous calyx extract of HS on the growth performance, metabolic substrates, gastrointestinal tract and general health of suckling rat pups was investigated. The findings of this phase will be discussed in the subsequent paragraphs.

2.7.1 Effects of HS aqueous calyx extracts on growth performance

The pups in all the treatment groups had similar induction masses and grew significantly during the study period. The effects of sex hormones that may account for differences in growth rates only appear around postnatal day 25-36 in rats (Eden, 1979; Gabriel et al., 1992). The pups in this phase of the study were terminated at postnatal day 14 and this might explain why gender differences were not observed in the measured parameters. Body mass is usually affected by a range of factors such as genetic predisposition, the state of hydration of the individual, nutritional status and disease conditions (MacCracken and Stebbings, 2012). The morphometric characteristics of the tibiae and femora are more reliable indices of growth because they are related to growth hormone and IGF-1 activity in a dose dependent manner compared to other tissues (Baum et al., 1996; Eshet et al., 2004). The long bones are also not susceptible to daily fluctuations resulting from hydration status or gut fill (Baum et al., 1996).

The tibiae of the pups in the low dose HSE group were significantly longer and heavier than those of the control and high dose HS groups. The determination of the bone density was done indirectly by computation of the lengths and masses of the bones and not through radiographs and densitometry. Therefore the higher density of the tibiae might be due to proteins or other bone components and not necessarily due to mineralization. *Hibiscus sabdariffa* calyces have about 12.63mg/100g calcium (Mahadevan et al., 2009), which is in addition to the calcium content of the dam's milk and might contribute to the mineralization of the long bones. However, HS calyces were also reported to have a high phosphorus content of about 273.2mg/100g (Mahadevan et al., 2009) with a calcium/phosphorus ratio of 0.05. Calcium/phosphorus ratio range from 1.51 in neonatal to 1.69 in adult rats (Legros et al., 1987; Nieves, 2005). Excessive intake of phosphorus in relation to calcium has deleterious effects on bone mineralization (Nieves, 2005). This might explain why the pups that were administered with the high dose HSE had shorter and lighter tibiae than those given the high dose of HSE.

2.7.2 Effects of HS on hepatic storage of lipids and glycogen

Dietary interventions and starvation have been shown to affect the liver storage of lipids and glycogen (Barcellos et al., 2010). The liver is an important organ in the body performing a wide range of metabolic, synthetic and storage functions. Hepatic lipids serve as a concentrate of large energy stores to be used by the body in times of need (Sugden et al., 2002). *Hibiscus*

sabdariffa extracts have been reported to decrease lipid content of hepatocytes via the activation of adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase (AMPK) and reduction of sterol regulatory element- binding protein 1 (SREBP-1) consequently preventing the expression of the enzymes: fatty acid synthase and HMG-CoA reductase (Yang et al., 2009). In this study, there was no difference observed in the hepatic storage of lipids between the HSE treated and control groups suggesting that HSE might not have had an effect on the hepatic liver content of the pups.

Hibiscus sabdariffa has been reported to have hypoglycaemic effects (Peng et al., 2011; Adisakwattana et al., 2012; Villalpando-Arteaga et al., 2013a) which should have affected the liver glycogen stores. The hypoglycaemic effect should have caused glycogenolysis in the liver leading to a reduction in the hepatic glycogen stores. There was no significant difference observed in liver glycogen content between the HS treated groups and the control group in this study. This lack of difference in the glycogen stores across the treatment groups might be because the pups were not fasted prior to termination. Fasting of the pups would have required separating them from their dams and since the pups do not all suckle at the same time it would be difficult to determine the duration of fasting.

2.7.3 Effects of HS on the morphometry of the GIT

The GIT is the most widely exposed system to the effects of phytochemicals and responds to this exposure in diverse ways (Buddington and Kimura, 2003). Some vertebrates are able to increase the size of their GIT in response to the fibre content of the diet (Sorensen et al., 2010). Plant extracts have previously been shown to cause precocious maturation of the GIT in rats (Linderoth et al., 2005). In this study, HS extracts caused a significant increase (p<0.001) in the mass of the small intestines relative to the body mass in the high dose group when compared to the control group and low dose groups (p<0.01). This could probably point to trophic effects of high dose HSE on the small intestines in this period of relative plasticity. HS extracts might have interfered with the absorption of nutrients in the small intestines leading to their accumulation and subsequent increase in the mass of the intestines (Younes et al., 2001; Lembede, 2014).

The caecum of the rat is the main site of degradation of fermentable carbohydrates and other residual nutrients (Munro et al., 1998; Younes et al., 2001). In this study, the absolute (g) and relative (%BM) mass of the caecum differed significantly between the high dose HS (500mg.kg⁻¹) and the low dose HS (50mg.kg⁻¹) treatment groups but not with the control group. An increase in the caecal mass usually occurs following introduction of a variety of substances into the GIT and is thought to result from the osmotic activity of substances not absorbed by the small intestines or an alteration of the GIT flora by dietary changes (Ford et al., 1983; Munro et al., 1998; Erlwanger and Cooper, 2008). There may be positive or

negative associative factors responsible for this observed difference in caecal mass between the two different treatment groups (LD HSE and HD HSE) which are both similar to the control group. However, full explanation cannot be provided by this study.

Hibiscus sabdariffa extracts did not have any grossly discernable effects on the remaining GIT and non-GIT viscera.

2.7.4 Effect of HS on markers of health

There were no adverse health outcomes observed in the pups following the administration of HS aqueous calyx extracts. Even though some researchers have found adverse effects in the liver enzymes following chronic administration of high doses of HS (Akindahunsi and Olaleye, 2003) others reported HS to be safe (Onyenekwe et al., 1999; Gaya et al., 2009; Ndu et al., 2011). Plasma activity of alkaline phosphatase (ALP) though not significantly different (p>0.05) was found to be elevated above the upper limit (370U.L⁻¹) for adult rats (Espandiari et al., 2008) in all the treatment groups. Alkaline phosphatase is a non- specific enzyme released from multiple sources which include the intestinal mucosa, osteoblasts and epithelial cells of biliary canaliculi (Alhassan et al., 2009). The increased activity of ALP might be due to increased osteoblastic activity that accompanies growth (Alhassan et al., 2009) and not as a result of damage to the liver. The particular ALP isozyme that was elevated was not

65

determined in this study due to technical limitations and would have shed more light on the cause of the increased plasma activity. Plasma activity of ALT and plasma total biluribin and total protein concentration, which are all markers of hepatic damage, were not different across the treatment groups. Plasma albumin concentrations were low (reference values given by the IDEXX machine) but not significantly different in all the treatment groups. However albumin concentrations have been reported to be low from 4 days post partum till about 20 days post partum due to protein synthesis limitation in the hepatoblasts (Papworth and Clubb, 1995).

Blood urea nitrogen (BUN) and creatinine were used as surrogate markers of renal function in this study. There were no adverse effects observed in these parameters following administration of HS aqueous calyx extracts. This finding is in agreement with those of Mohagheghi et al., (2010) who observed no significant harmful changes in blood urea nitrogen (BUN), serum creatinine, sodium and potassium concentrations following administration of HS tea twice daily for 2 weeks in patients with essential hypertension. Other researchers have also attributed reno-protective effects on the extracts of HS through the amelioration of diabetic nephropathy (Lee et al., 2009; Wang et al., 2011). Other markers of health assayed in the study were also not adversely affected by the administration of HS. These results tend to suggest that HS aqueous calyx extracts could be used in neonates without any adverse effects on their health.

2.11 Conclusion

In this phase of the study, aqueous HS calyx extract was administered to neonatal rat pups via oral gavage to determine its effects on their growth performance, metabolic substrates, gastrointestinal tract and general health. While the extracts had a trophic effect on the small intestines and caecum of the rat pups, it had no effect on the other parameters that were assayed in the study. These findings suggest that aqueous HS calyx extracts administered during the neonatal period could cause precocious structural maturation of the GIT which could affect the metabolism and physiology of the animal without any adverse effects on their health. Further research is needed in order to identify the specific phytochemicals and mechanisms of action involved in the causation of precocious maturation of GIT and its implications for long term health.

Previous studies in which neonatal rat pups were administered with plant extracts (Erlwanger and Cooper, 2008; Beya et al., 2012; Dangarembizi et al., 2014) had speculated on the possible perpetuation of the changes observed in the neonatal phase into adulthood and whether they conferred any advantage or otherwise in later life.

The second phase of this study which is described in the next chapter, investigated whether the trophic changes observed in the small intestines of the pups translated into any form of advantage or not in the response of weanling rats to a second intervention (20% fructose w/v in the drinking water of the weanling rats). It thus also investigated whether the early administration of the HSE had any programming effect on the manifestation of metabolic dysfunction in the adolescent stage of the rats.

CHAPTER THREE: EFFECTS OF EARLYADMINISTRATION OF HS AQUEOUS CALYX EXTRACT ON THE RESPONSE TO A HIGH FRUCTOSE DIET

3.0 Introduction

In the previous chapter, HS aqueous calyx extracts were administered to suckling Sprague Dawley rat pups. As stated earlier, previous interventions in the neonatal rats had looked at the acute changes in the GIT morphology, growth performance and general health of the pups and speculated that the changes observed might have beneficial effects for the animals later in life.

This chapter reports on the second phase of the present study. In addition to the administration of the HS aqueous calyx extracts in the suckling period, the rats were subjected to a high fructose diet at 20% fructose (w/v) in their drinking water. Unlike glucose which activates phospho-fructokinase in the glycolytic pathway, fructose activates fructose-1-phosphatase leading to lipogenesis (Basciano et al., 2005). Fructose is also common additive in foods (Angelova and Boyadjiev, 2013). The aim was to investigate whether the initial intervention with HS had conferred any benefits or predisposition to the development of diet induced metabolic dysfunction in the growing period.

3.1 Neonatal programming of metabolic dysfunction

Even though the rising incidence of metabolic syndrome has been blamed on lifestyle and dietary factors, the exact mechanisms by which these factors affect the physiological systems

that regulate appetite, body mass and aetiology of metabolic diseases is still poorly understood (Moura and Passos, 2005). There is strong evidence that some metabolic disorders of adulthood actually are as a result of events that happened in early life (Osmond et al., 1993; Hales and Barker, 2001; Gluckman and Hanson, 2004).

An individual's growth and development is normally controlled in a programmed sequence dictated by the genome right from conception (Patel and Srinivasan, 2002). However, studies have shown that during the early periods of development, there is relative plasticity of the tissues and the individual responds to environmental stimuli by adapting to them at the cellular level (Patel and Srinivasan, 2002).

Neonatal programming has been defined as "an epigenetic phenomenon by which nutritional, hormonal, physical, psychological and other stressful events acting in a critical period of life such as gestation and lactation, modify in a prolonged way certain physiological functions" (Moura and Passos, 2005).

There is abundant evidence from epidemiological studies linking a nutrient deficient uterine environment either due to maternal factors or placental insufficiency to the development of cardiovascular and metabolic diseases (Armitage et al., 2004). Hales and Barker, (2001) stimulated a lot of research in this field when they proposed the 'foetal origins' hypothesis which is now used to describe any situation where an event during development causes a permanent physiological response. According to Hales and Barker, (2001) this foetal origin of metabolic diseases leads to the expression of a 'thrifty phenotype' which allows the foetus to maximise nutrient uptake and utilization in the nutrient-deficient *in utero* environment. A predictive adaptive advantage is conferred on the foetus that prepares it for similar nutrient deficient post natal environment (Armitage et al., 2004; Cottrell and Ozanne, 2008).

However, the availability of plentiful nutrition in the post natal environment which exceeds the range of predictive adaptive responses of the neonate will result in an increased risk of developing obesity and type two diabetes mellitus (Armitage et al., 2004; Cottrell and Ozanne, 2008).

Neonatal programming is an epigenetic phenomenon and occurs at the level of gene expression rather than gene sequence (Gallou-Kabani and Junien, 2005). Therefore nutritional insults during those critical stages of development could influence how certain genes are expressed or silenced (Gallou-Kabani and Junien, 2005) by interfering with the normal epigenetic processes. These detrimental metabolic consequences of programming can be transmitted to subsequent generations without necessarily repeating the initial insult (Drake and Walker, 2004) probably due to permanent changes in the genome (Gallou-Kabani and Junien, 2005).

Previously, the thrifty hypothesis was based on the premise that only offsprings with low birth weight were at an increased risk of metabolic diseases in their adult life. Considering the rise in the incidence of obesity in the developed world where maternal malnutrition or under nutrition is rarely obtained, research now focused on the link between maternal over-nutrition and deleterious metabolic outcomes in later life (Cottrell and Ozanne, 2008). It has now been established that offspring of mothers with over-nutrition or those with gestational diabetes are large for age at birth with increased risk of obesity and diabetes later in life (Ehrenberg et al., 2004). This means that at both extremes of birth weight, there is an increased risk of obesity (Parsons et al., 2001).

Animal models of growth restriction or over-nutrition have been used to study the mechanisms and outcomes of neonatal programming and have provided valuable information (Armitage et al., 2004). The lactation period appears to be the most crucial time in mammals for the initiation of metabolic programming (Moura and Passos, 2005). Maternal dietary manipulation in the form of caloric or protein restriction during gestation have been frequently employed as models of metabolic programming with the effects observed in the offsprings (Patel and Srinivasan, 2002; Armitage et al., 2004; Moura and Passos, 2005; Cottrell and Ozanne, 2008). Unlike the effect of over nutrition in rat pups which has been

studied by reducing litter size (McCance, 1962), the effect of altered nutrition during the suckling period has been difficult to study because it would involve feeding the pups with a modified formula away from their dams (Patel and Srinivasan, 2002).

Considering the alarming increase in the incidence of metabolic dysfunction and the fact that these impairments can be transmitted across generations, the goal of treatment should be to prevent this transmission. There is evidence that metabolic symptoms in those individuals with intrauterine growth restriction could be reversed with maternal dietary manipulation during lactation (Wyrwoll et al., 2006). Therefore, research in this area needs to be intensified with the aim of determining whether these early interventions would confer any advantages for long term health (Cottrell and Ozanne, 2008).

The incidence of metabolic syndrome is no longer the exclusive preserve of the adults as there is an alarming increase in the prevalence of childhood obesity globally (Stamatakis et al., 2009).

3.2 Childhood Obesity: prevalence and complications

Insulin resistance and type two diabetes mellitus are rapidly emerging as chronic disorders of childhood associated with an increase in the prevalence of obesity (Kohen-Avramoglu et al., 2003). There is a change in the prevalence of childhood obesity globally, attaining an

epidemic proportion (Ebbeling et al., 2002; Birch and Ventura, 2009; Stamatakis et al., 2009). This increase in prevalence is due to an interplay of genetic factors, sedentary life style and altered diets (Biro and Wien, 2010). Different epidemiological studies defined childhood obesity and over-weight in a different manner, making it difficult to make comparisons (Ebbeling et al., 2002).

The worldwide prevalence of childhood obesity which increased from 4.2% in 1990 to 6.7% in 2010 is expected to reach 9.1% by 2020 (De Onis et al., 2010). In Africa, the estimated prevalence of 8.5% in 2010 is expected to increase to 12.7% by 2020 (De Onis et al., 2010). The prevalence of childhood obesity in South Africa was found to be increasing with age, reaching 20-25% by late adolescence (Kimani-Murage et al., 2010). In Nigeria, a prevalence of 5.2% was reported among pre-school children (Senbanjo and Adejuyigbe, 2007) and 1.8% among children attending primary and secondary schools in a semi-urban community (Musa et al., 2012).

There are several complications associated with childhood obesity including hypertension, dyslipidaemia, hyperinsulinaemia, proinflammatory and prothrombotic tendencies (Ford, 2005). Other complications can be grouped as below:

-psychosocial characterised by poor self esteem, depression and eating disorders (Davison and Birch, 2001).

-neurological such as pseudo-tumour cerebri (Balcer et al., 1999).

-pulmonary which include sleep apnoea, asthma and exercise intolerance (Redline et al., 1999; Figueroa-Munoz et al., 2001).

- GIT such as gall stones and steatohepatitis (Strauss et al., 2000).

-renal complications like glomerulosclerosis (Adelman et al., 2001).

- musculoskeletal such as slipped capital femoral epiphysis, Blount's disease, forearm fracture and flat feet (Loder et al., 1993; Dowling et al., 2001).

-endocrine complications which include, type 2 diabetes, precocious puberty, polycystic ovarian disease in girls and hypogonadism in boys (Good et al., 1997; Kaplowitz et al., 2001; Ludwig and Ebbeling, 2001).

- cardiovascular characterized by dyslipidaemia, hypertension, coagulopathy, chronic inflammation and endothelial dysfunction (Freedman et al., 1999; Ford, 2005).

It is clear that the complications of childhood obesity are enormous and therefore there is a need to intensify research aimed at finding affordable and readily available remedies. Resveratrol (a natural phenolic produced in most plants), has been shown to reduce lipid peroxidation and increase sirtuin 1 expression in adult Wistar rats that were programmed by maternal protein restriction during lactation (Franco et al., 2010). Perhaps other phytochemicals in plants could be used to modify the epigenome in the early critical periods and prevent the development of obesity.

3.3 Fructose-induced metabolic dysfunction

The rise in incidence of metabolic syndrome has been linked to changes in dietary habits and reduced physical exercise (Armitage et al., 2004). Therefore it is appropriate, when studying the pathogenesis of the syndrome to use diet induced animal models for those methods not applicable to humans (Angelova and Boyadjiev, 2013). Some of the diet induced models used in rats include: 'high-fat diet, high-carbohydrate diet, combined high-fat high-carbohydrate diet, diet with a high content of sodium chloride and fructose, dietary regimens simulating dietary habits in people as well as prenatal and perinatal dietary manipulations'(Angelova and Boyadjiev, 2013).

Due to its sweetness and affordability, high fructose corn syrup is found in many processed foods (Gajda et al., 2007; Angelova and Boyadjiev, 2013). Studies have shown that a high fructose diet in rats resulted in insulin resistance and hypertriglyceridaemia within two weeks (Pagliassoti et al., 1996). Different amounts and dietary formulations for oral intake of fructose have been used with different features of metabolic syndrome manifesting (Abdulla et al., 2011). Fructose feeding in rats causes increased body mass and reduced glucose tolerance (Angelova and Boyadjiev, 2013). This is however dependent on the stage of maturity at which fructose is introduced (Abdulla et al., 2011). Younger animals tend to gain more mass than older ones (Huynh et al., 2008). Fructose suppresses leptin thereby inhibiting satiety and increasing caloric intake and hence weight gain (Teff et al., 2004).

77

Hyperinsulinaemia and hepatic insulin resistance in rats have been reported in fructose feeding (Tobey et al., 1982) and in humans (Wei et al., 2007). This insulin resistance in fructose-fed rats could be as a result of down regulation of insulin receptors in skeletal muscles (Abdulla et al., 2011). In rats, fructose feeding for ten weeks produced hyperinsulinaemia, hypertriglyceridaemia and hyperuricaemia (Nakagawa et al., 2006). In a study on the mechanisms of fructose-induced hypertriglyceridaemia, Zavaroni et al., (1982) found that fructose acts directly on the liver to increase VLDL-TG secretion, hyperinsulinaemia and insulin resistance in a rat model. High carbohydrate diets in the rat were observed to stimulate lipogenesis in the liver (Chen et al., 1995; Lee et al., 2008) with subsequent production of palmitoyl-CoA thereby increasing the fatty acid composition of structural lipids in the liver. This increase in structural lipids has been associated with reduced skeletal muscle insulin action and may be a mechanism of action of hepatic insulin resistance (Lee et al., 2008).

3.4 Materials and methods

3.4.1 Source and preparation of HS Calyces

Dried calyces of HS were sourced and processed as mentioned in Chapter two (2.3.1).

3.5 Methods

3.5.1 Study animals

A total of eighty five, 4-day old, suckling Sprague Dawley pups from four dams that were sourced from the Central Animal Services, University of the Witwatersrand, were used in this phase of the study.

3.5.2 Housing and care of the animals

Dams and their respective litter were housed as described in Chapter two (2.4.3) in the first part of the study. In the second part of the study, the dams were returned to stock and the pups were housed in individual Perspex cages and the environment controlled as described in chapter two (2.4.3).

3.5.3 Study design

This phase of the study was done in three stages. The first stage up to day 14 was as described in chapter two (2.4.4). Briefly, the pups were randomly assigned to three treatment

groups using a split litter pattern. The first group, the control group (n=27, 12males, 15 females) received 10ml.kg^{-1} of distilled water. The second group (n=30, 13 males, 17 females) received 50mg.kg^{-1} of aqueous HS calyx extracts while the third group (n=28, 11males, 17 females) received 500mg.kg^{-1} of aqueous HS calyx extract. All the treatments in this phase were administered via oral gavage for 9 consecutive days as described in chapter two (2.4.4). The interventions were stopped at 14 days of age which marked the second stage whence the pups continued to nurse with their dams till post natal day 21 when they were weaned. The dams were returned to stock and the pups were then housed individually as described in the preceding section (3.5.2).

In the third stage of this phase of the study, the pups in each of the three treatment groups were further sub-divided into a control group that continued on tap water as their drinking water and another that received 20% fructose (w/v) in their drinking tap water. The groups were as follows:

- I. DW (distilled water) + TW (tap water) = 10ml.kg⁻¹ of distilled water in the first stage and tap water in the second and third stages.
- II. DW + FW (fructose water) = 10ml.kg⁻¹ of distilled water in the first stage, tap water in the second stage and 20% fructose (w/v) in their drinking water in the third stage.
- III. LHS (low dose HS) + TW = 50 mg.kg^{-1} HS aqueous calyx extract in the first stage and tap water in the second and third stages.

- IV. LHS + FW = 50mg.kg^{-1} HS aqueous calyx extract in the first stage, tap water in the second stage and 20% fructose (w/v) in their drinking water in the third stage.
- V. HHS (high dose HS) + TW = 500mg.kg⁻¹ of HS aqueous calyx extract in the first stage and tap water in the second and third stages.
- VI. HHS + FW = 500mg.kg⁻¹ of HS aqueous calyx extract in the first stage, tap water in the second stage and 20% fructose (w/v) in the third stage.

The above treatments were continued for four weeks till post natal day 49, when the animals were subjected to an oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT), returned to their treatment groups and then terminated two days later.

3.5.4 Body mass measurements

The pups were weighed daily in the first stage with a balance (Snowrex Electronic Scale, Clover Scales, Johannesburg) in order to adjust the amount of HSE administered so as to maintain a constant dose and also to monitor their growth performance. The rats were weighed twice weekly in the second phase using the same balance to monitor their growth and general health.

3.5.5 Oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT)

Following four weeks of fructose treatment, the rats were subjected to an overnight fast for 12 hours (rats in all the treatment groups had access to tap water during this period) and then subjected to an oral glucose tolerance test to assess their ability to handle a glucose load. On the day of the test, the rats were restrained manually, placed in perspex rat restrainers and allowed to adjust for an hour (in the week preceding the test, the rats had been placed in the restrainers for two hours daily to habituate them). The fasting blood glucose concentration was determined for all the rats (0 minute) before they were orally gavaged with a 50% glucose solution (D-(+)-Glucose (Sigma-Aldrich, France) at 0.2ml.100g⁻¹ body weight. Serial blood glucose concentrations were determined at 15, 30, 60 and 120 minutes (Loxham et al., 2007) using a calibrated glucometer (Ascensia EliteTM, Bayer Corporation, Mishawaka, USA). The tails of the rats were cleaned with alcohol impregnated swabs and blood obtained via a pin prick to the tails. The rats were then placed back into their treatment groups for 48 hours before study termination.

3.6 Terminal procedures

3.6.1 Termination

The rats were euthanased on post natal day 51, by anaesthetic overdose using intraperitoneal sodium pentobarbitone (Eutha-naze, Bayer, Johannesburg, South Africa) at 200mg.kg⁻¹ body mass following a 12-hour overnight fast.

3.6.2 Collection of blood, plasma processing and storage

This was done as described in chapter two (2.4.6.2). The modification was that blood was collected via cardiac puncture using 20G needles and 10ml syringes (in place of the 21G needles and 5 ml syringes used in phase one) to collect about 8ml of blood. Plasma was processed as previously described and transferred into three microtubes (Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany) for each animal. Two of the microtubes (for each rat) were stored at - 20°C in a freezer (Bosh, Johannesburg, South Africa) for clinical biochemistry and assay of hormones while the third microtube was stored at -80°C in a freezer (SS engineering, Johannesburg, South Africa) until needed for thiobarbituric acid reactive substances (TBARS) assay.

3.6.3 Morphometry of the GIT and other viscera

This was carried out as described in chapter two (2.4.6.3).

3.6.4 Determination of indices of linear growth

The morphometric characteristics of the anti-gravity bones were determined as described in chapter two (2.4.6.4).

3.6.5 Determination of hepatic storage of metabolic substrates

3.6.5.1 Quantification of hepatic lipid stores

The liver lipid storage was quantified using the method described by Bligh and Dyer, (1959) as was done in chapter two (2.4.6.5.1). About 4-6g of liver sample was used.

3.6.5.2 Quantification of hepatic glycogen stores

Hepatic glycogen stores were quantified as previously described in chapter two (2.4.6.5.2).

3.6.6 Determination of biochemical health markers

Biochemical markers were determined as previously described in chapter two (2.4.6.6). Additionally, a drop of the plasma was used to determine the plasma levels of triglycerides using a calibrated TG-meter (Accutrend® Plus, Roche, Mannheim, Germany).

3.6.7 Determination of thiobarbituric acid reactive substances in the plasma

Thiobarbituric acid reactive substances in the plasma were determined using a TBARS kit (R and D Systems, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. It is based on the principle that lipid peroxidation leads to the formation of lipid peroxides which result in the formation of malondialdehyde (MDA). The MDA reacts in the presence of heat with thiobarbituric acid to yield a coloured product that absorbs light which can then be measured as TBARS. The samples were thawed and acid treated with TBARS acid reagent to precipitate interfering proteins and other substances. The samples were then incubated at room temperature for 15 minutes and then centrifuged in an eppendorf centrifuge (Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany) at 12,000 x G for 4 minutes. The supernatant was then removed and used for the analysis. The optical density was pre-read at 532nm using a microplate reader (Bio-Tek Instruments, Vermont, USA). The samples were then incubated at 48°C in an oven (Labcon, South Africa) for two and half hours and the optical densities were read again. The

initial optical densities were then subtracted from the final readings. A standard curve was generated from the test standards and used to determine the TBARS concentrations of the test samples.

3.6.8 Plasma insulin concentration determination and computation of HOMA-IR index

Plasma insulin concentration was determined using the sandwich enzyme linked immunosorbent assay kit (DRG®, Rat Insulin High Range, USA) which uses monoclonal antibodies that are specific for rat insulin. Optical densities were read at an absorbance of 450nm using a microplate reader (Multiskan Ascent, Lab system, model n° 354, Helsinki, Finland). The concentration of insulin was determined in relation to a standard curve that was generated using the test standards.

The homeostatic model assessment of insulin resistance (HOMA-IR) was computed by using the equation provided by Matthews et al., (1985) :

HOMA-IR = [Fasting plasma glucose (mg.dl⁻¹) × fasting plasma insulin (μ U.mL⁻¹)] / 40

3.6.9 Statistical analysis

All data from the study was expressed as mean \pm standard deviation. Data was analysed using GraphPad Prism version 5 (Graph-pad Software Inc., San Diego, USA). The level of significance was set at p \leq 0.05. With the exception of OGTT, data in this phase was analysed using a one way analysis of variance to assess the effects of HS extracts on the parameters measured. Data from the OGTT was analysed using the repeated measures analysis of variance (ANOVA). This was followed by a Bonferroni *post hoc* test.

3.7 Results

3.7.1 Growth performance

3.7.1.1 Body mass changes

The growth performance of male and female Sprague Dawley rats is presented in Figures 3.1A and 3.1B.

The rats in all the treatment groups gained weight significantly in both sexes (p<0.001) however there was no significant difference (p>0.05) in the body masses of the rats in the different treatment groups at induction, weaning and termination. The male rats gained more mass (p<0.001) than the female rats across the treatment groups.



Figure 3.1A: Effect of fructose administration on the growth pattern of male experimental rats across the treatment groups

*** =p<0.001. DW + TW= 10ml.kg⁻¹ distilled water + tap water in the growing period (n=6),

DW+ FW= 10ml.kg⁻¹ distilled water + 20% fructose (w/v) in the drinking water (n=6),

LHS + TW= 50 mgkg^{-1} HS extract + tap water (n=6), LHS + FW= 50 mg.kg^{-1} HS extract +

20% fructose (w/v) in the drinking water (n=7), HHS + TW= 500 mgkg^{-1} HS + tap water

(n=6), HHS + FW= 500 mg.kg^{-1} HS extract + 20% fructose (w/v) in the drinking water (n=5).

Data expressed as mean \pm SD.



Figure 3.1B: Effects of fructose administration on the growth pattern of female experimental rats across the treatment groups.

***= p<0.001. DW + TW= 10ml.kg⁻¹ distilled water + tap water in the growing period (n= 8), DW+ FW= 10ml.kg⁻¹ distilled water + 20% fructose (w/v) in the drinking water (n=7),

LHS + TW= 50mgkg^{-1} HS extract + tap water (n=9), LHS + FW= 50mg.kg^{-1} HS extract + 20% fructose (w/v) in the drinking water (n=8), HHS + TW= 500mgkg^{-1} HS + tap water (n=8), HHS + FW= 500mg.kg^{-1} HS extract + 20% fructose (w/v) in the drinking water (n=9). Data expressed as mean \pm SD.
3.7.1.2 Linear growth

Table 3.1 shows the effect of fructose administration on the masses, lengths and densities of tibiae and femora of male and female Sprague Dawley rats. The masses, lengths and densities of both the tibiae and femora were similar (p>0.05) in the male rats across the treatment groups. Similarly, the masses lengths and densities of the tibiae and femora were not different (p>0.05) in the female rats across the treatment groups. The male rats in all the treatment groups tended to have heavier and longer tibiae than the corresponding females in the groups, though not statistically significant (p>0.05). With the exception of the HHS + FW group, the male rats across the treatment groups had heavier and longer femora than the corresponding females in the groups.

Table 3.1: Effect of fructose administration	on the masses, le	engths and d	lensities of tibiae
and femora of male and female rats			

	Gender	Tibia			Femur			
Treatments		Mass	Length	Density	Mass	Length	Density	
		(mg)	(mm)	(mg.mm ⁻¹)	(mg)	(mm)	(mg.mm ⁻¹)	
DW + TW	Males	344 ± 34	35 ±1.6	9.9 ± 0.6	375 ± 65	28 ±2.0	13 ± 1.4	
	Females	294 ± 29	33 ±1.3	8.9 ± 0.6	369 ± 19	27 ±0.9	14 ± 0.4	
DW + FW	Males	327± 39	34± 2.1	9.7±0.9	380 ± 61	28±1.5	14± 0.4	
	Females	311±26	33±1.1	9.6± 0.7	348 ± 37	26±1.7	13± 0.8	
LHS + TW	Males	334±18	34 ±1.4	9.7± 0.7	390±21	28±1.0	14± 0.6	
	Females	295 ± 40	33±1.8	8.9 ± 0.9	357±29	27±0.6	13± 0.9	
LHS + FW	Males	339 ± 36	34± 1.5	9.9 ± 0.7	370 ± 67	27±1.7	14± 1.8	
	Females	297± 32	32±1.9	9.3± 0.8	348 ± 47	26±1.7	13±1.2	
HHS + TW	Males	348± 32	34± 2.3	10.0 ± 1.1	395±21	29±0.7	14± 1.8	
	Females	297± 30	32 ±1.2	9.2 ± 0.7	365±13	26±1.1	14± 0.4	
HHS + FW	Males	343 ± 9.5	35± 1.0	9.9 ± 0.5	347±47	27±1.7	13±1.0	
	Females	306± 42	33± 2.0	9.3±0.8	355 ± 50	27±1.4	13±1.4	

DW + TW= 10ml.kg⁻¹ distilled water + tap water, DW+ FW= 10ml.kg⁻¹ distilled water + 20% fructose (w/v) in the drinking water, LHS + TW= 50mg.kg^{-1} HS extract + tap water, LHS + FW= 50mg.kg^{-1} HS extract + 20% fructose (w/v) in the drinking water, HHS + TW= 500mgkg^{-1} HS + tap water, HHS + FW= 500mg.kg^{-1} HS extract + 20% fructose (w/v) in the drinking water. Data expressed as mean \pm SD.

3.7.2 Glucose tolerance

Figure 3.2A and 3.2B show the different blood glucose concentrations of male and female Sprague Dawley rats at 0, 15, 30, 60 and 120 minutes following oral gavage of 2g.kg⁻¹ of glucose solution. Figure 3.3A and 3.3B show the total area under the curve of the oral glucose tolerance test in male and female Sprague Dawley rats.

At 15 minutes post gavage, the following trend was observed: blood glucose concentration of rats in DW + TW was significantly higher (p<0.01) than that of HHS + TW group while that of DW + FW was significantly higher (p<0.01) than that of LHS + TW (Figure 3.2A). The glucose concentration of rats in the LHS + TW was significantly higher than that of HHS + TW (p<001) and HHS + FW (p<0.05) (Figure 3.2A). There was no difference in blood glucose concentration (p>0.05) at all the other time intervals across the treatment groups (Figure 3.4A). There were no differences in blood glucose concentration in the DW + FW was significantly higher (p<0.01) than that of HHS + FW group (Figure 3.2B). The total area under the curve of the oral glucose tolerance test were not significantly different (p>0.05) across the treatment groups in both male and female rats (Figure 3.3A and 3.3B).



Figure 3.2A: Effects of fructose administration on glucose tolerance in male rats

***p=<0.001. Blood glucose concentration in all the treatment groups peaked at 15 minutes and returned to the basal concentration by 120 minutes post gavage. Blood glucose concentration at 15 minutes in all the groups differed (p<0.001) from the basal concentration and from that at 120 minutes (p<0.001). DW + TW= 10ml.kg⁻¹ distilled water + tap water in the growing period (n=6), DW+ FW= 10ml.kg⁻¹ distilled water + 20% fructose (w/v) in the drinking water (n=6), LHS + TW= 50mgkg⁻¹ HS extract + tap water (n=6), LHS + FW= 50mg.kg⁻¹ HS extract + 20% fructose (w/v) in the drinking water (n=7), HHS + TW= 500mgkg⁻¹ HS + tap water (n=6), HHS + FW= 500mg.kg⁻¹ HS extract + 20% fructose (w/v) in the drinking water (n=5). Data expressed as mean± SD.



Figure 3.2B: Effects of fructose administration on glucose tolerance in female rats ***=p<0.001. Blood glucose concentration of female rats in all the groups peaked at 15 minutes and returned to basal level by 120 minutes post gavage. Blood glucose concentration at 15 minutes in all the groups differed (p<0.001) from the basal concentration and from that at 120 minutes (p<0.001). DW + TW= 10ml.kg⁻¹ distilled water + tap water in the growing period (n=8),DW+ FW= 10ml.kg⁻¹ distilled water + 20% fructose (w/v) in the drinking water (n=7), LHS + TW= 50mgkg⁻¹ HS extract + tap water (n=9), LHS + FW= 50mg.kg⁻¹ HS extract + 20% fructose (w/v) in the drinking water (n=8), HHS + TW= 500mg.kg⁻¹ HS + tap water (n=8), HHS + FW= 500mg.kg⁻¹ HS extract + 20% fructose (w/v) in the drinking water (n=9). Data expressed as mean \pm SD.





 $DW + TW = 10ml.kg^{-1}$ distilled water + tap water in the growing period (n=6), $DW + FW = 10ml.kg^{-1}$ distilled water + 20% fructose (w/v) in the drinking water (n=6), $LHS + TW = 50mgkg^{-1}$ HS extract + tap water (n=6), $LHS + FW = 50mg.kg^{-1}$ HS extract + 20% fructose (w/v) in the drinking water (n=7), $HHS + TW = 500mgkg^{-1}$ HS + tap water (n=6), $HHS + FW = 500mg.kg^{-1}$ HS extract + 20% fructose (w/v) in the drinking water (n=5), AUC = area under the curve. Data expressed as mean \pm SD.





 $DW + TW = 10ml.kg^{-1}$ distilled water + tap water in the growing period (n= 8), $DW + FW = 10ml.kg^{-1}$ distilled water + 20% fructose (w/v) in the drinking water (n=7), LHS + TW= 50mgkg^{-1} HS extract + tap water (n=9), LHS + FW = 50mg.kg^{-1} HS extract + 20% fructose (w/v) in the drinking water (n=8), HHS + TW = 500mgkg^{-1} HS + tap water (n=8), HHS + FW = 500mg.kg^{-1} HS extract + 20% fructose (w/v) in the drinking water (n=9), AUC = area under the curve. Data expressed as mean ± SD.

3.7.3: Effects of fructose administration on circulating metabolic substrates, TBARS, insulin and HOMA-IR

Table 3.2 shows the effect of fructose administration on circulating metabolic substrates, TBARS, insulin and HOMA-IR of male and female Sprague Dawley rats. There were no statistical differences observed (p>0.05) in the plasma fasting blood glucose concentration and triglycerides in rats of both sexes across the treatment groups (Table 3.2). The plasma concentration of TBARS, insulin, as well as the HOMA-IR were also similar (p>0.05) across the treatment groups (Table 3.2).

Table 3.2: Effect of fructose administration on metabolic substrates, TBARS, Insulinand HOMA-IR of male and female Sprague Dawley rats

Treatments	Gender	TBARS	TGs	FBG	Insulin	HOMA- IR
		(µM)	(mmol.L ⁻¹)	(mmol.L ⁻¹)	μU.ml ⁻¹	
DW + TW	Males	0.16±0.03	2.5±1.30	5.3±0.81	15± 6.30	3.6±1.80
	Females	0.15±0.03	1.6±0.36	4.6± 0.70	11±7.30	2.3±1.50
DW + FW	Males	0.15±0.03	2.4± 0.73	5.1±0.94	11±4.70	2.6± 1.50
	Females	0.16±0.03	2.3±0.81 ^β	4.9±0.67	17±7.20	4.0±1.60
LHS + TW	Males	0.15±0.03	1.8±0.29	4.8±1.00	12± 8.40	2.6± 1.80
	Females	0.16±0.03	1.7±0.31	5.0±0.76	9.4± 4.50	2.2±1.10
LHS + FW	Males	0.15±0.03	2.2±0.81	5.1±0.79	15± 8.00	3.6± 2.10
	Females	0.15±0.03	2.8±0.51	4.7±0.83	15± 9.20	3.3±2.30
HHS +TW	Males	0.15±0.03	2.0± 0.60	5.2±0.91	13±7.10	2.9±1.70
	Females	0.15±0.03	1.8±0.49	4.8±0.60	12±4.50	2.5±1.00
HHS + FW	Males	0.15±0.03	2.4± 0.41	5.0± 1.00	11± 5.20	2.5±1.30
	Females	0.16±0.03	2.0±0.50	4.8±0.79	13±8.30	2.9± 2.00

 β = significantly different from the corresponding males in the group.

TBARS= Thiobarbituric reactive substances, TGs= Triglycerides, FBG= Fasting blood glucose, HOMA-IR= Homeostatic model of Insulin resistance, DW + TW= 10ml.kg⁻¹ distilled water + tap water, DW+ FW= 10ml.kg⁻¹ distilled water + 20% fructose (w/v) in the drinking water, LHS + TW= 50mgkg⁻¹ HS extract + tap water, LHS + FW= 50mg.kg⁻¹ HS extract + 20% fructose (w/v) in the drinking water, HHS + TW= 500mgkg⁻¹ HS + tap water, HHS + FW= 500mg.kg⁻¹ HS extract + 20% fructose (w/v) in the drinking water. Data expressed as mean \pm SD.

3.7.4 Hepatic storage of metabolic substrates

Table 3.3 shows the liver lipids and glycogen content in male and female rats. There was no significant difference (p>0.05) in the liver lipid and glycogen content across the treatment groups (Table 3.3). No gender differences were also observed (Table 3.3).

 Table 3.3: Liver lipids and glycogen (expressed as glucose equivalents) in male and female rats.

Treatment	Gender	Liver lipids	Liver glycogen
		(% liver mass)	(mmol.L ⁻¹)
DW + TW	Male	2.8 ± 1.00	2.6 ± 0.86
	Females	2.9 ± 1.10	2.0 ± 0.57
DW + FW	Males	3.9 ± 0.85	2.3 ± 1.00
	Females	4.4 ± 1.30	1.4 ± 0.87
LHS + TW	Males	3.2 ± 1.00	2.1 ± 0.28
	Females	4.1 ± 0.93	1.8 ± 0.66
LHS + FW	Males	3.3 ± 0.74	2.4 ± 0.69
	Females	3.5 ± 0.54	1.4 ± 0.87
HHS + TW	Males	3.4± 0.90	2.2 ± 0.46
	Females	3.7 ± 0.48	1.8 ± 0.99
HHS + FW	Males	3.8 ± 0.93	2.0 ± 1.10
	Females	3.8 ± 0.52	1.8 ± 0.69

DW + TW= 10ml.kg⁻¹ distilled water + tap water, DW+ FW= 10ml.kg⁻¹ distilled water + 20% fructose (w/v) in the drinking water, LHS + TW= 50mgkg^{-1} HS extract + tap water, LHS + FW= 50mgkg^{-1} HS extract + 20% fructose (w/v) in the drinking water, HHS + TW= 500mgkg^{-1} HS + tap water, HHS + FW= 500mgkg^{-1} HS extract + 20% fructose (w/v) in the drinking water, UHS + TW= 500mgkg^{-1} HS + tap water, HHS + FW= 500mgkg^{-1} HS extract + 20% fructose (w/v) in the drinking water. Data expressed as mean \pm SD.

3.7.5 Morphology of the GIT and other viscera

Table 3.4 shows the effect of fructose administration on the absolute (g), relative masses (%BM) and lengths of small and large intestines of male and female rats. Table 3.5 shows the effects of fructose administration on the absolute (g) and relative (%BM) masses of some abdominal viscera of male and female rats. The absolute mass of the caeca of male rats in the LHS + TW was only significantly greater (p<0.01) than those of HHS + FW group (Table 3.4). However, when compared relative to the body mass, the caeca of the male rats in the LHS +TW were significantly greater than those of their male counterparts in DW + FW (p<0.05), LHS + FW (p<0.05) and HHS + FW (p<0.05) treatment groups (Table 3.5). The male rats had significantly heavier (absolute) small intestines (Table 3.4) and liver (Table 3.5) when compared to the corresponding females in all the treatment groups. The only gender difference observed was in the absolute masses of the large intestines (Table 3.4) in the DW + TW group (p < 0.01) where those of the male rats were significantly heavier. The absolute masses of the stomach were heavier in the male rats (Table 3.5) than the corresponding females in the DW + TW (p<0.01) and the HHS + FW (p<0.05) groups. In the absolute masses of the caecum (Table 3.5), gender differences were observed in the LHS + TW (p<0.001) and HHS + TW (P<0.01) groups with those of the male rats being heavier. There was no significant difference (p>0.05) in the masses of the GIT and other viscera relative to the terminal body masses (%BM) (Tables 3.4 and 3.5) except for the visceral fat where the female rats in the HHS + TW (p<0.01) and HHS + FW (p<0.01) groups had significantly higher amounts of visceral fat than their corresponding male counterparts. The

103

male rats in the DW + TW (p<0.05), DW + FW (p<0.05) and LHS + TW (p<0.001) treatment groups (Table 3.4) had significantly longer small intestines than their female counterparts. There were no differences observed in the lengths of large intestines in the rats (Table 3.4) across the treatment groups (P>0.05).

	Gender	S.I (g)	S.I (%BM)	S.I (mm)	L.I (g)	L.I (%BM)	L.I (mm)
DW + TW	Males	7.9 ± 1.10	3.2 ± 0.31	1393 ±78.00	1.9 ± 0.28	0.75 ± 0.07	230 ± 21.00
	Females	$6.1\pm0.59^{\beta}$	3.3 ± 0.39	$1253 \pm 47.00^{\beta}$	$1.5\pm0.08^{\beta}$	0.80 ± 0.05	203 ± 15.00
DW + FW	Males	8.1 ± 0.67	3.4 ± 0.33	1392 ± 64.00	1.7 ± 0.20	0.72 ± 0.09	214 ± 4.90
	Females	$6.2 \pm 0.31^{\beta}$	3.3 ± 0.20	1249 ±48.00 ^β	1.4 ± 0.15	0.76 ± 0.08	199 ± 14.00
LHS + TW	Males	8.0 ± 0.96	3.3 ± 0.21	1433 ± 82.00	1.7± 0.17	0.73 ± 0.05	227 ± 12.00
	Females	$6.3\pm0.54^{\beta}$	3.4 ± 0.28	$1252 \pm 97.00^{\beta}$	1.5 ± 0.19	0.82 ± 0.05	211 ± 15.00
LHS + FW	Males	7.9 ± 0.83	3.4 ± 0.35	1379 ± 51.00	1.7±0.23	0.74 ± 0.05	222 ± 18.00
	Females	$6.4\pm0.30^{\beta}$	3.5 ± 0.12	1298 ± 58.00	1.4 ± 0.11	0.77 ± 0.06	210 ± 8.00
HHS + TW	Males	7.8 ± 0.61	3.3 ± 0.20	1379 ± 51.00	1.7 ± 0.11	0.72 ± 0.04	224 ± 9.20
	Females	$6.4\pm0.59^{\beta}$	3.4 ± 0.20	1275 ± 81.00	1.6 ± 0.24	0.81 ± 0.08	204 ± 15.00
HHS + FW	Males	7.8 ± 0.72	3.3 ± 0.41	1346 ± 24.00	1.7 ± 0.18	0.72 ± 0.06	220 ± 26.00
	Females	$6.1 \pm 0.44^{\beta}$	3.3 ± 0.16	1247 ± 38.00	1.4 ± 0.10	0.74 ± 0.09	199 ± 15.00

Table 3.4 Effect of fructose administration on the absolute (g), relative masses (%BM) and lengths of the small and large intestines of male and female rats

 $^{\beta}$ = significantly different from the corresponding males in the group. S.I= small intestines, L.I= large intestines, BM= body mass, DW + TW= 10ml.kg⁻¹ distilled water + tap water, DW+ FW= 10ml.kg⁻¹ distilled water + 20% fructose (w/v) in the drinking water, LHS + TW= 50mgkg⁻¹ HS extract + tap water, LHS + FW= 50mg.kg⁻¹ HS extract + 20% fructose (w/v) in the drinking water, HHS + TW= 500mgkg⁻¹ HS + tap water, HHS + FW= 500mg.kg⁻¹ HS extract + 20% fructose (w/v) in the drinking water. Data expressed as mean ± SD

Treatments	Gender	Liver (g)	Liver	Stomach	Stomach	Caecum	Caecum	Visceral	Visceral
			(%BM)	(g)	(%BM)	(g)	(%BM)	fat (g)	fat(%BM)
							a = 1 = a = a = a ^a b		
DW + TW	Males	10 ± 1.40	4.0 ± 0.25	1.6 ± 0.18	0.64 ± 0.06	1.3 ± 0.18^{ab}	0.51 ± 0.06^{ab}	2.9 ± 0.81	1.2 ± 0.24
	Females	7.0±0.38 ^β	3.8± 0.20	1.3±0.11 ^β	0.68±0.06	1.0±0.10 ^{ab}	0.55±0.05 ^{ab}	3.4 ± 0.73	1.9 ± 0.42
DW + FW	Males	9.9± 1.10	4.2±0.27	1.6± 0.12	0.67±0.04	1.1±0.21 ^{ab}	0.48 ± 0.08^{b}	3.9 ± 1.20	1.6 ± 0.35
	Females	$7.5 \pm 0.44^{\beta}$	4.0± 0.28	1.3±0.11	0.72±0.06	0.9 ± 0.10^{ab}	0.49±0.06 ^{ab}	4.3 ± 0.81	2.3 ± 0.42
LHS + TW	Males	9.5±1.70	4.0± 0.55	1.5 ± 0.17	0.63±0.05	1.5±0.18 ^b	0.62 ± 0.07^{a}	3.0 ± 0.81	1.3 ± 0.32
	Females	$7.4 \pm 0.89^{\beta}$	4.0± 0.34	1.4 ± 0.16	0.74±0.08	$1.0\pm0.14^{ab\beta}$	0.53±0.07 ^{ab}	3.7 ± 0.99	2.0 ± 0.47
LHS + FW	Males	9.4± 0.83	4.0± 0.26	1.6± 0.14	0.67±0.05	1.2±0.17 ^{ab}	0.49 ± 0.04^{b}	3.4 ± 0.72	1.4 ± 0.25
	Females	$7.2 \pm 0.54^{\beta}$	3.9± 0.31	1.4 ± 0.08	0.73±0.02	1.0±0.14 ^{ab}	$0.52{\pm}0.07^{ab}$	4.1 ± 1.10	2.2 ± 0.55
HHS + TW	Males	9.5±0.61	4.0± 0.22	1.6± 0.14	0.66±0.07	1.4±0.17 ^{ab}	0.57 ± 0.07^{ab}	2.7 ± 0.40	1.1 ± 0.13
	Females	$7.3 \pm 1.00^{\beta}$	3.9± 0.35	1.3±0.18	0.71±0.06	1.0±0.21 ^{abβ}	$0.55{\pm}0.08^{ab}$	3.9 ± 0.92	$2.1\pm0.43^{\beta}$
HHS + FW	Males	9.7± 0.89	4.1 ±0.31	1.6± 0.17	0.69±0.10	1.1±0.13 ^a	0.47 ± 0.07^{b}	3.4 ± 0.54	1.4 ± 0.23
	Females	$7.5\pm0.87^{\beta}$	4.0± 0.21	$1.3\pm0.11^{\beta}$	0.71±0.04	0.9±0.11 ^{ab}	$0.48{\pm}0.07^{ab}$	4.7 ± 1.70	$2.5\pm0.77^{\beta}$

Table 3.5: Effect of fructose administration on the absolute (g) and relative (%BM) masses of some abdominal viscera of male and female rats

^{ab} within columns means with different superscripts are significantly different at $p \le 0.05$. ^β = significantly different from the corresponding males in the group. DW + TW= 10ml.kg⁻¹ distilled water + tap water, DW+ FW= 10ml.kg⁻¹ distilled water + 20% fructose (w/v) in the drinking water, LHS + TW= 50mgkg⁻¹ HS extract + tap water, LHS + FW= 50mg.kg⁻¹ HS extract + 20% fructose (w/v) in the drinking water, HHS + TW= 500mgkg⁻¹ HS + tap water, HHS + FW= 500mg.kg⁻¹ HS extract + 20% fructose (w/v) in the drinking water. Data expressed as mean ± SD.

3.7.6 Markers of hepatic and renal health

Table 3.6 shows the effect of fructose administration on surrogate markers of renal and hepatic health in male and female Sprague Dawley rats. The concentration of alanine transaminase (ALT) in the male rats in the DW + FW was significantly higher (p<0.01) than their male counterparts in the HHS + TW (Table 3.6). The plasma concentration of ALT was significantly higher in the male rats than their corresponding females in the HHS + TW (p<0.05) treatment groups (Table 3.6). Similarly, the plasma concentrations of alkaline phosphatase (ALP) was higher in the male rats in the DW + TW (p<0.01), LHS + FW (p<0.01), HHS + TW (p<0.05) and HHS + FW (p<0.05) treatment groups than the corresponding females in the groups (Table 3.6).

There was no significant difference observed in the plasma concentration of total biluribin, creatinine and blood urea nitrogen (p>0.05) across the treatment groups (Table 3.6).

Table 3.6: Effect of fructose administration on surrogate markers of hepatic and renalhealth in male and female Sprague Dawley rats

Treatments	Gender	ALT	ALP	Tbil	BUN	Creat
		(U.L ⁻¹)	(U.L ⁻¹)	(µmol.L ⁻¹)	(mmol.L ⁻¹)	(mmol.L ⁻¹)
DW + TW	Males	87±19.00 ^{ab}	380± 61	2.0 ± 0.00	5.5±1.40	28± 3.30
	Females	85±20.00 ^{ab}	243±32 ^β	2.6± 1.10	4.3±1.20	29± 5.90
DW + FW	Males	67±16.00 ^a	335±47	2.2 ± 0.41	4.5±1.40	28± 6.30
	Females	74± 14.00 ^{ab}	253± 58	3.1±2.60	4.6± 1.10	34± 5.80
LHS + TW	Males	98± 23.00 ^{ab}	356±45	2.0 ± 0.00	4.8±1.90	24± 4.60
	Females	91± 18.00 ^{ab}	273± 82	2.1 ± 0.33	5.6± 0.99	30± 9.60
LHS + FW	Males	78±13.00 ^{ab}	366±75	2.1 ± 0.38	5.0 ± 0.40	29± 6.40
	Females	69± 12.00 ^{ab}	229±41 ^β	2.1±0.35	5.3±1.00	30± 4.10
HHS +TW	Males	107±28.00 ^b	374± 87	3.5 ± 2.70	6.1±1.50	27 ± 7.60
	Females	$74\pm 6.10^{ab\beta}$	252±47 ^β	2.0 ± 0.00	5.4±0.79	31±7.90
HHS + FW	Males	78±15.00 ^{ab}	359± 61	2.6± 1.30	5.0±1.20	28±7.10
	Females	70 ± 10.00^{ab}	241±53 ^β	2.0 ± 0.00	4.4±0.81	29± 5.60

Means with different superscripts in a column are significantly different ($p \le 0.05$),

 $^{\beta}$ = significantly different from the corresponding males in the groups. ALT= Alanine transaminase, ALP= Alkaline phosphatase, BUN= Blood Urea Nitrogen, Tbil= Total Biluribin, Creat= Creatinine, DW + TW= 10ml.kg⁻¹ distilled water + tap water, DW+ FW= 10ml.kg⁻¹ distilled water + 20% fructose (w/v) in the drinking water, LHS + TW= 50mgkg⁻¹ HS extract + tap water, LHS + FW= 50mg.kg⁻¹ HS extract + 20% fructose (w/v) in the drinking water, HHS + TW= 500mgkg⁻¹ HS + tap water, HHS + FW= 500mg.kg⁻¹ HS extract + 20% fructose (w/v) in the drinking water. Data expressed as means ± SD.

3.7.7 Markers of general health

Table 3.7 shows the effect of fructose administration on the general health markers in the plasma of male and female Sprague Dawley rats. There was no significant difference (p>0.05) in all the general health markers assayed between the male rats in all the treatment groups. There was also no significant difference (p>0.05) observed between the female rats across the treatment groups in all the general health markers assayed. The plasma concentration of calcium was significantly higher in male rats than their corresponding females (p<0.05) in the LHS + FW (p<0.05) treatment group (Table 3.7). Plasma concentrations of amylase was higher in the male rats compared to the corresponding females in the DW + TW (p<0.001), LHS + TW (p<0.05), LHS + TW (p<0.05), LHS + FW (p<0.001) and HHS + FW (p<0.05) treatment groups (Table 3.7). However, the plasma concentration of cholesterol was higher in the female rats compared to the male rats in the HHS + FW (p<0.05) group. There were no significant differences (p>0.05) in the other health markers measured across all the treatment groups (Table 3.7).

Table 3.7: Effect of fructose administration on the general health markers in the plasma of male and female SpragueDawley rats

Treatments	Gender	Phosphate	Calcium	Total	Albumin	Globulin	Amylase	Cholesterol
		(mmol.L ⁻¹)	(mmol.L ⁻¹)	protein	(g.L ⁻¹)	(g.L ⁻¹)	(U.L ⁻¹)	(mmol.L ⁻¹)
				(g.L ⁻¹)				
DW + TW	Males	2.6± 0.37	2.9±0.17	55± 2.90	28± 2.10	27± 1.20	1833±211	1.8± 0.21
	Females	2.2±0.53	2.8± 0.04	54± 2.30	28±1.30	26± 0.89	$1147 \pm 244^{\beta}$	1.9± 0.25
DW + FW	Males	2.4± 0.27	2.8± 0.05	56± 1.90	29±1.30	27± 1.50	1950±123	2.1±0.12
	Females	2.5±0.20	2.8± 0.04	55± 2.30	29± 2.40	25±1.50	1552±418	2.2±0.19
LHS + TW	Males	2.7±0.29	2.8 ± 0.08	54± 2.30	27±0.98	26± 1.80	1746±86	1.7 ± 0.08
	Females	2.4± 0.31	2.8 ± 0.08	55± 3.40	30± 2.50	25± 2.40	1263±259 ^β	2.0± 0.20
LHS + FW	Males	2.7± 0.41	3.0± 0.04	54± 1.90	29±1.90	25± 1.10	1997±254	1.9± 0.31
	Females	2.3±0.24	$2.8 \pm 0.05^{\beta}$	55±2.00	29±1.90	26± 1.30	$1375 \pm 207^{\beta}$	2.2 ± 0.42

Table 3.7: continued

HHS + TW	Males	2.5 ± 0.35	2.8±0.06	55± 2.20	29± 1.70	26± 1.20	1735±201	1.8 ± 0.14
	Females	2.2±0.16	2.8±0.06	56± 1.80	29± 1.20	27± 1.10	1295±2241	2.2 ± 0.27
HHS + FW	Males	2.7± 0.28	2.9±0.10	54± 3.10	29± 2.40	25± 1.10	2084±218	1.7 ± 0.18
	Females	2.2 ± 0.38	2.8 ± 0.07	55±1.40	29±1.20	26 ± 0.88	$1540\pm 303^{\beta}$	$2.2 \pm 0.34^{\beta}$

 $^{\beta}$ = significantly different from the corresponding males in the groups. DW + TW= 10ml.kg⁻¹ distilled water + tap water, DW+ FW= 10ml.kg⁻¹ distilled water + 20% fructose (w/v) in the drinking water, LHS + TW= 50mgkg⁻¹ HS extract + tap water, LHS + FW= 50mg.kg⁻¹ HS extract + 20% fructose (w/v) in the drinking water, HHS + TW= 500mg.kg⁻¹ HS + tap water, HHS + FW= 500mg.kg⁻¹ HS extract + 20% fructose (w/v) in the drinking water. Data expressed as means ± SD.

3.8 Discussion

In this phase of the study, the rat pups were initially administered with HS extracts and then at weaning were given 20% fructose (w/v) in their drinking water to investigate whether the earlier administration of HS had any effect on their response to an insult by a high fructose diet. The discussion will focus on the observed differences in response to fructose challenge among the treatment groups taking into consideration any gender differences that may have occurred.

3.8.1 Growth performance of male and female rats

Sex differences in rates of growth of rats usually begin to manifest between post natal day 25 to 33 in favour of the males and are usually preceded by an increase in testosterone levels (Eden, 1979; Gabriel et al., 1992). This could explain why the males in all the experimental groups in this study gained more weight than their corresponding female counterparts. As discussed in chapter two, body mass is usually affected by a number of factors such as hydration status and GIT filling (Ellis et al., 2002; MacCracken and Stebbings, 2012) and may therefore not be the best indicator of growth performance. The lengths of the long bones are better markers of growth as they correlate with growth hormone secretion in a dose-dependent manner (Baum et al., 1996; Eshet et al., 2004). In this study, there was no significant difference in the lengths, masses and densities of the tibiae and femora across the different

116

groups although the male rats had longer and heavier tibiae when compared to their corresponding females. With the exception of the HHS + FW group, the male rats in all the other groups also had longer and heavier femora than the corresponding females in the groups. These findings tend to suggest that neither the earlier administration of HS extracts nor that of 20% fructose had any effect on the growth performance of the male and female rats.

3.8.2 Glucose tolerance, fasting blood glucose, Insulin and HOMA-IR

Fructose administration in rats is known to produce features of metabolic syndrome including impaired glucose tolerance. It has previously been shown that 20% fructose in drinking water for 5 weeks (Ramadan et al., 2012) and 8 weeks (Mamikutty et al., 2014) is sufficient to cause metabolic derangements in Wistar Albino rats. When 25% fructose was used in the drinking water, there was a reduction in fluid intake of the rats probably due the increased sweetness of the fluid (Mamikutty et al., 2014). Hence, 20% fructose in drinking water was used. In this study, both males and female rats in all the treatment groups showed normal ability to handle an oral glucose load (Figures 3.3A and 3.3B). The blood glucose concentrations peaked at 15 minutes following the administration of the glucose load and returned to basal levels by 120 minutes post gavage. The differences observed in blood glucose concentration at 15 minutes post gavage across the treatment groups, especially in the male rats may indicate early manifestation of glucose handling problems. However, further analysis with area under the

117

curve of the OGTT revealed no differences. In this study, there was no significant difference in the fasting blood glucose, insulin concentration and the computed HOMA-IR across the treatment groups. The fasting plasma triglycerides concentrations were also not significantly different except between the males and females in the low dose HSE + FW group .This similarity in the glucose tolerance, fasting plasma glucose, fasting triglycerides, cholesterol, insulin and the HOMA-IR suggests that the administration of 20% fructose (w/v) in drinking water of the rats did not induce metabolic dysfunction. Fructose administration is known to cause reduced glucose tolerance and body mass gain (Angelova and Boyadjiev, 2013), hyperinsulinaemia and insulin resistance in rats (Tobey et al., 1982). Fructose feeding for ten weeks in adolescent rats (150-200g) had previously been shown to produce hyperinsulinaemia, hypertriglyceridaemia and hyperuricaemia (Nakagawa et al., 2006). The findings in this study were also at variance with those of Pagliassoti et al., (1996) that fructose feeding for two weeks is enough to produce hypertriglyceridaemia and insulin resistance. With the exception of the triglycerides where there was a gender difference in the LHS + FW group, there was no gender difference in the response of the rats to fructose administration for glucose handling, fasting plasma glucose, insulin and HOMA-IR. The age of the rats at termination (51 days) and the mode of fructose administration could have been factors responsible for the absence of markers of metabolic syndrome. Wistar rats between the ages of 2 to 6 months were found to have lower levels of serum glucose, TGs, total cholesterol, HDL and LDL when compared to their 12 month old counterparts (Ghezzi et al., 2012). High fructose intake has been shown to be more effective in inducing metabolic syndrome in adults than in young rats (de Moura et al., 2009). Fructose in the feed rather than

in drinking water is also a more effective means of producing metabolic syndrome (de Moura et al., 2009) probably because the rats would eat more food (and hence more fructose) than water . Unfortunately, even though the rats drank the fructose water, I was unable to take record of their actual fluid (fructose) intake in this study.

3.8.3 Lipid peroxidation

Fructose feeding in rats activates stress pathways especially in the liver due to burden of fructose metabolism (Kelley et al., 2004). High fructose feeding produces hypertriglyceridemia, increased serum glucose and total cholesterol which increase lipid peroxidation due to the altered lipid metabolism and consequent increase in tissue and plasma lipid peroxides (Anurag and Anuradha, 2002; Kelley et al., 2004). Insulin resistance and hyperinsulineamia have been associated with increased plasma lipid peroxide levels in patients with impaired glucose tolerance (Niskanen et al., 1995) and with the stress pathway (Kelley et al., 2004). *Hibiscus sabdariffa* has an abundance of antioxidants (Farombi and Fakoya, 2005; Usoh et al., 2005; Hirunpanich et al., 2006) which have been found to decrease the increased levels of TBARS usually associated with high fructose feeding (Miatello et al., 2005). In this study, the TBARS assay was used to determine lipid peroxidation in the plasma as a measure of oxidative damage. The TBARS values obtained showed no significant difference across all the treatment groups. This is probably due to nondevelopment of the symptoms of metabolic syndrome which would have triggered the peroxidative damage. However, from the available data in this study, the earlier administration of HS in the neonatal period had no effect on the TBARS measured.

119

3.8.4 Hepatic metabolic substrates storage

The liver is a key organ in the body performing numerous functions that maintain homeostasis(Michalopoulos, 2007). These functions include maintaining circulating metabolic substrates, detoxification, hormone inactivation and storage functions among many others (Sawchenko and Mark, 1979; Sallie et al., 1991; Michalopoulos, 2007; Seyama and Kokudo, 2009). High fructose feeding causes disturbances in carbohydrate and lipid metabolism, consequently affecting the homeostatic functions of the liver (Kelley et al., 2004). Conventional drugs and plant extracts are partly metabolised in the liver and can also alter the functions of the liver. Measurement of surrogate markers of liver function is therefore quite important.

High fructose diet causes hypertriglycerideamia which provide substrates for hepatic lipogenesis, lipid overload and insulin resistance (Stanhope and Havel, 2008). A 7 day administration of a high fructose diet increased ectopic lipid deposition in the liver and muscles of healthy non-smoking males (Lê et al., 2009).

High fructose diet causes an increase in hepatic glycogen stores due to increased conversion of fructose to glycogen via gluconeogenesis (Conlee et al., 1987; Koo et al., 2008). Rats fed 63% fructose (w/w) 4 hours per day for 2 weeks showed increased hepatic glycogen stores (Koo et al., 2008).

In this study, there was no significant difference (p>0.05) in both hepatic lipids and glycogen content across all the treatment groups when compared to the control group. This similarity in hepatic lipid and glycogen content could be due to the fact that the animals were fasted overnight prior to their termination and sample collection.

3.8.5 The GIT and other viscera

Measurement of organ masses is very important in toxicological studies as it helps in identifying effects of xenobiotics on specific organs (Baltrop and Brueton, 1990; Bailey et al., 2004). The absolute mass of any organ correlates with the body mass of the animal (Bailey et al., 2004). Relative mass which compare the ratio of the organ mass to the body mass are better for comparisons of organ masses in different treatment groups because they account for the differences in body mass (Bailey et al., 2004). As described earlier, the terminal masses of the male rats differed significantly with those of the corresponding females across all the treatment groups. It is therefore understandable that the absolute masses of the small intestines and liver differed between the male and female rats in all the treatment groups. However, the absolute masses of some organs such as the large intestines, stomach and caecum differed in some but not all the groups.

121

Except in the visceral fat pad where the female rats in the HHS+ TW (p<0.01) and HHS+ FW (p<0.01) had significantly greater visceral fat pad than their corresponding male rats, the relative masses of all the organs weighed were similar. *Hibiscus sabdariffa* aqueous extracts were shown to increase body mass index and delay onset of puberty in female rats when consumed in the post weaning period (Iyare and Adegoke, 2008). Even though the authors also speculated that HS may predispose the female rats to the development of obesity, they did not quantify the visceral fats of the animals. The increased mass of the visceral fat pad in the female rats that received high dose of HS in the pre-weaning period needs to be further investigated to establish the long term consequences. Hence, neither the administration of HS in the neonatal period nor the subsequent fructose feeding might have had a long term effect on the morphology of the GIT and non-GIT viscera.

3.8.6 Markers of renal and hepatic health

The glomerular filtration rate is the gold standard for determining renal function but because it is difficult to measure clinically, it is usually estimated from serum creatinine concentrations (Levey et al., 2009). Serum creatinine and urea concentrations are usually elevated in renal disease (Brigden et al., 1982; Haase-Fielitz et al., 2009). In this study, plasma creatinine and BUN were used as surrogate markers of renal health. Renal diseases are increasingly associated with metabolic syndrome (Wahba and Mak, 2007). Feeding of 60% fructose (w/w) for 6 weeks pre- and 11 weeks post-nephrectomy to male Sprague Dawley rats accelerated the progression of chronic kidney disease in the remnant kidney (Gersch et al., 2007). There were no differences (p>0.05) observed between the treatment groups in both plasma creatinine and BUN. It is probably safe to say that the administration of high fructose did not result in adverse effects in the kidneys. Because there were no differences observed even in the control group (DW + FW), it is difficult to conclude that HS aqueous extracts were responsible for preventing the adverse effects of fructose administration in the kidneys.

Alanine transaminase (ALT) is present within the cytosol of the hepatocytes and its elevation in the plasma is specifically indicative of damage to the hepatocytes (Thapa and Walia, 2007; Thulin et al., 2008; Rajesh et al., 2009). Alkaline phosphatase (ALP) on the other hand, arises from multiple sources and elevation of its levels could be as a result of liver damage, osteoblastic, placental, intestinal or tumour sources (Pratt and Kaplan, 2000; Thulin et al., 2008). It is therefore not very specific to the liver. A rise in total plasma biluribin is indicative of decreased hepatic clearance or haemolysis (Pratt and Kaplan, 2000; Thapa and Walia, 2007). Albumin, an important plasma protein is produced by the liver and its level in the plasma is a reflection of the synthetic functions of the liver (Alhassan et al., 2009). Plasma albumin, total biluribin and total proteins are a measure of hepato-synthetic functions (Thapa and Walia, 2007). The plasma concentration of ALT, ALP and total biluribin were used as surrogate markers of liver health in this study.

High fructose diet has been shown to cause non-alcoholic liver diseases in rats and this has been associated with an increase in the levels of ALT (de Castro et al., 2013). There was no significant difference (p>0.05) in the plasma levels of ALT, ALP and total bilirubin across the treatment groups. Gender differences were however found in the level of ALT between the males and corresponding females in the HHS + TW (500mg.kg⁻¹ HS + tap water) group (p<0.05). There was also a significant difference (p<0.01) between the male rats in DW + FW (10ml.kg⁻¹ distilled water + 20% fructose in drinking water) and HHS + TW groups (500mg.kg⁻¹ HS + tap water). These differences, though statistically significant may not be of any biological significance. Gender differences were found in the plasma ALP concentrations in all the treatment groups except DW + FW (10ml.kg⁻¹ distilled water + 20% fructose in drinking water). Since the male rats in all the treatment groups had a significantly higher body mass, the gender differences observed in plasma ALP levels might be from the increased osteoblastic activity associated with growth. However, further studies are needed to further evaluate the cause(s) of these gender differences following administration of a high fructose diet.

3.8.7 Markers of general health

Plasma concentration of calcium, phosphorus, cholesterol and activity of amylase were used as surrogate markers of general health. Calcium and phosphorus are involved in bone formation and mineralization and their metabolism is regulated by calcitonin and parathyroid hormone (De Paula and Rosen, 2010). Because both calcium and phosphorus are reabsorbed in the GIT and kidneys, an increase in their plasma concentrations correlates with an increased osteoblastic activity and increased GIT or kidney absorption. Though fructose feeding has been associated with an increased urinary calcium excretion (Taylor and Curhan, 2007) and other risks of kidney diseases, there was no significant finding in that regard in this study. With the exception of a gender difference (p<0.05) observed in the LHS + FW (50mg.kg⁻¹ HS extract + 20% fructose in drinking water), there was no significant difference observed (p>0.05) in the plasma concentrations of both calcium and phosphorus.

Amylases are enzymes which catalyse starch, dextrins and glycogen hydrolysis into glucose (Janowitz and Dreiling, 1959). They are produced mainly in the salivary glands, pancreas and liver with contributions from fallopian tubes, striated muscles and adipose tissues (Janowitz and Dreiling, 1959; Simpson et al., 1991). An increase in the plasma levels of amylase is an important guide in the diagnosis of acute pancreatitis or of exercabation of chronic pancreatitis (Janowitz and Dreiling, 1959). There was no significant difference (p>0.05) in the plasma amylase concentration across the treatment groups suggesting that the administration of fructose did not have negative effects in the salivary glands and exocrine pancreata of the rats. Feeding of 7 week old rats with 60% fructose (w/w) for 8 weeks did not produce any adverse effects on serum amylase (Huang et al., 2004). However, significant differences were found between the males and the corresponding females in the following groups: DW + TW (10ml.kg⁻¹ distilled water + tap water), LHS + TW (50mg.kg⁻¹ HS + tap water), LHS + FW (50mg.kg⁻¹ HS + 20% fructose in drinking water) and HHS + FW (500mg.kg⁻¹ HS + 20% fructose in drinking water). There is a higher content of α -amylase in the fallopian tubes
than in the serum of humans, cows, rabbits and sheep but not in rats, dog, pigs, monkeys and cats (Janowitz and Dreiling, 1959). Still, I would have expected the plasma amylase activity in the females to be higher than those in the males due to the extra secretion from the fallopian tubes.

Though elevated levels of serum total cholesterol have been reported in 8 week old rats following oral fructose administration for 8 weeks (Yadav et al., 2007), no significant differences were found across the treatment groups in this study . However, the female rats in the HHS + FW (500mg.kg⁻¹ HS + 20% fructose in drinking water) had a significantly higher (p<0.05) plasma cholesterol concentration than their male counterparts. Previous studies in humans (Seidell et al., 1991) and mice (Bruell et al., 1962) have reported higher serum cholesterol values for males compared to females.

3.8.8 Conclusion

In this phase of the study, male and female Sprague Dawley rats that had been administered with HS extracts in the neonatal period were subjected to a high fructose in their drinking water (20% fructose w/v). The aim was to investigate whether the initial administration of HS extracts would have any effect in the development of metabolic dysfunction in the rats. The rats did not develop features of metabolic dysfunction (hyperglycaemia, hypertriglycerideamia, insulin resistance, impaired glucose tolerance, hypercholesterolemia)

after four weeks of fructose administration. The female rats that were administered with a

126

high dose HSE had a significantly greater amount of visceral fat pad compared to the male rats in the group. The gender differences that were observed in some of the measured parameters though statistically significant might not be of any biological significance.

CHAPTER FOUR: CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

4.0 Conclusion

The study was done in two phases. In the first phase, the effects of HS aqueous calyx extracts on the growth performance, gastrointestinal tract morphometry and metabolic substrates of suckling rats was investigated. This phase of the study is very important because there is a high chance of exposure of the neonates to this widely consumed plant. Moreover, no studies were found in which the HS extracts were administered to suckling rats directly. Findings from this phase suggest that HS when consumed in the suckling period could cause precocious maturation of the small intestines. *Hibiscus sabdariffa* aqueous calyx extracts however had no adverse effects on the growth performance, metabolic substrates and general health of the pups.

In the second experiment, metabolic dysfunction was not induced despite administration of a 20% fructose (w/v) in the drinking water of the rats for four weeks. The rats did not show the hypertriglyceridaemia and insulin resistance associated with fructose administration. As expected, in this phase, the male rats gained more weight than the female rats. The female rats that had received the high dose HSE in the neonatal period had greater amount of visceral fat compared to the corresponding males in their groups. There was no difference in the response of the rats to the fructose diet between the groups that had received HS in the suckling period and those that did not. There were no adverse effects observed either due to the administration of HS or the fructose diet across all the treatment groups. The rats in the fructose groups drank fructose water as their only source of water though actual intake was

not recorded. It might be safe to conclude that the administration of the HS extracts in the suckling period did not have any influence on how the growing rats responded to the 20% fructose diet. The short term administration of 20% fructose (w/v) in the drinking water of the growing rats did not also induce metabolic dysfunction as suggested by literature.

4.1 Limitations of the study

The small amount of plasma obtained in phase one did not allow for the determination of hormones associated with growth such as IGF-1 and insulin. Histological samples of the small intestines were prepared but unfortunately were not well oriented on the slides. Histological findings would have revealed if there were changes in the villi height, crypt depth or the villi height/crypt depth ratio which would explain the increase in the masses of the small intestines relative to the body mass in the HS groups. The pups were also not fasted prior to termination in phase one because it would have required separating them from their dams and since the pups do not all suckle at the same time it would have been very difficult to standardise the duration of fasting between the different pups. Functional tests such as perfused gut loops, immunohistochemistry and cell cultures were not performed on the GIT to assess whether functional maturation also occurred in the small intestines. A higher concentration of fructose and a more prolonged period of its administration might have induced metabolic dysfunction as anticipated.

130

4.2 Recommendations

For future studies, neonatal programming should be induced by manipulating the maternal environment through diet restriction or some other stressor events before interventions are instituted in the pups. A more prolonged period of fructose feeding preferably up to adulthood should be used to determine the effects of the programming on adult metabolic health. The fructose should also be administered in the diet rather than drinking water of the rats as this has been shown to be more potent in inducing metabolic dysfunction.

CHAPTER FIVE: REFERENCES

- ABDULLA, M. H., SATTAR, M. A. & JOHNS, E. J. 2011. The relation between fructoseinduced metabolic syndrome and altered renal haemodynamic and excretory function in the rat. *International Journal of Nephrology*, 2011, 1-17.
- ADEGOKE, O. A., ADEDOYIN, R. A., BALOGUN, M. O., ADEBAYO, R. A., BISIRIYU,
 L. A. & SALAWU, A. A. 2010. Prevalence of metabolic syndrome in a rural community in Nigeria. *Metabolic Syndrome and Related Disorders*, 8, 59-62.
- ADEGUNLOYE, B. J., OMONIYI, J. O., OWOLABI, O. A., AJAGBONNA, O. P.,
 - SOFOLA, O. A. & COKER, H. A. 1996. Mechanisms of the blood pressure lowering effect of the calyx extract of *Hibiscus sabdariffa* in rats. *African Journal of Medicine and Medical Sciences*, 25, 235-238.
- ADELMAN, R. D., RESTAINO, I. G., ALON, U. S. & BLOWEY, D. L. 2001. Proteinuria and focal segmental glomerulosclerosis in severely obese adolescents. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, 138, 481-485.
- ADIGUN, M., OGUNDIPE, O., ANETOR, J. & ODETUNDE, A. 2006. Dose-dependent changes in some haematological parameters during short-term administration of *Hibiscus sabdariffa* Calyx aqueous extract (Zobo) in Wistar albino rats. *African Journal of Medicine and Medical Sciences*, 35, 73-77.
- ADISAKWATTANA, S., RUENGSAMRAN, T., KAMPA, P. & SOMPONG, W. 2012. In vitro inhibitory effects of plant-based foods and their combinations on intestinal alphaglucosidase and pancreatic alpha-amylase. *BMC Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, 12, 110.

AKINDAHUNSI, A. A. & OLALEYE, M. T. 2003. Toxicological investigation of aqueousmethanolic extract of the calyces of *Hibiscus sabdariffa* L. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology* 89, 161-164.

ALARCON-AGUILAR, F. J., ZAMILPA, A., PEREZ-GARCIA, M. D., ALMANZA-PEREZ, J. C., ROMERO-NUNEZ, E., CAMPOS-SEPULVEDA, E. A., VASQUEZ-CARRILLO, L. I. & ROMAN-RAMOS, R. 2007. Effects of *Hibiscus sabdariffa* on obeisity in MSG mice. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology* 114, 66-71.

ALARCON-ALONSO, J., ZAMILPA, A., ALARCON-AGUILAR, F., HERRERA-RUIZ,
 M., TORTORIELLO, J. & JIMINEZ-FERRER, E. 2012. Pharmacological
 characterization of the diuretic effect of *Hibiscus sabdariffa Linn* (Malvaceae) extract.
 Journal of Ethnopharmacology 139, 751-756.

- ALBERTI, K. G. M. M. & ZIMMET, P. F. 1998. Definition, diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus and its complications. Part 1: diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus. Provisional report of a WHO consultation. *Diabetic Medicine*, 15, 539-553.
- ALHASSAN, A. J., SULE, M. S., ALIYU, S. A. & ALIYU, M. D. 2009. Ideal Hepatotoxicity model in rats using carbon tetrachloride (CCl4). *Bayero Journal of Pure and Applied Sciences*, 2, 185-187.
- ALI, B. H., MOUSA, H. M. & EL-MOUGY, S. 2003. The effect of a water extract and anthocyanins of *Hibiscus sabdariffa* L. on paracetamol-induced hepatoxicity in rats. *Phytotherapy Research*, 17, 56-59.

- ALI, B. H., WABEL, N. A. & BLUNDEN, G. 2005. Phytochemical, pharmacological and toxicological aspects of Hibiscus sabdariffa L.: a review. *Phytotherapy Research*, 19, 369-375.
- ANGELOVA, P. & BOYADJIEV, N. 2013. A review on the models of obesity and metabolic syndrome in rats. *Trakia Journal of Sciences*, 11, 5.
- ANURAG, P. & ANURADHA, C. 2002. Metformin improves lipid metabolism and attenuates lipid peroxidation in high fructose-fed rats. *Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism,* 4, 36-42.
- ARMITAGE, J. A., KHAN, I. Y., TAYLOR, P. D., NATHANIELSZ, P. W. & POSTON, L.
 2004. Developmental programming of the metabolic syndrome by maternal nutritional imbalance: how strong is the evidence from experimental models in mammals? *Journal of Physiology*, 561, 355-377.
- ATTA, M. B. & IMAIZUMI, K. 2002. Some characterisitcs of Crude Oil extracted from Roselle (Hibiscus sabdariffa L) seeds cultivated in Egypt. *Journal of Oleo Science*, 51, 457-461.
- AYYANAR, M., SANKARASIVARAMAN, K. & IGNACIMUTHU, S. 2008. Traditional herbal medicines used for the treatment of diabetes among two major tribal groups in South Tamil Nadu, India. *Ethnobotanical Leaflets*, 2008, 32.
- BABALOLA, S. O., BABALOLA, A. O. & AWORH, O. C. 2001. Compositional attributes of the calyces of roselle (*Hibiscus sabdariffa* L.). *Journal of Food Technology in Africa* 6, 133-134.

- BAGCHI, D., LAU, F. C. & GHOSH, D. K. 2011. Biotechnology in functional foods and nutraceuticals. *Nutrition and Dietetics*, 68, 88.
- BAILEY, S. A., ZIDELL, R. H. & PERRY, R. W. 2004. Relationships between organ weight and body/brain weight in the rat: what is the best analytical endpoint? *Toxicologic Pathology*, 32, 448-466.
- BALCER, L., LIU, G., FORMAN, S., PUN, K., VOLPE, N., GALETTA, S. & MAGUIRE,M. 1999. Idiopathic intracranial hypertension: relation of age and obesity in children.*Neurology*, 52, 870-870.
- BALTROP, D. & BRUETON, M. J. 1990. The Gastrointestinal tract and Short term Toxicity Tests. In: BOURDEAU, P. (ed.) Short-term Toxicity Tests for Non-genotoxic Effects John Wiley and Sons Ltd, pp 99.
- BARCELLOS, L., MARQUEZE, A., TRAPP, M., QUEVEDO, R. & FERREIRA, D. 2010. The effects of fasting on cortisol, blood glucose and liver and muscle glycogen in adult jundiá Rhamdia quelen. *Aquaculture*, 300, 231-236.
- BASCIANO, H., FREDIRICO, L. & ADELI K. 2005. Fructose, insulin resistance and metabolic dyslipidemia. *Nutrition and Metabolism*, 5, 1-14
- BAUM, H. B. A., BILLER, B. M. K., FINKELSTEIN, J. S., CANNISTRARO, K. B.,
 OPPENHEIM, D. S., SCHOENFELD, D. A., MICHEL, T. H., WITTINK, H. &
 KLIBANSKI, A. 1996. Effects of Physiologic Growth Hormone Therapy on Bone
 Density and Body Composition in Patients with Adult-Onset Growth Hormone
 DeficiencyA Randomized, Placebo-Controlled Trial. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 125, 883-890.

BELTRÁN-DEBÓN, R., ALONSO-VILLAVERDE, C., ARAGONÈS, G., RODRÍGUEZ-MEDINA, I., RULL, A., MICOL, V., SEGURA-CARRETERO, A., FERNÁNDEZ-GUTIÉRREZ, A., CAMPS, J. & JOVEN, J. 2010. The aqueous extract of *Hibiscus sabdariffa* calyces modulates the production of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 in humans. *Phytomedicine*, 17, 186-191.

- BEYA, W., DAVIDSON, B. & ERLWANGER, K. H. 2012. The effects of crude aqueous and alcohol extracts of *Aloe vera* on growth and abdominal viscera of suckling rats. *African Journal of Traditional Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, 9, 553-560.
- BHAT, R. A., PARRAY, I. & AHMAD, Z. 2014. Prevalence of the Metabolic Syndrome among North Indian Adolescents Using Adult Treatment Panel III and Paediatric International Diabetic Federation Definitions. *Diabetes and Metabolism*, 5:352 doi: 10.4172/2155-6156.1000352.
- BIRCH, L. & VENTURA, A. 2009. Preventing childhood obesity: what works&quest. International Journal of Obesity, 33, S74-S81.
- BIRO, F. M. & WIEN, M. 2010. Childhood obesity and adult morbidities. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 91, 1499S-1505S.
- BLIGH, E. G. & DYER, W. J. 1959. A rapid method of total lipid extraction and purification. *Canadian Journal of Biochemistry and Physiology*, 37, 911-917.
- BRIGDEN, D., ROSLING, A. E. & WOODS, N. C. 1982. Renal function after acyclovir intravenous injection. *The American Journal of Medicine*, 73, 182-185.
- BROWN, M. J. 1997. Science, medicine, and the future. Hypertension. *BMJ: British Medical Journal*, 314, 1258.

BRUELL, J. H., DAROCZY, A. F. & HELLERSTEIN, H. K. 1962. Strain and sex differences in serum cholesterol levels of mice. *Science*, 135, 1071-1072.

- BRUNOLD, C., DETERS, A., KNOEPFEL-SIDLER, F., HAFNER, J., MÜLLER, B. &
 HENSEL, A. 2004. Polysaccharides from *Hibiscus sabdariffa* flowers stimulate
 proliferation and differentiation of human keratinocytes. *Planta Medica*, 70, 370-373.
- BUDDINGTON, R. & KIMURA, Y. 2003. Phytochemicals and gastrointestinal health. In: *Phytochemical Functional Foods* (Johnson, I and Williamson, G. eds.), Woodhead publishing Ltd, Cambridge, England, pp 160.
- CÁCERES, A., GIRÓN, L. M. & MARTÍNEZ, A. M. 1987. Diuretic activity of plants used for the treatment of urinary ailments in Guatemala. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 19, 233-245.
- CARVAJAL-ZARRABAL, O., HAYWARD-JONES, P., ORTA-FLORES, Z., NOLASCO-HIPÓLITO, C., BARRADAS-DERMITZ, D., AGUILAR-USCANGA, M. &
 PEDROZA-HERNÁNDEZ, M. 2009. Effect of *Hibiscus sabdariffa* L. dried calyx ethanol extract on fat absorption-excretion, and body weight implication in rats. *BioMed Research International*, 2009, Article ID 394592, 5 pages doi:10.1155/2009/394592.
- CHANG, Y.-C., HUANG, H.-P., HSU, J.-D., YANG, S.-F. & WANG, C.-J. 2005. *Hibiscus* anthocyanins-rich extracts induced apoptotic cell death in human promyelocytic leukemia cells. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology* 205, 201-212.
- CHEN, C.-C., CHOU, F.-P., HO, Y.-C., LIN, W.-L., WANG, C.-P., KAO, E.-S., HUAN, A.-C. & WANG, C.-J. 2004. Inhibitory effects of *Hibiscus sabdariffa L* extract on Low

density lipoprotein oxidation and anti-hyperlipidemia in fructose fed and cholesterol fed rats. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 84, 1989-1996.

- CHEN, C.-C., HSU, J.-D., WANG, S.-F., CHIANG, H.-C., YANG, M.-Y., KAO, E.-S., HO, Y.-C. & WANG, C.-J. 2003. *Hibiscus sabdariffa* extract inhibits the development of atherosclerosis in cholesterol-fed rabbits. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 51, 5472-5477.
- CHEN, Y. I., COULSTON, A. M., ZHOU, M.-Y., HOLLENBECK, C. B. & REAVEN, G.M. 1995. Why do low-fat high-carbohydrate diets accentuate postprandial lipemia in patients with NIDDM? *Diabetes Care*, 18, 10-16.
- CHRISTIAN, K. R., NAIR, M.G. AND JACKSON, J.C. 2006. Antioxidant and cyclooxygenase inhibitory activity of Sorrel (*Hibiscus sabdariffa*). Journal of Food Composition and Analysis 19, 778-783.
- CLIFFORD, M. N., JOHNSTON, K. L., KNIGHT, S. & KUHNERT, N. 2003. Hierarchical Scheme for LC-MSn Identification of Chlorogenic Acids. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 51, 2900-2911.
- CONLEE, R., LAWLER, R. & ROSS, P. 1987. Effects of glucose or fructose feeding on glycogen repletion in muscle and liver after exercise or fasting. *Annals of Nutrition and Metabolism*, 31, 126-132.
- CORPELEIJN, W. E., VAN VLIET, I., DE GAST-BAKKER, D.-A. H., VAN DER SCHOOR, S. R., ALLES, M. S., HOIJER, M., TIBBOEL, D. & VAN GOUDOEVER, J. B. 2008. Effect of enteral IGF-1 supplementation on feeding tolerance, growth, and

gut permeability in enterally fed premature neonates. *Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition*, 46, 184-190.

- COTTRELL, E. & OZANNE, S. 2008. Early life programming of obesity and metabolic disease. *Physiology and Behavior*, 94, 17-28.
- DA-COSTA-ROCHA, I., BONNLAENDER, B., SIEVERS, H., PISCHEL, I. & HEINRICH,
 M. 2014. Hibiscus sabdariffa L. A phytochemical and pharmacological review. *Food Chemistry*, 165, 424-443.
- DANGAREMBIZI, R., ERLWANGER, K. H. & CHIVANDI, E. 2014. Effects of *Ficus thonningii* extracts on the gastrointestinal tract and clinical biochemistry of suckling rats. *African Journal of Traditional Complementary and Alternative Medicine* 11, 285-291.
- DAVISON, K. K. & BIRCH, L. L. 2001. Weight status, parent reaction, and self-concept in five-year-old girls. *Pediatrics*, 107, 46-53.
- DE CASTRO, U., DOS SANTOS, R., SILVA, M. E., DE LIMA, W. G., CAMPAGNOLE-SANTOS, M. J. & ALZAMORA, A. C. 2013. Age-dependent effect of high-fructose and high-fat diets on lipid metabolism and lipid accumulation in liver and kidney of rats. *Lipids in Health and Disease*, 12, 1-11.
- DE MOURA, R. F., RIBEIRO, C., DE OLIVEIRA, J. A., STEVANATO, E. & DE MELLO,
 M. A. R. 2009. Metabolic syndrome signs in Wistar rats submitted to different highfructose ingestion protocols. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 101, 1178-1184.

- DE ONIS, M., BLÖSSNER, M. & BORGHI, E. 2010. Global prevalence and trends of overweight and obesity among preschool children. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 92, 1257-1264.
- DE PAULA, F. & ROSEN, C. 2010. Back to the future: revisiting parathyroid hormone and calcitonin control of bone remodeling. *Hormone and Metabolic Research*, 42, 299-306.
- DILLARD, C. J. & GERMAN, J. B. 2000. Phytochemicals: nutraceuticals and human health. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 80, 1744-1756.
- DOWLING, A., STEELE, J. & BAUR, L. 2001. Does obesity influence foot structure and plantar pressure patterns in prepubescent children? *International Journal of Obesity and Related Metabolic Disorders: Journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity*, 25, 845-852.
- DRAKE, A. & WALKER, B. 2004. The intergenerational effects of fetal programming: nongenomic mechanisms for the inheritance of low birth weight and cardiovascular risk. *Journal of Endocrinology*, 180, 1-16.
- DU, C. & FRANCIS, F. 1973. Anthocyanins of roselle (Hibiscus sabdariffa, L.). Journal of Food Science, 38, 810-812.
- DVORAK, B., MCWILLIAM, D. L., WILLIAMS, C. S., DOMINGUEZ, J. A., MACHEN,
 N. W., MCCUSKEY, R. S. & PHILIPPS, A. F. 2000. Artificial Formula Induces
 Precocious Maturation of the Small Intestine of Artificially Reared Suckling Rats. *Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition*, 31, 162-169.

- EBBELING, C. B., PAWLAK, D. B. & LUDWIG, D. S. 2002. Childhood obesity: publichealth crisis, common sense cure. *The Lancet*, 360, 473-482.
- EDEN, S. 1979. Age- and Sex-Related Differences in Episodic Growth Hormone Secretion in the Rat. *Endocrinology*, 105, 555-560.
- EHRENBERG, H. M., MERCER, B. M. & CATALANO, P. M. 2004. The influence of obesity and diabetes on the prevalence of macrosomia. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 191, 964-968.
- EL-HAMIDI, A., SALEH, M. & AHMED, S. *Hibiscus sabdariffa*. Chemical Abstracts, 1967. 73243.
- ELLIS, J., HOLLANDS, T. & ALLEN, D. 2002. Effect of forage intake on bodyweight and performance. *Equine Veterinary Journal*, 34, 66-70.
- ERLWANGER, K. H. & COOPER, R. G. 2008. The effects of orally administered crude alcohol and aqueous extracts of African potato (*Hypoxis hemerocallidea*) corm on the morphometry of viscera of suckling rats. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, 46, 136-139.
- ESHET, R., MAOR, G., ARI, T. B., ELIEZER, M. B., GAT-YABLONSKI, G. & PHILLIP, M. 2004. The aromatase inhibitor letrozole increases epiphyseal growth plate height and tibial length in peripubertal male mice. *Journal of Endocrinology*, 182, 165-172.
- ESPANDIARI, P., ZHANG, J., SCHNACKENBERG, L. K., MILLER, T. J., KNAPTON, A.,
 HERMAN, E. H., BEGER, R. D. & HANIG, J. P. 2008. Age-related differences in susceptibility to toxic effects of valproic acid in rats. *Journal of Applied Toxicology*, 28, 628-637.

FAKEYE, T. O., PAL, A., BAWANKULE, D., YADAV, N. & KHANUJA, S. 2009. Toxic effects of oral administration of extracts of dried calyx of *Hibiscus sabdariffa Linn*.(Malvaceae). *Phytotherapy Research*, 23, 412-416.

FAKEYE, T. O., PAL, A., BAWANKULE, D. U. & KHANUJA, S. P. S. 2008.

Immunomodulatory effect of extracts of *Hibiscus sabdariffa L*. (Family Malvaceae) in a mouse model. *Phytotherapy Research*, 22, 664-668.

- FALADE, O., OTEMUYIWA, I., OLADIPO, A., OYEDAPO, O., AKINPELU, B. &
 ADEWUSI, S. 2005. The chemical composition and membrane stability activity of some herbs used in local therapy for anemia. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 102, 15-22.
- FAROMBI, E. & IGE, O. 2007. Hypolipidemic and antioxidant effects of ethanolic extract from dried calyx of *Hibiscus sabdariffa* in alloxan-induced diabetic rats. *Fundamental and Clinical Pharmacology*, 21, 601-609.
- FAROMBI, E. O. & FAKOYA, A. 2005. Free radical scavenging and antigenotoxic activities of natural phenolic compounds in dried flowers of *Hibiscus sabdariffa* L. *Molecular Nutrition and Food Research*, 49, 1120-1128.
- FAROMBI., E. O. 2003. African indigenous plants with chemotherapeutic potentials and biotechnological approach to the production of bioactive prophylactic agents. *African Journal of Biotechnology* 2 2, 662-671.

FERGUSON, T., YOUNGER, N., TULLOCH-REID, M., FORRESTER, T., COOPER, R. & VAN DEN BROECK, J. 2010. Prevalence of the metabolic syndrome in Jamaican

adults and its relationship to income and education levels: a crosssectional study. *West Indian Medical Journal*, 59, 265-273

- FIGUEROA-MUNOZ, J., CHINN, S. & RONA, R. 2001. Association between obesity and asthma in 4–11 year old children in the UK. *Thorax*, 56, 133-137.
- FLOREZ, H., TEMPROSA, M., ORCHARD, T. J., MATHER, K. J., MARCOVINA, S. M.,
 BARRETT-CONNOR, E., HORTON, E., SAUDEK, C., PI-SUNYER, X. &
 RATNER, R. 2014. Metabolic syndrome components and their response to lifestyle
 and metformin interventions are associated with differences in diabetes risk in persons
 with impaired glucose tolerance. *Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism*, 16, 326-333.
- FORD, E. 2005. Risks for all-cause mortality, cardiovascular disease, and diabetes associated with the metabolic syndrome: a summary of the evidence. *Diabetes Care*, 28, 1769 1778.
- FORD, E. S. & GILES, W. H. 2003. A Comparison of the Prevalence of the Metabolic Syndrome Using Two Proposed Definitions. *Diabetes Care*, 26, 575-581.
- FORD, E. S. & LI, C. 2008. Defining the Metabolic Syndrome in Children and Adolescents:Will the Real Definition Please Stand Up? *The Journal of Pediatrics*, 152, 160-164.e13.
- FORD, G., GOPAL, T. & GAUNT, I. 1983. Short-term-toxicity of 4-methyl-1-phenylpentan-2-ol in rats. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, 21, 441-447.
- FOUDA, A. M. M., MOHAMAD, H., DABA, Y. & D., G. M. 2007. Inhibitory effects of aqueous extracts of *Hibiscus sabdariffa* on contractility of the rat bladder and uterus. *Canadian Journal of Physiology and Pharmacology* 85, 1020-1031.

FRANCO, J. G., MOURA, E. G., KOURY, J. C., TROTTA, P. A., CORDEIRO, A., SOUZA, L. L., ALMEIDA, N. A.-S., LIMA, N. S., PAZOS-MOURA, C. C., LISBOA, P. C. & PASSOS, M. C. F. 2010. Resveratrol reduces lipid peroxidation and increases sirtuin 1 expression in adult animals programmed by neonatal protein restriction. *Journal of Endocrinology* 207, 319-328.

FREEDMAN, D. S., DIETZ, W. H., SRINIVASAN, S. R. & BERENSON, G. S. 1999. The relation of overweight to cardiovascular risk factors among children and adolescents: the Bogalusa Heart Study. *Pediatrics*, 103, 1175-1182.

FULLERTON, M., KHATIWADA, J., JOHNSON, J. U., DAVIES, S. & WILLIAMS, L. L.
2011. Determination of antimicrobial activity of sorrel (*Hibiscus sabdariffa*) on
Escherichia coli 0157: H7 isolated from food, veterinary and clinical samples. *Journal* of Medicinal Food 14, 950-956.

- FYHRQUIST, P., MWASUMBI, L., VUORELA, P., VUORELA, H., HILTUNEN, R., MURPHY, C. & ADLERCREUTZ, H. 2006. Preliminary antiproliferative effects of some species of *Terminalia*, *Combretum* and *Pteleopsis* collected in Tanzania on some human cancer cell lines. *Fitoterapia*, 77, 358-366.
- GABRIEL, S., RONCANCIO, J. & RUIZ, N. 1992. Growth hormone pulsatility and the endocrine milieu during sexual maturation in male and female rats. *Neuroendocrinology*, 56, 619-628.
- GAJDA, A. M., PELLIZZON, M. A., RICCI, M. R. & ULMAN, E. A. 2007. Diet-induced metabolic syndrome in rodent models. *Animal Lab News*, 74, 775-793.

- GALLOU-KABANI, C. & JUNIEN, C. 2005. Nutritional epigenomics of metabolic syndrome; new perspective against the epidemic. *Diabetes* 54, 1899-1906.
- GAUTAM, R. D. 2004. Sorrel- A lesser known source of medicinal food drink and food in India. *Natural Product Radiance*, 3, 338-342.

GAYA, I., MOHAMMAD, O., SULEIMAN, A., MAJE, M. & ADEKUNLE, A. 2009.
Toxicological and lactogenic studies on the seeds of *Hibiscus sabdariffa* linn
(Malvaceae) extract on serum prolactin levels of albino wistar rats. *The Internet Journal of Endocrinology*, 5.

GERSCH, M. S., MU, W., CIRILLO, P., REUNGJUI, S., ZHANG, L., RONCAL, C., SAUTIN, Y. Y., JOHNSON, R. J. & NAKAGAWA, T. 2007. Fructose, but not dextrose, accelerates the progression of chronic kidney disease. *American Journal of Physiology-Renal Physiology*, 293, F1256-F1261.

- GHEZZI, A. C., CAMBRI, L. T., BOTEZELLI, J. D., RIBEIRO, C., DALIA, R. A. & ROSTOM DE MELLO, M. A. 2012. Metabolic syndrome markers in wistar rats of different ages. *Diabetology and Metabolic Syndrome*, 4, 16.
- GLUCKMAN, P. D. & HANSON, M. A. 2004. The developmental origins of the metabolic syndrome. *Trends in Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 15, 183-187.
- GOOD, D. J., PORTER, F. D., MAHON, K. A., PARLOW, A. F., WESTPHAL, H. & KIRSCH, I. R. 1997. Hypogonadism and obesity in mice with a targeted deletion of the Nhlh2 gene. *Nature Genetics*, 15, 397-401.
- GRUNDY, S. M. 2008. Metabolic Syndrome Pandemic. Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology, 28, 629-636.

- GRUNDY, S. M., BREWER, H. B., CLEEMAN, J. I., SMITH, S. C., LENFANT, C. & PARTICIPANTS, F. T. C. 2004. Definition of Metabolic Syndrome: Report of the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute/American Heart Association Conference on Scientific Issues Related to Definition. *Circulation*, 109, 433-438.
- GURROLA-DAIZ, C. M., GARCIA-LOPEZ, P. M., SANCHEZ ENRIQUEZ, S., TROYO-SANROMAN, R., ANDRADE-GONZALEZ, T. & GOMEZ-LEYVA, J. 2010.
 Effects of *Hibiscus sabdariffa* powder and preventive treatment (diet) on the lipid profiles of patients with metabolic syndrome. *Phytomedicine* 17, 500-505.
- GYAKOBO, M., AMOAH, A., MARTEY-MARBELL, D.-A. & SNOW, R. 2012. Prevalence of the metabolic syndrome in a rural population in Ghana. *BMC Endocrine Disorders*, 12, 25.
- HAASE-FIELITZ, A., BELLOMO, R., DEVARAJAN, P., STORY, D., MATALANIS, G., DRAGUN, D. & HAASE, M. 2009. Novel and conventional serum biomarkers predicting acute kidney injury in adult cardiac surgery-A prospective cohort study*. *Critical Care Medicine*, 37, 553-560.
- HAJI-FARAJI, M. & HAJI-TARKHANI, A. 1999. The effect of sour tea (*Hibiscus sabdariffa*) on essential hypertension. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 65, 231-236.
- HALES, C. N. & BARKER, D. J. 2001. The thrifty phenotype hypothesis. *British Medical Bulletin*, 60, 5-20.
- HALLIWELL, B. 1997. Antioxidants and Human Disease: A General Introduction. *Nutrition Reviews*, 55, S44-S49.

- HARBORNE, J. 1999. Chemicals from plants- perspectives on plant secondary products. *In:*WALTON, J. & BROWN, D. (eds.) *Classes and functions of secondary products from plants.* London, UK: Imperial College Press.
- HAYAMIZU, K., ISHII, Y., KANEKO, I., SHEN, M., OKUHARA, Y., SHIGEMATSU, N., TOMI, H., FURUSE, M., YOSHINO, G. & SHIMASAKI, H. 2003. Effects of garcinia cambogia (Hydroxycitric Acid) on visceral fat accumulation: a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial. *Current Therapeutic Research*, 64, 551-567.
- HENNING, S. J. 1986. Development of the gastrointestinal tract. *Proceedings of the Nutrition* Society, 45, 39-44.

HERRANZ-LÓPEZ, M., FERNÁNDEZ-ARROYO, S., PÉREZ-SANCHEZ, A.,

BARRAJÓN-CATALÁN, E., BELTRÁN-DEBÓN, R., MENÉNDEZ, J. A.,
ALONSO-VILLAVERDE, C., SEGURA-CARRETERO, A., JOVEN, J. & MICOL,
V. 2012. Synergism of plant-derived polyphenols in adipogenesis: Perspectives and implications. *Phytomedicine*, 19, 253-261.

HERRERA- ARELLANO, A., FLORES- ROMERO, S., CHAVEZ- SOTO, M. A. & TORTORIELLO, J. 2004. Effectiveness and tolerability of a standardized extract from *Hibiscus sabdariffa* in patients with mild to moderate hypertension: A controlled and randomized clinical trial. *Phytomedicine* 11, 375-382.

HIDA, H., YAMADA, T. & YAMADA, Y. 2007. Genome shuffling of Streptomyces sp. U121 for improved production of hydroxycitric acid. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 73, 1387-1393. HIRUNPANICH, V., UTAIPAT, A., MORALES, N. P., BUNYAPRAPHATSARA, N.,

SATO, H., HERUNSALE, A. & SUTHISISANG, C. 2006. Hypocholesterolemic and antioxidant effects of aqueous extracts from the dried calyx of *Hibiscus sabdariffa* L. in hypercholesterolemic rats. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 103, 252-260.

HIRUNPANICH, V., UTAIPAT, A., MORALES, N. P., BUNYAPRAPHATSARA, N.,

SATO, H., HERUNSALEE, A. & SUTHISISANG, C. 2005. Antioxidant effects of aqueous extracts from dried calyx of *Hibiscus sabdariffa* Linn.(Roselle) in vitro using rat low-density lipoprotein (LDL). *Biological and Pharmaceutical Bulletin*, 28, 481-484.

- HOLST, B. & WILLIAMSON, G. 2008. Nutrients and phytochemicals: from bioavailability to bioefficacy beyond antioxidants. *Current Opinion in Biotechnology*, 19, 73-82.
- HUANG, B. W., CHIANG, M. T., YAO, H. T. & CHIANG, W. 2004. The effect of high-fat and high-fructose diets on glucose tolerance and plasma lipid and leptin levels in rats. *Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism,* 6, 120-126.
- HUANG, C.-N., CHAN, K.-C., LIN, W.-T., SU, S.-L., WANG, C.-J. & PENG, C.-H. 2009. *Hibiscus sabdariffa* Inhibits Vascular Smooth Muscle Cell Proliferation and Migration
 Induced by High Glucose—A Mechanism Involves Connective Tissue Growth Factor
 Signals. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 57, 3073-3079.
- HUYNH, M., LUIKEN, J. J., COUMANS, W. & BELL, R. C. 2008. Dietary fructose during the suckling period increases body weight and fatty acid uptake into skeletal muscle in adult rats. *Obesity*, 16, 1755-1762.

- INUWA, I., ALI, B. H., AL-LAWATI, I., BEEGAM, S., ZIADA, A. & BLUNDEN, G. 2012. Long-term ingestion of *Hibiscus sabdariffa* calyx extract enhances myocardial capillarization in the spontaneously hypertensive rat. *Experimental Biology and Medicine*, 237, 563-569.
- ISMAIL, A., IKRAM, E. H. K. & NAZRI, H. S. M. 2008a. Roselle (*Hibiscus sabdariffa L.*) Seeds-nutritional composition, protein quality and health benefits. *Food*, 2, 1-16.
- ISMAIL, A., IKRAM, E. H. K. & NAZRI, H. S. M. 2008b. Roselle (Hibiscus sabdariffa L.) seeds nutritional composition, protein quality and health benefits. *Food*, 2, 1-16.
- IYARE, E. E. & ADEGOKE, O. A. 2008. Postnatal weight gain and onset of puberty in rats exposed to aqueous extracts of *Hibiscus sabdariffa* in utero. *Pakistan Journal of Nutrition*, 7, 98-101.
- IYARE, E. E. & NWAGHA, U. I. 2009. Postweaning consumption of aqueous extract of *Hibiscus sabdariffa* may predispose rats to obesity. *Pakistan Journal of Nutrition* 8, 1760-1765.
- JANOWITZ, H. D. & DREILING, D. A. 1959. The plasma amylase: Source, regulation and diagnostic significance. *The American Journal of Medicine*, 27, 924-935.
- JIALAL, I. & SMITH, G. 2012. Managing the dyslipidemia of metabolic syndrome: Beyond statin therapy. *Metabolic Syndrome and Related Disorders*, 10, 159-160.
- KADUKA, L. U., KOMBE, Y., KENYA, E., KURIA, E., BORE, J. K., BUKANIA, Z. N. & MWANGI, M. 2012. Prevalence of Metabolic Syndrome Among an Urban Population in Kenya. *Diabetes Care*, 35, 887-893.

- KAPLOWITZ, P. B., SLORA, E. J., WASSERMAN, R. C., PEDLOW, S. E. & HERMAN-GIDDENS, M. E. 2001. Earlier onset of puberty in girls: relation to increased body mass index and race. *Pediatrics*, 108, 347-353.
- KELLEY, G. L., ALLAN, G. & AZHAR, S. 2004. High dietary fructose induces a hepatic stress response resulting in cholesterol and lipid dysregulation. *Endocrinology*, 145, 548-555.
- KIM, J.-K., SO, H., YOUN, M.-J., KIM, H.-J., KIM, Y., PARK, C., KIM, S.-J., HA, Y., CHAI, K.-Y. & KIM, S.-M. 2007. *Hibiscus sabdariffa L.* water extract inhibits the adipocyte differentiation through the PI3-K and MAPK pathway. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 114, 260-267.
- KIMANI-MURAGE, E. W., KAHN, K., PETTIFOR, J. M., TOLLMAN, S. M., DUNGER,
 D. B., GÓMEZ-OLIVÉ, X. F. & NORRIS, S. A. 2010. The prevalence of stunting,
 overweight and obesity, and metabolic disease risk in rural South African children. *BMC Public Health*, 10, 158.
- KOHEN-AVRAMOGLU, R., THERIAULT, A. & ADELI, K. 2003. Emergence of the metabolic syndrome in childhood: an epidemiological overview and mechanistic link to dyslipidemia. *Clinical Biochemistry*, 36, 413-420.
- KOO, H.-Y., WALLIG, M. A., CHUNG, B. H., NARA, T. Y., CHO, B. & NAKAMURA, M.
 T. 2008. Dietary fructose induces a wide range of genes with distinct shift in carbohydrate and lipid metabolism in fed and fasted rat liver. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Molecular Basis of Disease*, 1782, 341-348.

- LÊ, K.-A., ITH, M., KREIS, R., FAEH, D., BORTOLOTTI, M., TRAN, C., BOESCH, C. & TAPPY, L. 2009. Fructose overconsumption causes dyslipidemia and ectopic lipid deposition in healthy subjects with and without a family history of type 2 diabetes. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 89, 1760-1765.
- LEE, A.-H., SCAPA, E. F., COHEN, D. E. & GLIMCHER, L. H. 2008. Regulation of hepatic lipogenesis by the transcription factor XBP1. *Science*, 320, 1492-1496.
- LEE, C.-H., KUO, C.-Y., WANG, C.-J., WANG, C.-P., LEE, Y.-R., HUNG, C.-N. & LEE,
 H.-J. 2012. A Polyphenol Extract of *Hibiscus sabdariffa* L. Ameliorates
 Acetaminophen-Induced Hepatic Steatosis by Attenuating the Mitochondrial
 Dysfunction in Vivo and in Vitro. *Bioscience, Biotechnology, and Biochemistry*, 76, 646-651.
- LEE, M.-J., CHOU, F.-P., TSENG, T.-H., HSIEH, M.-H., LIN, M.-C. & WANG, C.-J. 2002.
 Hibiscus Protocatechuic Acid or Esculetin Can Inhibit Oxidative LDL Induced by
 Either Copper Ion or Nitric Oxide Donor. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 50, 2130-2136.
- LEE, W.-C., WANG, C.-J., CHEN, Y.-H., HSU, J.-D., CHENG, S.-Y., CHEN, H.-C. & LEE,
 H.-J. 2009. Polyphenol extracts from *Hibiscus sabdariffa* Linnaeus attenuate
 nephropathy in experimental type 1 diabetes. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 57, 2206-2210.
- LEGROS, R., BALMAIN, N. & BONEL, G. 1987. Age-related changes in mineral of rat and bovine cortical bone. *Calcified Tissue International*, 41, 137-144.

- LEMBEDE, B. W. 2014. Effect of dietary Terminalia sericea aqueous leaf extracts on highfructose diet fed growing wistar rats. MSc Medicine Dissertation, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Witwatersrand.
- LEUNG, A. & FOSTER, S. 1996. Encyclopedia of Common Natural Ingredients Used in Food, Drugs and Cosmetics 2nd Edition, New York, John Wiley and sons.
- LEVEY, A. S., STEVENS, L. A., SCHMID, C. H., ZHANG, Y. L., CASTRO, A. F.,
 FELDMAN, H. I., KUSEK, J. W., EGGERS, P., VAN LENTE, F. & GREENE, T.
 2009. A new equation to estimate glomerular filtration rate. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 150, 604-612.
- LIM, S., SHIN, H., SONG, J. H., KWAK, S. H., KANG, S. M., WON YOON, J., CHOI, S.
 H., CHO, S. I., PARK, K. S., LEE, H. K., JANG, H. C. & KOH, K. K. 2011.
 Increasing Prevalence of Metabolic Syndrome in Korea: The Korean National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey for 1998–2007. *Diabetes Care*, 34, 1323-1328.
- LIN, H.-H., HUANG, H.-P., HUANG, C.-C., CHEN, J.-H. & WANG, C.-J. 2005. *Hibiscus sabdariffa* polyphenol- rich extract induces apoptosis in human gastric carcinoma cells via p53 phosphorylation and p38 MAPK/Fasl cascade pathway. *Molecular Carcinogenesis*, 43, 86-99.
- LIN, T.-L., LIN, H.-H., CHEN, C.-C., LIN, M.-C., CHOU, M.-C. & WANG, C.-J. 2007. *Hibiscus sabdariffa* extract reduces serum cholesterol in men and women. *Nutrition Research*, 27, 140-145.
- LINDEROTH, A., MARZENA, B., OLENA, P., KORNILOVSKA, I., ARPAD, P., PIERZYNOWSKY, S. G. & BJORN, W. R. 2005. Induced growth and maturation of

the gastrointestinal tract after *Phaseolus vulgaris* Lectin exposure in suckling rats. *Journal of Paediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition* 41, 195-203.

- LIU, J.-Y., CHEN, C.-C., WANG, W.-H., HSU, J.-D., YANG, M.-Y. & WANG, C.-J. 2006. The protective effects of *Hibiscus sabdariffa* extract on CCL4-induced liver fibrosis in rats. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, 44, 336-343.
- LIU, R. H. 2007. Whole grain phytochemicals and health. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 46, 207-219.
- LODER, R. T., ARONSON, D. D. & GREENFIELD, M. L. 1993. The epidemiology of bilateral slipped capital femoral epiphysis. *Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery*, 75, 1141-1147.
- LOXHAM, S. J., TEAGUE, J., POUCHER, S. M., DE SCHOOLMEESTER, J., A.V., T. & CAREY, F. 2007. Glucagon challenge in the rat: a robust method for invivo assessment of glycogen phosphorylase inhibitor efficacy. *Journal of Pharmacology and Toxicological Methods* 55, 71-77.
- LUDWIG, D. S. & EBBELING, C. B. 2001. Type 2 diabetes mellitus in children: primary care and public health considerations. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 286, 1427-1430.
- MACCRACKEN, J. G. & STEBBINGS, J. L. 2012. Test of a body condition index with amphibians. *Journal of Herpetology*, 46, 346-350.
- MAGANHA, E. G., HALMENSCHLAGER, R. D. C., ROSA, R. M., HENRIQUES, J. A. P., RAMOS, A. L. L. D. P. & SAFFI, J. 2010. Pharmacological evidences for the extracts

and secondary metabolites from plants of the genus Hibiscus. *Food Chemistry*, 118, 1-10.

MAHADEVAN, N., SHIVALI & KAMBOJ, P. 2009. *Hibiscus sabdariffa* Linn: An overview. *Natural Product Radiance* 8, 77-83.

MAMIKUTTY, N., THENT, Z.C., SAPRI, S.R., SAHRUDDIN N.N., MOHD YOSUF &
 HAJI SUHAIMI. 2014. The establishment of Metabolic Syndrome Model by
 induction of Frructose Drinking Water in Male Wistar Rats. *Biomed Research International* 2014, Article ID 263897, 8 pages, http://dx.doi.org/10.1155/2014/263897

MATTHEWS, D., HOSKER, J., RUDENSKI, A., NAYLOR, B., TREACHER, D. &

- TURNER, R. 1985. Homeostasis model assessment: insulin resistance and β-cell
 function from fasting plasma glucose and insulin concentrations in man. *Diabetologia*,
 28, 412-419.
- MCCANCE, R. 1962. Food, growth, and time. The Lancet, 280, 621-626.
- MCKAY, D. 2009. Can hibiscus tea lower blood pressure. *Agro Food Industry Hi-Tech*, 20, 40-42.
- MIATELLO, R., VÁZQUEZ, M., RENNA, N., CRUZADO, M., ZUMINO, A. P. & RISLER, N. 2005. Chronic administration of resveratrol prevents biochemical cardiovascular changes in fructose-fed rats*. *American Journal of Hypertension*, 18, 864-870.
- MICHALOPOULOS, G. K. 2007. Liver regeneration. *Journal of Cellular Physiology*, 213, 286-300.
- MOHAGHEGHI, A., MAGHSOUD, S., KHASHAYAR, P. & GHAZI-KHANSARI, M. 2010. The Effect of *Hibiscus Sabdariffa* on Lipid Profile, Creatinine, and Serum

Electrolytes: A Randomized Clinical Trial, ISRN Gastroenterology Volume 2011, doi:10.5402/2011/976019

- MOHD-ESA, N., HERN, F. S., ISMAIL, A. & YEE, C. L. 2010. Antioxidant activity in different parts of roselle (*Hibiscus sabdariffa* L.) extracts and potential exploitation of the seeds. *Food Chemistry*, 122, 1055-1060.
- MOJIMINIYI, F. B. O., ADEGUNLOYE, B. J., EGBENIYI, Y. A. & OKOLO, R. U. 2000. An investigation of the diuretic effect of an aquoeus calyx extract of Hibiscus sabdariffa. *Journal of Medicine and Medical Science*, 2, 77-80.
- MOJIMINIYI, F. B. O., AUDU, Z., ETUK, E. U. & AJAGBONNA, O. P. 2012. Attenuation of salt-induced hypertension by aqueous calyx extract of *Hibiscus Sabdariffa Nigerian Journal of Physiological Sciences*, 195-200.

MOJIMINIYI, F. B. O., DIKKO, M., MUHAMMAD, B. Y., OJOBOR, P. D.,

AJAGBONNA, O. P., OKOLO, R. U., IGBOKWE, U. V., MOJIMINIYI, U. E.,

FAGBEMI, M. A., BELLO, S. O. & ANGA, T. J. 2007. Antihypertensive effect of an aqueous extract of the calyx of *Hibiscus sabdariffa*. *Fitoterapia*, 78, 292-297.

- MONTEAGUDO, M., HERNANDEZ, E., SECO, C., GONZALEZ-RIOLA, J., REVILLA,
 M., VILLA, L. & RICO, H. 1997. Comparison of the bone robusticity index and bone
 weight/bone length index with the results of bone densitometry and bone
 histomorphometry in experimental studies. *Cells Tissues Organs*, 160, 195-199.
- MORTON, J.F. 1987. In: *Fruits of warm climate*, edited by Morton J, Echo Point Books and Media, Miami, pp 281-286.

MOSSALAM, H. H., ABD-EL ATY, O. A., MORGAN, E. N., YOUSSAF, S. M. &

MACKAWY, A. M. H. 2011. Biochemical and Ultra Structure Studies of the
Antioxidant Effect of Aqueous Extract of *Hibiscus Sabdariffa* on the Nephrotoxicity
Induced by Organophosphorous Pesticide (Malathion) on the Adult Albino Rats. *Journal of American Science*, 7, 407-421.

- MOTALA, A. A., ESTERHUIZEN, T., PIRIE, F. J. & OMAR, M. A. 2011. The prevalence of metabolic syndrome and determination of the optimal waist circumference cutoff points in a rural South African community. *Diabetes Care*, 34, 1032-1037.
- MOURA, E. G. & PASSOS, M. C. 2005. Neonatal programming of body weight regulation and energetic metabolism. . *Bioscience Reports*, 25, 251-269.
- MOZAFFARI-KHOSRAVI, H., JALALI-KHANABADI, B. A., AFKHAMI-ARDEKANI, M., FATEHI, F. & NOORI-SHADKAM. 2009. The effects of sour tea (*Hibiscus sabdariffa*) on hypertension in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Journal of Human Hypertension* 23, 48-54.
- MÜLLER, B. M. & FRANZ, G. 1992. Chemical Structure and Biological Activity of Polysaccharides from *Hibiscus sabdariffa*. *Planta medica*, 58, 60-67.
- MUNRO, I., BERNT, W., BORZELLECA, J., FLAMM, G., LYNCH, B., KENNEPOHL, E., BÄR, E. & MODDERMAN, J. 1998. Erythritol: an interpretive summary of biochemical, metabolic, toxicological and clinical data. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, 36, 1139-1174.

MUSA, D. I., TORIOLA, A. L., MONYEKI, M. A. & LAWAL, B. 2012. Prevalence of childhood and adolescent overweight and obesity in Benue State, Nigeria. *Tropical Medicine and International Health*, 17, 1369-1375.

NAKAGAWA, T., HU, H., ZHARIKOV, S., TUTTLE, K. R., SHORT, R. A., GLUSHAKOVA, O., OUYANG, X., FEIG, D. I., BLOCK, E. R. & HERRERA-ACOSTA, J. 2006. A causal role for uric acid in fructose-induced metabolic syndrome. *American Journal of Physiology-Renal Physiology*, 290, F625-F631.

- NCEP 2002. Third report of the National Cholesterol Education program (NCEP) expert panel on detection, evaluation, and treatment of high blood cholesterol in adults (Adult treament panel III). Final report. *Circulation 3143-3421*.
- NDU, O. O., NWORU, C. S., EHIEMERE, C. O., NDUKWE, N. C. & OCHIOGU, I. S. 2011. Herb–drug interaction between the extract of *Hibiscus sabdariffa L*. and hydrochlorothiazide in experimental animals. *Journal of Medicinal Food*, 14, 640-644.
- NIEVES, J. W. 2005. Osteoporosis: the role of micronutrients. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 81, 1232S-1239S.
- NISKANEN, L., SALONEN, J., NYSONENK, V. & SITUPTA, M. 1995. Plasma lipid peroxidation and hyperglyceamia: a connection through hyperinsulinaemia? *Diabetic Medicine*, 2, 802-806.
- OBIEFUNA, P., OWOLABI, O., ADEGUNLOYE, B., OBIEFUNA, I. & SOFOLA, O. 1994. The petal extract of *Hibiscus sabdariffa* produces relaxation of isolated rat aorta. *Pharmaceutical Biology*, 32, 69-74.

ODIGIE, I. P., ETTARH, R. R. & ADIGUN, S. A. 2003. Chronic administration of aqueous extract of *Hibiscus sabdariffa* attenuates hypertension and reverses cardiac hypertrophy in 2K-1C hypertensive rats. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 86, 181-185.

OJEDA, D., JIMINEZ-FERRER, E., ZAMILPA, A., HERRERA-ALLERANO, A., JAIME,

T. & ALVAREZ, L. 2010. Inhibition of angiotensin converting enzyme activity by the anthocyanins delphinidin and cyaniding- 3- O- Sambubiosides from *Hibiscus* sabdariffa. Journal of Ethnopharmacology 127, 7-10.

- OLALEYE, M. T. 2007. Cytotoxicity and antibacterial activity of methanolic extract of *Hibiscus sabdariffa. Journal of Medicinal Plant Research* 1, 009-013.
- OLALEYE, M. T. & ROCHA, J. B. T. 2007. Commonly used tropical medicinal plants exhibt distinct in vitro antioxidant activities against hepatotoxins in rat liver. *Experimental and Toxicologic Pathology*, 58, 433-438.
- ONYENEKWE, P. C., AJANI, E. O., AMEH, D. A. & GAMALIEL, K. S. 1999. Antihypertensive effect of roselle (*Hibiscus sabdariffa*) calyx infusion in SHR and a comparism of its toxicity with that in Wistar rats. *Cell Biochemistry and Function* 17, 199-206.
- ORISAKWE, O. E., HUSAINI, D. C. & AFONNE, O. J. 2004. Testicular effects of subchronic administration of *Hibiscus sabdariffa* calyx aqueous extract in rats. *Reproductive Toxicology*, 18, 295-298.
- OSMOND, C., BARKER, D., WINTER, P., FALL, C. & SIMMONDS, S. 1993. Early growth and death from cardiovascular disease in women. *BMJ: British Medical Journal*, 307, 1519.

- OWOLABI, O., ADEGUNLOYE, B., AJAGBONA, O., SOFOLA, O. & OBIEFUNA, P. 1995. Mechanism of relaxant effect mediated by an aqueous extract of *Hibiscus sabdariffa* petals in isolated rat aorta. *Pharmaceutical Biology*, 33, 210-214.
- OWULADE, M., EGHIANRUWA, K. & DARAMOLA, F. 2004. Effects of aqueous extracts of *Hibiscus sabdariffa* calyces and *ocimun gratissimum* leaves on interstinal transit in rats. *African Journal of Biomedical Research*, 7, 31-33.
- PACHA, J. 2000. Development of intestinal transport functions in mammals. *Physiology Reviews* 80, 1633-1667.
- PAGLIASSOTI, M. J., PRACH, P. A., KOPPENHAFER, T. A. & PAN, D. A. 1996. Changes in insulin action, triglycerides, and lipid composition during sucrose feeding in rats. *American Journal of Physiology* 271, R1319-R1326.
- PAPWORTH, T. A. & CLUBB, S. K. 1995. Clinical Pathology in the Neonatal Rat. Comparative Haematology International, 5, 237-250.
- PARIKH, R. & MOHAN, V. 2012. Changing definitions of metabolic syndrome. *Indian Journal of Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 16, 7-12.
- PARK, M., YUN, K., LEE, G., CHO, H. & PARK, H. 2007. A cross-sectional study of socioeconomic status and the metabolic syndrome in Korean adults. *Annals of Epidemiology*, 17, 320 - 326.
- PARSONS, T. J., POWER, C. & MANOR, O. 2001. Fetal and early life growth and body mass index from birth to early adulthood in 1958 British cohort: longitudinal study. *British Medical Journal*, 323, 1331-1335.

- PASSONNEAU, J. V. & LAUDERDALE, V. R. 1974. A comparison of three methods of glycogen measurement in tissues. *Analytical Biochemistry*, 60, 405-412.
- PATEL, S. 2014. *Hibiscus sabdariffa*: An ideal yet under-exploited candidate for nutraceutical applications. *Biomedicine and Preventive Nutrition*, 4, 23-27.
- PATEL, S. M. & SRINIVASAN, M. 2002. Metabolic programming: causes and consequences. . *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 227, 1629-1632.
- PENG, C.-H., CHYAU, C.-C., CHAN, K.-C., CHAN, T.-H., WANG, C.-J. & HUANG, C.-N.
 2011. *Hibiscus sabdariffa* Polyphenolic Extract Inhibits Hyperglycemia,
 Hyperlipidemia, and Glycation-Oxidative Stress while Improving Insulin Resistance. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 59, 9901-9909.
- PFEIL, B. & CRISP, M. 2005. What to do with *Hibiscus*? A proposed nomenclatural resolution for a large and well known genus of Malvaceae and comments on paraphyly. *Australian Systematic Botany*, 18, 49-60.
- PRATT, D. S. & KAPLAN, M. M. 2000. Evaluation of abnormal liver-enzyme results in asymptomatic patients. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 342, 1266-1271.
- RAJESH, S., RAJKAPOOR, B., KUMAR, R. S. & RAJU, K. 2009. Effect of Clausena dentata (Willd.) M. Roem. against paracetamol induced hepatotoxicity in rats. *Pakistan Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 22, 90-93.
- RAMADAN, K.S., YOUSEF, J.M., HAMZA, A.H. & ABDELBASSET, S. 2012. A positive role for selenium in mitigating complications associated with fructose-induced metabolic syndrome in rats. *International Journal of Nutrition and Metabolism*, 4, 146-150.
RAMIREZ-RODRIGUES, M. M., PLAZA, M. L., AZEREDO, A., BALABAN, M. O. & MARSHALL, M. R. 2011a. Physicochemical and Phytochemical Properties of Cold and Hot Water Extraction from Hibiscus sabdariffa. *Journal of Food Science*, 76, C428-C435.

- RAMIREZ-RODRIGUES, M. M., PLAZA, M. L., AZEREDO, A., BALABAN, M. O. & MARSHALL, M. R. 2011b. Physicochemical and Phytochemical Properties of Cold and Hot Water Extraction from*Hibiscus sabdariffa. Journal of Food Science*, 76, C428-C435.
- REANMONGKOL, W. & ITHARAT, A. 2007. Antipyretic activity of the extracts of *Hibiscus sabdariffa L* calyces in experimental animals. *Songklanakarin Journal of Science and Technolology* 29, 29-38.
- REAVEN, G. M. 1997. Role of Insulin Resistance in Human Disease. Nutrition, 13, 65-65.
- REAVEN, G. M. 2006. The metabolic syndrome: is this diagnosis necessary? *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 83, 1237-1247.
- REDLINE, S., TISHLER, P. V., SCHLUCHTER, M., AYLOR, J., CLARK, K. & GRAHAM, G. 1999. Risk factors for sleep-disordered breathing in children: associations with obesity, race, and respiratory problems. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, 159, 1527-1532.

ROSS, I. 2003. Hibiscus sabdariffa. Medicinal Plants of the World. Humana Press.

SALAH, A. M., GATHUMBI, J. & VIERLING, W. 2002. Inhibition of intestinal motility by methanol extracts of *Hibiscus sabdariffa L*. (Malvaceae) in rats. *Phytotherapy Research*, 16, 283-285.

- SALLIE, R., MICHAEL TREDGER, J. & WILLIAMS, R. 1991. Drugs and the liver part 1: Testing liver function. *Biopharmaceutics and Drug Disposition*, 12, 251-259.
- SANGILD, P. T., FOWDEN, A. L. & TRAHAIR, J. F. 2000. How does the foetal gastrointestinal tract develop in preparation for enteral nutrition after birth? *Livestock Production Science*, 66, 141-150.
- SAWCHENKO, P. & MARK, I. 1979. Sensory functions of the liver: a review. *American Journal of Physiology*, 236, R5-R20.
- SCHNEEMAN, B. O. 2002. Gastrointestinal physiology and functions. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 88, S159-S163.
- SEIDELL, J. C., CIGOLINI, M., CHARZEWSKA, J., ELLSINGER, B.-M., BJÖRNTORP,
 P., HAUTVAST, J. G. A. J. & SZOSTAK, W. 1991. Fat distribution and gender
 differences in serum lipids in men and women from four European communities. *Atherosclerosis*, 87, 203-210.
- SENBANJO, I. & ADEJUYIGBE, E. 2007. Prevalence of overweight and obesity in Nigerian preschool children. *Nutrition and Health*, 18, 391-399.
- SEYAMA, Y. & KOKUDO, N. 2009. Assessment of liver function for safe hepatic resection. *Hepatology Research*, 39, 107-116.
- SHARAF, A. 1962. The pharmacological characteristics of Hibiscus sabdariffa L. *Planta Medica*, 10, 48-52.
- SHIBATA, M. & FURUKAWA, M. 1969. Reexamination on the structure of so-called" hiviscin". *Botanical Magazine Tokyo*, 10-15.

- SIMPSON, K. W., SIMPSON, J. W., LAKE, S., MORTON, D. B. & BATT, R. M. 1991. Effect of pancreatectomy on plasma activities of amylase, isoamylase, lipase and trypsin-like immunoreactivity in dogs. *Research in Veterinary Science*, 51, 78-82.
- SORENSEN, A., MAYNTZ, D., SIMPSON, S. J. & RAUBENHEIMER, D. 2010. Dietary ratio of protein to carbohydrate induces plastic responses in the gastrointestinal tract of mice. *Journal of Comparative Physiology B* 180, 259-266.
- STAELS, B., DALLONGEVILLE, J., AUWERX, J., SCHOONJANS, K., LEITERSDORF,
 E. & FRUCHART, J.-C. 1998. Mechanism of action of fibrates on lipid and
 lipoprotein metabolism. *Circulation*, 98, 2088-2093.
- STAMATAKIS, E., WARDLE, J. & COLE, T. J. 2009. Childhood obesity and overweight prevalence trends in England: evidence for growing socioeconomic disparities. *International Journal of Obesity*, 34, 41-47.
- STANHOPE, K. L. & HAVEL, P. J. 2008. Fructose consumption: potential mechanisms for its effects to increase visceral adiposity and induce dyslipidemia and insulin resistance. *Current Opinion in Lipidology*, 19, 16-24.
- STRAUSS, R. S., BARLOW, S. E. & DIETZ, W. H. 2000. Prevelance of abnormal serum aminotransferase values in overweight and obese adolescents. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, 136, 727-733.
- SUBRAMANIAN, S. S. & NAIR, A. 1972. Flavonoids of four Malvaceous plants. *Phytochemistry*, 11, 1518-1519.
- SUGDEN, M., BULMER, K., GIBBONS, G., KNIGHT, B. & HOLNESS, M. 2002. Peroxisome-proliferator-activated receptor-α (PPARα) deficiency leads to

dysregulation of hepatic lipid and carbohydrate metabolism by fatty acids and insulin. *Biochemical Journal*, 364, 361-368.

- SULLIVAN, A., TRISCARI, J., HAMILTON, J. & MILLER, O. N. 1974a. Effect of (–)hydroxycitrate upon the accumulation of lipid in the rat: II. Appetite. *Lipids*, 9, 129-134.
- SULLIVAN, A., TRISCARI, J., HAMILTON, J., MILLER, O. N. & WHEATLEY, V. 1974b. Effect of (–)-hydroxycitrate upon the accumulation of lipid in the rat: I. Lipogenesis. *Lipids*, 9, 121-128.
- TAYLOR, E. & CURHAN, G. 2007. Fructose consumption and the risk of kidney stones. *Kidney International*, 73, 207-212.
- TEE, P.-L., YUSOF, S., MOHAMED, S., UMAR, N. A. & MUSTAPHA, N. M. 2002. Effect of roselle (Hibiscus sabdariffa L.) on serum lipids of Sprague Dawley rats. *Nutrition & Food Science*, 32, 190-196.
- TEFF, K. L., ELLIOTT, S. S., TSCHÖP, M., KIEFFER, T. J., RADER, D., HEIMAN, M., TOWNSEND, R. R., KEIM, N. L., D'ALESSIO, D. & HAVEL, P. J. 2004. Dietary fructose reduces circulating insulin and leptin, attenuates postprandial suppression of ghrelin, and increases triglycerides in women. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 89, 2963-2972.
- THAPA, B. & WALIA, A. 2007. Liver function tests and their interpretation. *The Indian Journal of Pediatrics*, 74, 663-671.
- THULIN, P., RAFTER, I., STOCKLING, K., TOMKIEWICZ, C., NORJAVAARA, E., AGGERBECK, M., HELLMOLD, H., EHRENBORG, E., ANDERSSON, U. &

COTGREAVE, I. 2008. PPARα regulates the hepatotoxic biomarker alanine aminotransferase (ALT1) gene expression in human hepatocytes. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, 231, 1-9.

- TOBEY, T., MONDON, C., ZAVARONI, I. & REAVEN, G. 1982. Mechanism of insulin resistance in fructose-fed rats. *Metabolism*, 31, 608-612.
- TSENG, T.-H., HSU, J.-D., LO, M.-H., CHU, C.-Y., CHOW, F.-P., HWANG, C.-L. & WANG, C.-J. 1998. Inhibitory effects of *Hibiscus* protocatechuic acid on tumour promotion in mouse skin. *Cancer Letters* 126, 199-207.
- ULASI, I. I., IJOMA, C. K. & ONODUGO, O. D. 2010. A community-based study of hypertension and cardio-metabolic syndrome in semi-urban and rural communities in Nigeria. *BMC Health Services Research*, 10, 71.
- USOH, I., AKPAN, E., ETIM, E. & FAROMBI, E. 2005. Antioxidant actions of dried flower extracts of *Hibiscus sabdariffa* L. on sodium arsenite-induced oxidative stress in rats. *Pakistan Journal of Nutrition*, 4, 135-141.
- VILLALPANDO-ARTEAGA, E. V., MENDIETA-CONDADO, E., ESQUIVEL-SOLÍS, H., CANALES-AGUIRRE, A. A., GÁLVEZ-GASTÉLUM, F. J., MATEOS-DÍAZ, J. C., RODRÍGUEZ-GONZÁLEZ, J. A. & MÁRQUEZ-AGUIRRE, A. L. 2013a. *Hibiscus sabdariffa* L. aqueous extract attenuates hepatic steatosis through down-regulation of PPAR-γ and SREBP-1c in diet-induced obese mice. *Food and Function*, 4, 618-626.
 VILLALPANDO-ARTEAGA, E. V., MENDIETA-CONDADO[†], E., ESQUIVEL-SOLÍS, H., CANALES-AGUIRRE, A. A., GÁLVEZ-GASTÉLUM, F. J., MATEOS-DÍAZ, J.
 - C., RODRÍGUEZ-GONZÁLEZ, J. A. & MÁRQUEZ-AGUIRRE, A. L. 2013b.

Hibiscus sabdariffa L. aqueous extract attenuates hepatic steatosis through downregulation of PPAR-γ and SREBP-1c in diet-induced obese mice. *Food and Function*, 4, 618-626.

- WAGH, A. & STONE, N. J. 2004. Treatment of metabolic syndrome. *Expert Review of Cardiovascular Therapy*, 2, 213-228.
- WAHABI, H. A., ALANSARY, L. A., AL-SABBAN, A. H. & GLASZIUO, P. 2010. The effectiveness of Hibiscus sabdariffa in the treatment of hypertension: A systematic review. *Phytomedicine*, 17, 83-86.
- WAHBA, I. M. & MAK, R. H. 2007. Obesity and obesity-initiated metabolic syndrome: mechanistic links to chronic kidney disease. *Clinical Journal of the American Society* of Nephrology, 2, 550-562.
- WANG, S.-C., LEE, S.-F., WANG, C.-J., LEE, C.-H., LEE, W.-C. & LEE, H.-J. 2011.
 Aqueous extract from *Hibiscus sabdariffa Linnaeus* ameliorate diabetic nephropathy via regulating oxidative status and Akt/Bad/14-3-3γ in an experimental animal model. *Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, 2011, article ID 938126, 1-9
- WEI, Y., WANG, D., TOPCZEWSKI, F. & PAGLIASSOTTI, M. J. 2007. Fructose-mediated stress signaling in the liver: implications for hepatic insulin resistance. *The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry*, 18, 1-9.
- WILSON, F. D. & MENZEL, M. Y. 1964. Kenaf (Hibiscus cannabinus), roselle (Hibiscus sabdariffa). *Economic Botany*, 18, 80-91.

- WYRWOLL, C. S., MARK, P. J., MORI, T. A., PUDDEY, I. B. & WADDELL, B. J. 2006. Prevention of programmed hyperleptinemia and hypertension by postnatal dietary ω-3 fatty acids. *Endocrinology*, 147, 599-606.
- XU, R.-J. 1996. Development of the newborn GI tract and its relation to colostrum/milk intake: a review. *Reproduction, Fertility and development*, 8, 35-48.
- YADAV, H., JAIN, S. & SINHA, P. 2007. Antidiabetic effect of probiotic dahi containing Lactobacillus acidophilus and Lactobacillus casei in high fructose fed rats. Nutrition, 23, 62-68.
- YAMADA, T., HIDA, H. & YAMADA, Y. 2007. Chemistry, physiological properties, and microbial production of hydroxycitric acid. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 75, 977-982.
- YAMAMOTO, R. & OSHIMA, Y. 1932. On the red colouring matter of *Hibiscus sabdariffa* L.(A new glycoside Hibiscin). Scientific Papers of the Institute of Physical and Chemical Research (Tokyo), 19, 134-141.
- YAMAMOTO, R. & OSHIMA, Y. 1936. Coloring matter of *Hibiscus sabdariffa L*.(Hibiscin).
 Scientific Papers of the Institute of Physical and Chemical Research (Tokyo), 30, 258-262.
- YANG, M.-Y., PENG, C.-H., CHAN, K.-C., YANG, Y.-S., HUANG, C.-N. & WANG, C.-J.
 2009. The Hypolipidemic Effect of *Hibiscus sabdariffa* Polyphenols via Inhibiting
 Lipogenesis and Promoting Hepatic Lipid Clearance. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 58, 850-859.

- YOUNES, H., COUDRAY, C., BELLANGER, J., DEMIGNÉ, C., RAYSSIGUIER, Y. & RÉMÉSY, C. 2001. Effects of two fermentable carbohydrates (inulin and resistant starch) and their combination on calcium and magnesium balance in rats. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 86, 479-485.
- ZAVARONI, I., CHEN, Y.-D. I. & REAVEN, G. M. 1982. Studies of the mechanism of fructose-induced hypertriglyceridemia in the rat. *Metabolism*, 31, 1077-1083.
- ZIMMET, P., ALBERTI, K. G. M. M., KAUFMAN, F., TAJIMA, N., SILINK, M.,
 ARSLANIAN, S., WONG, G., BENNETT, P., SHAW, J., CAPRIO, S. & GROUP, I.
 D. F. C. 2007. The metabolic syndrome in children and adolescents an IDF
 consensus report. *Pediatric Diabetes*, 8, 299-306.

APPENDICES

APPENDIX 1: ETHICS CLEARANCE CERTIFICATE



STRICTLY CONFIDENTIAL

ANIMAL ETHICS SCREENING COMMITTEE (AESC)

CLEARANCE CERTIFICATE NO. 2013/46/05

APPLICANT: Mr GK Ibrahim

SCHOOL: DEPARTMENT: LOCATION: Medical School Physiology Faculty of Health Sciences

PROJECT TITLE:

The effects of administration of Aqueous Calyx Extracts of hibiscus sabdariffa on neonatal Programming of diet induced metabolic dysfunction in Sprague Dawley rats

Number and Species

99 Rats

Approval was given for to the use of animals for the project described above at an AESC meeting held on 17 September 2013. This approval remains valid until 16 September 2015.

The use of these animals is subject to AESC guidelines for the use and care of animals, is limited to the procedures described in the application form and is subject to any additional conditions listed below:

- (i) For purposes of monitoring health of rats, and reduction in body mass must be calculated in comparison to the equivalent body mass of a growing pup.
- (ii) Trails should start with tests at the low dosage.

.30 2013 Signed: Date: (Chairperson, AESC)

I am satisfied that the persons listed in this application are competent to perform the procedures therein, in terms of Section 23 (1) (c) of the Veterinary and Para-Veterinary Professions Act (19 of 1982)

Signed:	
	_

(Registered Veterinarian)

Date:

cc: Supervisor: Prof K Erlwanger Director: CAS

Works 2000/lain0015/AESCCert.wps

APPENDIX 2: FIRST MODIFICATION TO THE ETHICS CLEARANCE

Please note that only typewritten applications will be accepted.

UNIVERSITY OF THE WITWATERSRAND ANIMAL ETHICS SCREENING COMMITTEE MODIFICATIONS AND EXTENSIONS TO EXPERIMENTS

- a. Name: Ibrahim, Kasimu Ghandi
- b. Department: Physiology

c. Experiment to be modified / extended	AESC NO		
Original AESC number	2013	46	05
Other M&Es :			

d. Project Title: Effects of administration of *Hibiscus sabdariffa* aqueous calyx extracts on the gastrointestinal tract and neonatal programming of metabolic dysfunction.

		No.	Species
e.	Number and species of animals originally approved:	9 dams and 90 pups	SD rats
f.	Number of additional animals previously allocated on M&Es:	0	0
g.	Total number of animals allocated to the experiment to date:	5 dams and 55 Pups	SD rats
h.	Number of animals used to date:	5 dams and 55 pups	SD rats

Specific modification / extension requested:

I. An additional four dams and thirty eight pups.

II. To use 2ml of the blood that will be collected terminally from rats in phase 2 of the study for osmotic fragility tests.

Motivation for modification / extension: Following a review of my protocol by the faculty postgraduate committee it was recommended that for my study I should investigate the effects of gender as previous studies have shown differences in the susceptibility to developing metabolic syndrome.

Thus far, I have received a total of five dams and fifty five pups of which I allocated forty four pups to the first phase of the study (three treatment groups with a minimum of 7 males and 7 females per group).

In the second phase of the study, in order to investigate the effects of gender a total of eighty four rat pups are required. As described in the original protocol, they will be divided into six treatment groups (7 males and 7 females per group). Thus the total number of rat pups required will be 128. To achieve this I require a further 38 pups (and four dams).

I would like to investigate the effects of administering the plant extract on osmotic fragility of the rats' red blood cells to further determine whether it has an effect on the general health of the pups. Standard protocols using serially diluted concentrations of phosphate buffered saline will be used for the osmotic fragility test (Moyo et al., 2012).

All other procedures will remain as originally approved by the AESC.

Date: 20th February, 2014

Signature: Httphandiff

RECOMMENDATIONS. Approved:

i. Additional 38 pups and 4 dams.

ii. Use of 2ml of blood collected terminally for osmotic fragility tests.

Date: 21 February 2014

Signature:

Kitchings

Chairman, AESC

Reference

Moyo, D., Erlwanger, K. H. & Chivandi, E. 2012. Effect of Graded Dietary Substitution of Soyabean Meal with Large Sour Plum (Ximenia caffra) Seed Meal on Erythrocyte Osmotic Fragility and the Packed Cell Volume of Growing Male Sprague Dawley Rats. International Journal of Agriculture & Biology, 14.

APPENDIX 3: SECOND MODIFICATION TO THE ETHICS CLEARANCE

Please note that only typewritten applications will be accepted.

UNIVERSITY OF THE WITWATERSRAND ANIMAL ETHICS SCREENING COMMITTEE MODIFICATIONS AND EXTENSIONS TO EXPERIMENTS

- a. Name: Ibrahim, Kasimu Ghandi
- b. Department: Physiology

c. Experiment to be modified / extended	AESC NO		
Original AESC number	2013	46	05
Other M&Es :			1

d. Project Title: Effects of administration of *Hibiscus sabdariffa* aqueous calyx extracts on the gastrointestinal tract and neonatal programming of metabolic dysfunction.

		No.	Species
e.	Number and species of animals originally approved:	9 dams and 90	SD rats
		pups	
f.	Number of additional animals previously allocated on M&Es:	4 dams and 38	SD rats
		pups	
g.	Total number of animals allocated to the experiment to date:	13 dams and 128	SD rats
		Pups	
h.	Number of animals used to date:	12 dams and 128	SD rats
		pups	

Specific modification / extension requested:

- 1. 9 Additional pups
- 2. A Co-worker : Busisani Lembede

Motivation for modification / extension: The faculty postgraduate committee had previously reviewed my protocol and recommended that I investigate the effects of gender as previous studies have shown differences in susceptibility to the development of the metabolic syndrome. I had also subsequently asked for and got a modification to my ethics approval to accommodate the increase in the number of animals required to balance the gender.

Thus far, I have received a total of 12 dams and 128 pups. I allocated 44 pups to the first phase of the study (three treatment groups with a minimum of 7 males and 7 females).

Out of the 84 remaining pups allocated for the second phase, one pup did not thrive as well as his peers and so was removed from the study. Due to technical problems we were unable to utilise the plasma samples collected from three pups. Thus The eighty pups remaining (33males and 47 females) were allocated into six treatment groups. Each group should have a total of 14 pups (7 males and 7 females). To achieve this, a total of 42 males and 42 females are required. Thus, an

additional 9 male pups are needed to complete the groups. I had achieved the original numbers with 12 dams however my protocol was approved for 13 dams. I will thus just require extra pups; the dam would be as originally approved.

I would also want to list Busisani Lembede as a co-worker to assist with the running of the osmotic fragility tests.

All other procedures will remain as originally approved by the AESC.

Date: 30th April, 2014

Signature: Htybendif

RECOMMENDATIONS: Approved. i. Nine additional rat pups. ii. Inclusion of Mr B Lembede as a co-worker.

Date: 2 May 2014

Signature:

KHElicango

Chairman, AESC

APPENDIX 4: PLANT IDENTIFICATION

a children

Equilibrium OF PHARMACOGNOSY & ETHNOPHARMACY

Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences USMANU DANFODIYO UNIVERSITY, SOKOTO

INCE CHANCELLOR: Prof. R. A. Shehu, CON, B.Sc (Unisok), Ph.D (Essex) INCO OF DEPARTMENT: H. E. Mahaila B.Sc. PGDe, M.Sc.

Email: phemacomospiritis@pahon.com Phone: +2348059221840

Date: 31/10/2013

PLANT IDENTIFICATION

The plant *Hibiscus sabdariffa* (common name: Roselle) has been identified in our Department via Taxonomic means by: HALILU, Emmanuel Mshelia. The plant belongs to the family: Malvaceae and has been given Voucher number: PCG/UDUS/Malv/0001. The voucher specimen has been deposited in the Departmental Herbarium for reference purpose.

Zascheha

Halilu E. Mshelia

DEPT. OF PHAMACOGNOSY & ETHNOMEDICINE ACULTY OF PHAMACEUTICAL CIENCES U. L. U. SOKOTO